
 

  www.wincoil.us | Page 1  

 

AGENDA 
 

Winnebago County Courthouse 
400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 

County Board Room, 8th Floor and 
(In Person Meeting with Zoom Option) 

 
Thursday, July 8, 2021 

6:00 p.m.  
 

1. Call to Order  .............................................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance ........................................ Board Member Joe Hoffman 
 
3. Agenda Announcements ............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ............................................................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings, and Public Participation  

A. Chairman and Mayor’s Youth Leadership Council Service Awards Presentation 
B. Presentation – ARP Presentation by Dave Rickert, CFO 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – None  

 
6. Approval of Minutes ................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Approval of June 10, 2021 minutes  
B. Layover of June 21 and 28, 2021 minutes  

 
7. Consent Agenda .......................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report 
B. Auditor’s Report – None 

 
8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments require a 30 day 

layover unless there is a suspension of the rule). 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees .................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee .................................................... Jaime Salgado, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing Settlement of a Claim Against the County of Winnebago 

Entitled Russell Kirby Versus Winnebago County  



www.wincoil.us | Page 2  

3. Ordinance for Approval of Budget Amendment for Reimbursable Technology to be Laid 
Over 

4. Resolution Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement Between the County of 
Winnebago and City of Rockford for Focused Deterrence Re-Entry Program 

5. Ordinance Authorizing a Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds Received from the U.S. 
Treasury Department as Directed Under the American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) to be Laid 
Over 

6. Ordinance Authorizing a Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds Received from the U.S. 
Treasury Department Under the Emergency Rental Assistance Program II to be Laid 
Over 

7. Resolution Approving the Purdue Pharma, L.P. Bankruptcy Plan (Opioid Litigation) 
 

B. Zoning Committee ........................................................ Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 
Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 

1. Z-03-21 A map amendment to rezone +/- 10 acres from the AG, Agricultural Priority 
District to the RA, Rural Agricultural Residential District (a sub-district of the RA District) 
for vacant property that is commonly known as 6341 S. Perryville Road and 6403 S. 
Perryville Road, Cherry Valley, IL 61016 in Cherry Valley Township, District 9.   

2. Z-04-21 A map amendment to rezone +/- 5 acres from the AG, Agricultural Priority 
District to the RR, Rural Residential District (a sub-district of the RA District) for the 
property that is commonly known as 11227 Havens Woods Road, Roscoe, IL 61073 in 
Roscoe Township, District 4. 

3. Committee Report 
 

C. Economic Development Committee ................................... Jas Bilich, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
 

D. Operations & Administrative Committee ............... Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Amending the Winnebago County Health Department Soil Boring Fee 

Schedule  
3. Resolution Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement between the County of 

Winnebago and Veterans Assistance Commission of Winnebago County 
4. Resolution Adopting Criteria for the Operation of the County’s Delinquent Tax Program  
 

E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee…………………………….Burt Gerl, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report      
 

10. Unfinished Business…………………………….…………………………………….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
Appointments 
A. Hulse Cemetery of Pecatonica Board of Trustees, Read in May 27, 2021, to be Voted on 

July 8, 2021 
1. John Burns (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2020 – May 2026 
2. Thomas Doherty (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2020 – May 2026 



www.wincoil.us | Page 3  

3. Karen Donoho (Reappointment), Davis Junction, Illinois, May 2020 – May 2026 
4. Carol Diane Parker (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2020 – May 2026 
5. Stephen J. Burns (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2021 – May 2027 
6. Mary Anne Doherty (Reappointment), Loves Park, Illinois, May 2021 – May 2027 
7. David Gill (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2021 – May 2027 
8. Timothy Gill (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, May 2021 – May 2027 

B. Harlem Cemetery Association 
1. James Lyford (Reappointment), Caledonia, Illinois, May 2021 – May 2027 

 
11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

12. Announcements & Communications .................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
A. Correspondence (see packet)  

 
13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, July 22, 2021    



 

  
Awards,  

Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 

 
 







American Rescue Plan (ARP)
FY 2021



What is the American Rescue Plan?

The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, also 

called the COVID-19 Stimulus Package or 

American Rescue Plan, is a $ 1.9 trillion 

economic stimulus bill passed by the 117th U.S. 

Congress and signed into law by President Biden 

on March 11, 2021 to speed up the United States' 

recovery from the economic and health effects  

of the COVID-19 pandemic..



Winnebago County’s 

ARP Allocation

Total ARP Allocation $54,800,000 

1st installment  (June 1, 2021) $27,443,149 

2nd installment (June 1, 2022)       $27,400,000

ARP was signed into law on March 11, 2021

Deadline to spend ALL funds is Dec. 31,2024



Permitted Uses of Funding

• Supporting the public health response to COVID-19

• Addressing negative economic impacts caused by COVID-19 

• Serving the hardest-hit communities and families 

• Replacing lost public sector revenue 

• Providing premium pay for essential workers 

• Investing in water and sewer infrastructure

• Investing in broadband infrastructure



Winnebago County’s 

ARP Timeline for Board Approval

Phase 1:  County ARP Capital Plan NOW

Phase 2: Family Law Center   3-6 Months

Phase 3: Public Safety Initiative    2-4 Months

Phase 4: Neighborhood Improvement Plan  1-3 Months



Winnebago County’s 

ARP Timeline for Board Approval

Phase 1:  County ARP Capital Plan NOW

Phase 2: Family Law Center   3-6 Months

Phase 3: Public Safety Initiative    2-4 Months

Phase 4: Neighborhood Improvement Plan  1-3 Months



County’s ARP - Capital Plan
Capital Improvements 2,997,393 

Public Safety 2,972,521 

Technology Infrastructure 4,833,444 

Community Grants 1,000,000 

Revenue Replacement 600,000 

Election\Public Records Infrastructure      3,000,000 

Project Administration 532,880 

Contingency 4,063,762                                                            

Total for Phase 1                $20,000,000 



County’s ARP - Capital Plan
Capital Improvements 2,997,393 

Public Safety 2,972,521 

Technology Infrastructure 4,833,444 

Community Grants 1,000,000 

Revenue Replacement 600,000 

Election\Public Records Infrastructure     3,000,000 

Project Administration 532,880 

Contingency 4,063,762



ARP Timeline

 American Rescue Plan Signed Mar 11

 Sort CIP projects based on suitability for ARP Mar 26

 First Review of CIP/ARP Capital Requests Apr 22

 American Rescue Plan Funds Received June 1

 ARP presentation with County Administrator June 7

 ARP presentation with County Chairman June 8

 ARP presentation Caucus Leaders June 21

 ARP presentation Finance Committee June 30

 ARP Budget Ordinance presented Finance Committee July    1

ARP presentation to County Board July    8

ARP Budget Ordinance presented to County Board July    8



Other Considerations of 

ARP Capital Plan

 All ARP expenditures must comply with guidelines 

from the U.S. Treasury Department 

 All ARP expenditures must comply with the            

County Purchasing Policy

 All ARP funded purchases that require County               

Board approval will be brought to the Board



QUESTIONS?

American Rescue Plan (ARP)
FY 2021



County ARP Capital Plan
FY 2021



Date: 1/15/2021

Department: Animal Services

Contact Person: Brett Frazier, Administrator

Addition of new dog kennel ward and renovation of 

existing large dog kennel room into cat ward, addition of 

adoption rooms, build designated and appropriately 

equipped small animal room

        1,100,000.00 

Replace and upgrade HVAC system

           298,650.00 

Poor ventilation is a well known issue in the Animal Services facility.  This 

project would replace and upgrade the aging HVAC system in order to provide 

more efficient operation and much improved air quality for visitors, staff and 

animals in our care.

Email: bfrazier@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

46210, 46320, 46310ORG code

PURPOSE

To separate species with appropriate space for each, would  create 

smaller cohorts of animals within for better management of health 

and behavioral issues.

Renovation of existing animal intake area from open 

space to dedicated, enclosed rooms
           170,600.00 

For purposes of safety and health, to create an enclosed intake 

room and separate dedicated spaces for laundry, dish cleaning, 

food preparation.

Lobby, resident service area, front entrance 

improvement and expansion
           147,700.00 

To improve resident experience and efficiency of administrative 

services, to renovate the front entrance and vestibule, redesign of 

front desk and expand the busy lobby area for better resident 

service and less congestion.

Replace cramped cat enclosures, relocate dog 

enclosures and add some new, x-ray machine, other 

fixtures and equipment            250,000.00 

Cat enclosures currently are not up to animal health standards, 

additional dog kennels for safe housing of bite quarantine dogs, 

addition of x-ray capabilities, small animal housing and other animal 

care/handling/housing.

mailto:bfrazier@wincoil.us


Total request  $    1,695,393.00 

Savings by completing the full scope of work at once

         (271,557.00)

Each component is priced separately, but a savings of this amount is 

estimated if the full scope of this total project is completed as one 

project.



Date: 5/24/2021

Department: County Chairman

Contact Person: Karen Elyea

Email: KElyea@WinCoIL.us

Account Number: T.B.D

YEAR 2021

ITEM REQUESTED COST PURPOSE

Business and Economic Development Grants

1,000,000 

Provide funding from the American Rescue Plan Grant in order to 

provide assistance to businesses and nonprofit organizations 

adversely affected by COVID 19.

1,000,000 



Date: 5/24/2021

Department: Chairman's Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives

Contact Person: Marlana Dokken

Email: mdokken@wincoil.us

Account Number:

YEAR 2021

ITEM REQUESTED COST PURPOSE

100% Focused Deterrence Navigator and 6% 

Supervision
                          164,579 

Navigator is responsible for providing swift services to high-risk 

individuals who opted into the program. Coordinates quarterly Call-In 

meeting and services with probation, parole, and community service 

providers. Responsible for keeping data up-to-date for reporting 

purposes. 6% time set aside for staff Supervision 100,400.00 (salary) + 

64,179.00 (fringe)  = $164,579.00

Navigator Travel                               2,381 
.56 (IL allowable rate 2021) x 177 (miles monthly) x 24 (months) =  

$2381.00 

Supplies / Other                             13,040 

Project Mgmt System 50 (rate) x 24 (months) = 1200.00 
Case Mgmt System 150 (rate) x 24 (months) = $3600
Case Mgmt Sys Set-up $1500 (one-time fee)
Laptop + Accessories $1300.00 (one-time fee) 
Cell Phone $700.00 (one-time fee) 
Cell Phone Service 75.00 (cost) x 24 (months)  = $1,800 
Gas Cards 100 (cost) x 24 (months) = 2400 
Bus Passes 22.50 (cost) x 24 (months) = 540.00 

mailto:mdokken@wincoil.us


 $             400,000 

Focused Deterrence Prosecutor                           170,000 

Prosecutor dedicated solely to Focused Deterrence participants. 

Responsible for swift prosecution as well as informing all judicial staff 

of focused deterrence cases. Resonsible for keeping data current for 

reporting purposes.  $85,000.00 x 2 = $170,000.00

Evaluation                             50,000 

Evaluation by Loyola University. Includes quarterly participation and 

final report $25,000 (annually) x 2 (years) = $50,000.00



Date: 6/7/2021

Department: Chairman's Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives

Contact Person: Marlana Dokken

Email: mdokken@wincoil.us 

Account Number:

YEAR 2021

ITEM REQUESTED COST PURPOSE

eCivis Grant Management Software

10,000.00 

eCivis is a grants research tool that allows us to have access to 

public and private grant funds immediately upon release. Fee for 

2021-2022.

 $          10,000.00 

mailto:mdokken@wincoil.us


 $    3,000,000.00 

Imaging and Scanning

$1,500,000 

Scanning and imaging documents from Clerk's Office (including vital 

records marriage, death, birth) board documents (including 

minutes) and Recorder's Office (including land records and deeds). 

ITEM REQUESTED COST PURPOSE

Election Equipment (including pollbooks)

$1,500,000 

Replace obsolete election equipment. 

Email: lgummow@ywincoil.us

Account Number:

YEAR 2021

Date: 5/27/2021

Department: Clerk & Recorder

Contact Person: Lori Gummow

mailto:lgummow@ywincoil.us


Juvenile Justice Center

Total request  $          50,000.00 

 

   

 

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

             50,000.00 

The JJC CPU's are the same era as the rest of the County Buildings. 

There are multiple located through out the CJC and the jail that 

need to be replaced

Date: 1/13/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01056

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Adult Probation

Total request  $          95,000.00 

Replace Carpet and Flooring

             45,000.00 

The Adult Probations carpet has had extensive wear and tear

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

             50,000.00 

The CPU's are 25 years old. There are multiple located through out 

the Adult Probation that need to be replaced

Date: 1/14/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01526

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Health Department at 555

Total request  $          50,000.00 

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

             50,000.00 

The Health Department CPU's are the same era as the rest of the 

County Buildings. There are multiple located through out the CJC 

and the jail that need to be replaced

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code Health Department

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Criminal Justice Center

Total request  $        150,000.00 

Energy Recovery Wheel Retro-Fit 

           100,000.00 

The CJC energy recovery wheels  located in AHU J2.1 and J2.3 need 

the medium replaced for heat and cold transfer between duct work

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

50,000.00 

The CJC CPU's are the same era as the rest of the County Buildings. 

There are multiple located through out the CJC and the jail that 

need to be replaced

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01721

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Juvenile Detention

Total request  $        350,000.00 

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

             50,000.00 

The CPU's are 20 years old. There are multiple in the Juvenile 

Detention Center that need to be replaced

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace RTU's HVAC

           300,000.00 

The RTU's at the Juvenile Detention Center  are the original when 

the Detention Center was built.

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code Juvenile Detention

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Administration Building

Total request  $          50,000.00 

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's are no longer supported (Obsolete)

             50,000.00 

The CPU's are 21 years old. There are multiple in the Administration 

Building that need to be replaced

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01052

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Old Courthouse

Total request  $          30,000.00 

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Replace HVAC CPU's

             30,000.00 

The CPU's are 21 years old. There are multiple located through out 

the Old Courthouse that need to be replaced

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01054

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


River Bluff Nursing Home

Total request  $        170,000.00 

Replace Wander Guard

             60,000.00 

The wander guard system is obsolete. We have had issues with 

residents wandering out of the nursing home

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Nurse Call

           110,000.00 

The Nurse Call at River Bluff is antiquated and obsolete. We can no 

longer get parts to repair it. We just had to send parts to New York 

to get rebuilt.

Date: 1/12/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 74500

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Courthouse

Total request  $          50,000.00 

ITEM REQUESTED COST

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Courthouse Replace HVAC CPU's

             50,000.00 

The CPU's are 21 years old. There are multiple located through out 

the Courthouse that need to be replaced

Date: 1/20/2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

Department: Facilities Building Maintenance

Contact Person: Shawn Franks

Email: sfranks@wincoil.us

ORG code 12000 Project 01053

mailto:sfranks@wincoil.us


Date: 5/24/2021

Department: Finance Department

Contact Person: David J. Rickert

Email: drickert@wincoil.us

Account Number: T.B.D

YEAR 2021

ITEM REQUESTED COST PURPOSE

Grant compliance services related to the American 

Rescue Plan Act
150,000 

Provide funding from the American Resque Plan Grant in order to 

meet federal compliance and other related reporting purposes.

This software will provide the necessary tools to meet the latest 

annual reporting requirements.  It will also allow us to track, 

categoriize, depreciate and calculate salvage value of disposed 

assets. All these will be necessary when we provide our compliance 

information for the ARP grant).

82,880 

Tyler Capital Asset Tracking Software

232,880 

mailto:drickert@wincoil.us


Date: 1/14/2021

Department: DoIT

Contact Person: Gus Gentner

17,500.00 

PURPOSE

Cybersecurity Replace/Enhance 

(hardware/software/services)
           400,000.00 

Ex. Mail filtering, web filtering, firewalls, desktop/server/network 

security

Email: Gus@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

19500ORG code

Server for North Campus redundancy Redundant login capabilities for all supported networks; North 

Campus

Gigabit to the desktop

        1,966,600.00 

Year 1: Upgrade Network Backbone Infrastructure. Upgrade 

downtown fiber ring from 10 Gb to 100 Gb, upgrade iFiber to North 

Campus from 1Gb to 10Gb, and upgrade point-2-point wireless to 

North Campus with (2 pair) 4 Gb radios.  Chassis replacement in all 

Core network infrastructure.  Radio replacement requires tower 

climbers, FCC licensing, tower surveys, etc.

Collapse 5th floor 404 Elm MDF and enhance RDoIT 

(courthouse) MDF
           300,000.00 

Relocate telco headend to basement 404 Elm; Relocate server, 

SANs and other equipment residing in the 404 Elm MDF to R-DoIT 

(courthouse MDF)

Page 1 of 2

mailto:Gus@wincoil.us


Total request  $    4,633,444.00 

Private cloud data back up build out and first year 

service (airgap)
           104,000.00 

County Clerk/County Recorder Combination

           200,000.00 

Offsite data backup and storage

Out of warranty PCs

        1,180,344.00 

748 as of 1/15/21 @ $1,253 hardware+$325 for MS Office - does 

not account for unplanned additions

Starcom21 Radio Reception Improvements

           375,000.00 

Enhance coverage in RBNH, courthouse basement, tunnel, 

courtrooms

SAN Replication Stage 1 High Availability

             90,000.00 

SAN for Virtual Cluster Data replication. Required for High 

Availability

Reengineer compute/data for combining offices

Page 2 of 2



PURPOSE

Computer, laptop, Surface tablet, scanner

             10,000.00 

upgrade and Improve department functionality 

Email: director@veteransmemorialhall.com

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

45500ORG code

Total request

Date: 1/12/2021

Department: Memorial Hall

Contact Person: Scott Lewandowski

 $          10,000.00 

mailto:director@veteransmemorialhall.com


Total request

Date: 6/4/2021

Department: County Admin\Sheriff

Contact Person: Ann Johns

 $        150,000.00 

PURPOSE

Project Manager for Public Safety Initiative

$150,000 

Project Manager will perform an evaluation of all current county 

camera systems and develop recommendations for upgrade and 

improvement. Their recommendations will be the scope of work 

details needed for future procurement.  

Email: ajohns@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

ORG code

A second phase of this project will be to develop a replacement 

plan for door and camera system upgrades with in jail facility.

mailto:ajohns@wincoil.us


PURPOSE

Project Manager for Family Law Center

$150,000 

Project Manager will perform an evaluation of Chief Judge 

recommendation for repurposing the Public Safety Building into a 

Family Law Center Building. 

Email: ajohns@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

ORG code

Total request

Date: 6/4/2021

Department: County Admin\Chief Judge

Contact Person: Ann Johns

 $        150,000.00 

mailto:ajohns@wincoil.us


Remodel current storage space labelled "room 244" at 

400 W. State Street into two offices.
$40,000 

Necessary for personal office space for attorneys.

PURPOSE

Forty Lap Top Computers. They are approximately $800 

each. 
$32,000 

Necessary to upgrade currently outdated computers and improve 

staff efficiency.  

Email:

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

34000ORG code

Total request

Date: 1/14/2021

Department: Public Defender's Office

Contact Person: Nick Zimmerman

 $          72,000.00 

mailto:ddoll@17thcircuit.illinoiscourts.gov


Total request

Date: 4/6/2021

Department: RBNH

Contact Person: Pat McDiarmid

 $        297,000.00 

Salary & Benefits  for the Healthcare Information 

Technology Administrator
75,000.00 

PURPOSE

Email: pmcdiarmid@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

ORG code

PCs, wireless Mitel phones, desktop Mitel Phones

30,000.00 

Annual cost of PCC

           160,000.00 

Cloud based Point Click Care (PCC) software to manage the care 

facility.

POE Plus upgrades to switches, additional wireless access points.

20,000.00 

Network Components

Prescription distribution may require scanners.

12,000.00 

Computers for med carts (8)

mailto:pmcdiarmid@wincoil.us


Current vehicles were purchased in 2017.  Vehicles are used 24 

hours a day, which causes severe wear on the engine.  As the The 

older the vehicles get, our maintenance costs increase.

Contact Person: Tami Goral

Replace two (2) K9 Squads

           110,000.00 

Replace Two (2)  detective squad cars (unmarked)

60,000.00 

Replace thirty-three (33) Patrol SUV's (including 

equipment) $59,000 per vehicle
        1,947,000.00 

Replace two (3) vehicles in Administration. 

($33,000/vehicle)
99,000.00 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

24000 / 40116ORG code

Date: 1/14/2021

Department: Sheriff

Email: goralt@wcso-il.us

YEAR 2021

PURPOSE

Two (2) new Vehicles in the Detective Division 

60,000.00 

Currently we do not have a vehicle for the Lt and Sgt in the 

Detective Division.

Replace squad 80 and 84 (2015), both have high mileage and has 

had numerous repairs.

#43 is a 2013 with 90,300 miles and #89 is a 2013 with 85,400 

miles.

Administration: 1 2009 with 80,000 and 1 2009 with 87,293 miles.

Page 1 of 2

mailto:goralt@wcso-il.us


 $    2,466,910.00 

PC Obsolescence

62,650.00 

Total request

Eight (8) HP Probooks with accessories

16,260.00 

With the recent pandemic, we realized that the technology in the 

Detective Bureau was ineffective.  It was difficult having employees 

work remotely.  By purchasing laptops, they will be able to 

complete their work either in the office or remotely.  

PER COUNTY IT:   Year 1:  PC Obsolescence.  PC obsolescence 

planning - Replace legacy Windows PCs.

Internal Wireless Access Point (WAP) 

12,000.00 

PER COUNTY IT:   NextGen Wireless access points.  Evidence Rooms 

Criminal Justice Center / mesh network.

NextGen LEA / Security Appliances

           100,000.00 

PER COUNTY IT:   Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) for CJIS 

Compliance.  Multiple authentication mechanism to verify user's 

identity - access control.

Page 2 of 2



Total request

Date: 1/15/2021

Department: Winnebago County State's Attorney's Office

Contact Person: Christy Skahill

$23,611.00 

PURPOSE

Laptop Computers: Replace 20 laptops.  The cost 

associated includes Microsoft office as well as an 

additional 8GB of ram.  See attached quote.
$23,611.00 

Our office did not get the capital request for the past two years.  

Mr. Chapman was able to provide funding to replace only 15 

laptops in December, 2019.

Email:

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

31000ORG code



Total request

Date: 5/27/2021

Department: Winnebago County

Contact Person: David J. Rickert

 $ 200,000 

PURPOSE

Website Communication and Infrastructure Project

150,000 
Public communication efforts to enhancement to health care 

capacity, provide information on vaccination programs, and 

provide information on other public relief programs.

Email: Drickert@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

TBDORG code

Website Technology Consultant

50,000 

Software and media expert engaged to facilitate the website 

redesign.

mailto:Drickert@wincoil.us


PURPOSE

Revenue Replacement Related to COVID 19

600,000 

Impacts to State, Local, and Tribal Governments. State, local, and 

Tribal governments have felt substantial fiscal pressures. As noted 

above, State, local, and Tribal governments have faced significant 

revenue shortfalls and remain over 1 million jobs below their pre-

pandemic staffing levels.73 These reductions in staffing may 

undermine the ability to deliver services effectively, as well as add 

to the number of unemployed individuals in their jurisdictions.

Email: Drickert@wincoil.us

YEAR 2021

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

REQUEST FORM

ITEM REQUESTED COST

TBDORG code

Total request

Date: 5/27/2021

Department: Winnebago County

Contact Person: David J. Rickert

 $          600,000 

mailto:Drickert@wincoil.us


QUESTIONS?

County ARP Capital Plan
FY 2021



 

 Approval of 
Minutes 

 



























 

CONSENT 
AGENDA 





 

 
Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 
 
 
 



 

FINANCE 
COMMITTEE 



 

  Resolution Executive Summary 
 
 

Human Resources  |  404 Elm St, Rm 220, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319- 4285  |  Fax: (815) 319-4286   

 

 
Prepared By:  Tanya Harris 
Committee:    Finance Committee  
Committee Date:   July 1, 2021 
Resolution Title:  Resolution for Approval for Workman’s Compensation Settlements   
Board Meeting Date: July 8, 2021 
 
Budget Information: 
 

Was item budgeted?    Yes                          Appropriation Amount:  
If not, explain funding source:    
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  49400-43535    Budget Impact:  

 
 
Background Information:  Settlement for former deputy Russell Kirby in the amount of $31,724.50.   
 
 
Recommendation:   The Finance Committee, chaired by Jaime Salgado, has reviewed the settlements 
presented to the Board.  The Board is asked to approve this settlement in favor of the Committee’s 
recommendations at its July 8, 2021 meeting. 
 
Contract/Agreement:    
 
Legal Review:  Carol Hartline with Williams McCarthy LLP negotiated these settlements on behalf of 
Winnebago County. 
 
Follow-Up:    
 
 

http://www.wincoil.us/


Sponsored by: Jaime Salgado, Committee Chairman 
 

 
 

 
R E S O L U T I O N 

of the 
 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

Sponsored by:  Jamie Salgado 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2021 CR 
 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM 
AGAINST THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO ENTITLED 

RUSSELL KIRBY VERSUS WINNEBAGO COUNTY IN THE  
AMOUNT OF $31,724.50 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois, is involved in having claims asserted 
against it by Russell Kirby for injuries allegedly sustained while in the employment of the Sheriff’s  
Department, and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plaintiff has offered to settle the above claim against the County of 
Winnebago for consideration payable in the amount of $31,724.50 for the settlement  funding for 
a Workers Compensation case; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, counsel for the County of Winnebago recommends that it is in the best 
interest of the County of Winnebago to settle the above referenced claims upon the terms of the 
proposed settlement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that it does hereby authorize settlement of the claims entitled Russell Kirby 
versus County of Winnebago for injuries allegedly sustained by Russell Kirby while in the 
employment of Sheriff’s Department by payment of the amount of $31,724.50 for the settlement 
for permanent disability for a Workers Compensation case. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon it adoption. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized 
to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County Auditor, Director of 
Purchasing, Human Resources Director, and Williams & McCarthy. 
 

 
 



2 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 

  

JAIME SALGADO, CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 JAIME SALGADO, CHAIRMAN 
 
 

STEVE SCHULTZ, VICE CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 STEVE SCHULTZ, VICE CHAIRMAN 
 

PAUL ARENA  PAULA ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

JEAN CROSBY 
 
 

 JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MC DONALD 
 

 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2021. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Resolution Executive Summary 

Prepared By: Circuit Court -Thomas Jakeway 

Committee: Finance 

Committee Date: July 1, 2021 

Resolution Title: Ordinance for Approval of Budget Amendment for Reimbursable Technology 

Expenditures 

County Code: Winnebago County Purchasing Ordinance 

Board Meeting Date: July 8, 2021 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted? No Appropriation Amount: $21,333.97 

If not, explain funding source: Pre-Approved State Reimbursement 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 32000-42290 Budget Impact: Neutral 

Background Information: 

The Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts is administering a COVID Rapid Relief Funding 

program for court technology needs. The Court and County were jointly awarded approval for 

specified reimbursable expenses totaling $21,333.97. Approved goods/resources include 

document cameras for courtrooms and dedicated video conferencing equipment for the 

probation department and the juvenile detention facility. 

Recommendation: Good/resources were selected in consultation with the Department of 

Information Technology. 

Contract/Agreement: See attached. 

Legal Review: Not necessary 

Follow-Up: Purchase items and process necessary reimbursement paperwork. 

ResExSummary 20.1 version 









 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

Chairman’s Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives | 404 Elm Street, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319- 4059 | Email: mdokken@wincoil.us      

    ResExSummary 20.1 version 

 
Prepared By:   Marlana Dokken 
 
Committee:   Finance Committee 
 
Committee Date:  July 1, 2021 
 
Resolution Title:   Resolution approving an intergovernmental agreement between 

the County of Winnebago and City of Rockford for Focused 
Deterrence Re-entry Program 

 
County Code:       Not applicable  
   
Board Meeting Date:    July 8, 2021 
 
Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?          No                Appropriation Amount:        N/A   

If not, explain funding source:          N/A 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:           N/A   Budget Impact:          N/A 
 
 

Background Information: The County and the City desire to collaborate by implementing a 
high-risk focused deterrence re-entry program for fiscal years 
2022 – 2025, pursuant to the terms of an Agreement. The County 
shall be the Implementing Agency and the County Administrator 
or his designee shall have final review and approval rights for the 
Program. 

   
Recommendation:   Staff concurs   
 
Contract/Agreement:  See attached Agreement  
 
Legal Review:     The State’s Attorney has reviewed the IGA 
 
Follow-Up:   Not Applicable        

http://www.wincoil.us/


Sponsored by:  Jaime Salgado   County Board Meeting: July 8, 2021 
  
  

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2021 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  FINANCE COMMITTEE  
 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO AND CITY OF ROCKFORD FOR 
FOCUSED DETERRENCE RE-ENTRY PROGRAM 

 
 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970 
authorizes units of local government to contract and associate among themselves to obtain or 
share services and to exercise, combine, or transfer any power or function, in any manner not 
prohibited by law or ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1, et seq., as amended, 

provides that any power or powers, privileges, functions, or authority exercised or which may be 
exercised by a public agency of this State may be exercised, combined, transferred, and enjoyed 
jointly with any other public agency of this State; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County and City are units of local government as defined in the 

Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq.; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County recognizes the need for reentry programing within Winnebago 

County, Illinois and maintaining fidelity to a focused deterrence program requires intentional 
partnerships between government, law enforcement, the courts, probation, parole, and the 
community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is the County’s largest municipality and has been the County’s 

partner in reentry programming in the past; and 
 
WHEREAS, both the County and the City recognize the evidence-based practice of 

addressing high-risk violent offenders returning from incarceration as a means to reduce 
recidivism; and   

 
WHEREAS, the County and the City desire to collaborate by implementing a high-risk 

focused deterrence re-entry program for fiscal years 2022 – 2025, pursuant to the terms of an 
Agreement. 

 



NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that Joseph Chiarelli, the Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized and 
directed to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement between the County of Winnebago and the 
City of Rockford, in substantially the same form as the Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 

immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized 
and directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County Administrator, 
the Chief Financial Officer, and the County Treasurer. 

 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
AGREE      DISAGREE 
 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado, Chairman                                Jaime Salgado, Chairman 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
Steve Schultz          Steve Schultz 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
John Butitta           John Butitta 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Paul Arena      Paul Arena 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman       Joe Hoffman 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
Jean Crosby          Jean Crosby  
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Keith McDonald     Keith McDonald 
 
 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County  
of Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________, 2021. 
 



 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

 
 
 
 



 

1 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  
FOR FOCUSED DETERRENCE RE-ENTRY PROGRAM 

 
 

This INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”) is entered into this 
______ day of _____________________, 2021, by and between the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois, an Illinois body politic and corporate, (hereinafter “County”) and the City of Rockford, 
an Illinois municipal corporation (hereinafter “City”). The County and City are collectively 
referred to herein as “Parties” or individually as a “Party”. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970 
authorizes units of local government to contract and associate among themselves to obtain or 
share services and to exercise, combine, or transfer any power or function, in any manner not 
prohibited by law or ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1, et seq., as amended, 
provides that any power or powers, privileges, functions, or authority exercised or which may be 
exercised by a public agency of this State may be exercised, combined, transferred, and enjoyed 
jointly with any other public agency of this State; and 

WHEREAS, the County and City are units of local government as defined in the 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq.; and 

WHEREAS, the County recognizes the need for reentry programing within Winnebago 
County, Illinois and maintaining fidelity to a focused deterrence program requires intentional 
partnerships between government, law enforcement, the courts, probation, parole, and the 
community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is the County’s largest municipality and has been the County’s 

partner in reentry programming in the past; and 

WHEREAS, both the County and the City recognize the evidence-based practice of 
addressing high-risk violent offenders returning from incarceration as a means to reduce 
recidivism; and   

WHEREAS, the County and the City desire to collaborate by implementing a high-risk 
focused deterrence re-entry program for fiscal years 2022 – 2025, pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, and the mutual covenants, terms 
and provisions contained herein, or attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, the 
Parties agree to the following: 

 

 



 

2 
 

SECTION 1. OBJECTIVES OF FOCUSED DETERRENCE RE-ENTRY PROGRAM.  

A. Find new and creative ways of implementing traditional (and nontraditional) law 
enforcement tools to reduce crime, such as directly communicating incentives and 
disincentives to targeted individuals.  
 

B. Maintain a sense of procedural justice. 
 

C. Maintaining fidelity to a focused deterrence program requires intentional partnerships 
between government, law enforcement, the courts, probation, parole, and the 
community.   

 

SECTION 2. ALLOCATION OF COST.  

The total cost for the program is $800,000.00 ($200,000.00 per year), which will be 
shared 50% by the County and 50% by the City. The County will be responsible for payment for 
the first two years, 2021-2023. The City will be responsible for payment for the remaining two 
years, 2023-2025. The funding will primarily be utilized to support program management, 
compensation for one (1) Navigator to work with participants of the program and one (1) 
attorney from the Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s Office, and evaluation. Pursuant to 
Section 5 below, if either party elects to terminate the Agreement at any time within the four (4) 
year term of this Agreement, each party shall be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of the 
disbursed costs for the Program. 

 
SECTION 3. PARTIES’ RESPONSIBILITIES.  

A. The County shall be the Implementing Agency and the County Administrator or his 
designee shall have final review and approval rights for the Program. 
 

a. Individuals for the Program will be selected by a proven process already 
evaluated by Loyola University. See attached Exhibit A. 
 

b. Individuals will be entered into the Program primarily via a quarterly Call-in 
meeting, but also through Custom Notification.  Custom notification meetings 
echo the messages of the call‐in meeting but take place in a private locati on with 
the Navigator, a member of the Rockford Police Department’s Intelligence 
Division, and their probation or parole officer when available.  Custom 
notification meetings are appropriate for individuals whom the Operations group 
determined to be in urgent need of intervention prior to the next scheduled call‐
in date. 

 
B. The County will hire and manage one (1) Full Time Employee (FTE) Navigator through 

the Winnebago County Chairman’s Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives. The Navigator 
will be responsible for assisting those who accept the offer of help, coordinating the Call-
In meeting, attending Operations meetings, and maintaining records to effect swift and 



 

3 
 

certain services. The Navigator will collaborate with probation, parole, and the 
community following the Risk, Needs, and Responsivity model.  

C. The Winnebago County States Attorney’s Office (SAO) will hire and assign one (1) FTE 
Assistant State’s Attorney (ASA) who will be responsible for providing swift, certain, 
and fair sanctions to offenses. The ASA will attend monthly Operations meetings and be 
available to be in constant contact with criminal justice system partners regarding 
program participants. The SAO will be responsible for ensuring all relevant members of 
the Court are well-versed in program goals and processes. In the absence of a dedicated 
courtroom to address non‐compliant participants, the SAO will collaborate with the 
Court to develop a plan for the logistical management of program caseloads to effect 
swift sanctions in a way that ensures adherence to the rules of the court, and the rights of 
the individual. 
 

D. The Mayor of the City of Rockford and Chief of Police of the Rockford Police 
Department will participate in call-in forums for the program, as scheduled.  City of 
Rockford Aldermen and Winnebago County Board Members may also attend the call-in 
forums.  
 

E. The City, through its Rockford Police Department, will provide intelligence for the 
selection process, constant contact with partners to ensure program fidelity, increased 
surveillance of participants, and sharing of new intelligence.  The City will also provide 
any data to the researcher for evaluation purposes, upon reasonable request.  
 

F. The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office and the Rockford Police Department will partner 
to provide enforcement at Call-in meetings.  
 

F.G. The parties shall provide reports on a quarterly basis to the Rockford City Council 
and the Winnebago County Board. 

SECTION 4: EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM.  

This Agreement shall be effective on _______________, 2021 and remain in place for 
four (4) years, or unless otherwise terminated as provided in Section 5.  

SECTION 5. TERMINATION.  

This Agreement may be terminated at any time upon any party providing written notice 
on the other party of its intention to terminate the Agreement at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
effective date of termination.  

SECTION 6. INDEMNIFICATION.  

The County shall indemnify the City for any and all claims, losses, damage or expenses, 
including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, resulting from any act or omission on the 
part of the County, its agents, officers, or employees.  The City shall indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the County for any and all claims, losses, damage or expenses, including, but not limited 



 

4 
 

to, reasonable attorney’s fees, resulting from any act or omission on the part of the City, its agents, 
officers, or employees. 
 
SECTION 7. ASSIGNMENT. 

Neither party shall assign this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other 
party. 

SECTION 8. AMENDMENTS. 

Any amendments shall be by written instrument executed by the parties hereto, acting 
therein by their duly authorized representatives. 

SECTION 9. NOTICES. 

All notices, approvals, demands, requests or other documents required or permitted under 
this Agreement, other than routine communications necessary for the day-to-day operation of 
this program, shall be deemed properly given if hand delivered or sent by nationally recognized 
overnight carrier or mailed by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the 
following addresses: 

If to the COUNTY: 

Winnebago County  
Attn: Patrick Thompson, County Administrator  
Winnebago County Administration Building 
404 Elm Street 
Rockford, Illinois 61101 
 

If to the CITY: 

City of Rockford 
Attn: Todd Cagnoni, City Administrator 
City of Rockford 
425 E. State Street 
Rockford, Illinois 61104 

 
Receipt of any notice shall be deemed effective upon receipt, if delivered personally, or one (1) 
day after mailing if sent by overnight carrier, or three (3) days after deposit in the U.S. mail, with 
proper postage and properly addressed. 

 
SECTION 10. GOVERNING LAW.  

The parties agree this Agreement has been executed and delivered in Illinois and that 
their relationship and any and all disputes, controversies or claims arising under this Agreement 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois. The parties further agree that the exclusive 
venue for all such disputes shall be the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Winnebago 
County, Illinois. 



 

5 
 

SECTION 11. HEADINGS. 

Sections and other headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only 
and are not intended to describe, interpret, define or limit the scope, extent or intent of this 
Agreement or any provision hereof. 

 

SECTION 12. SEVERABILITY.  

If any provisions, covenants, agreements or portions of this Agreement or its application 
to any person, entity or property is held invalid, such invalidity shall not invalidate any other 
portion of this Agreement. The parties intend to be bound to this agreement even in the event that 
a portion of the agreement is declared invalid, in accordance with law. 

SECTION 13. COUNTERPARTS.  

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signatures sent 
via facsimile or e-mail transmission shall be deemed original signatures for purposes of creating 
a binding agreement.   

SECTION 14. WAIVERS. 
 

             No terms or provisions hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused, unless 
such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or 
consented.  Any consent by any party to, or waiver of, a breach by the other, whether express or 
implied, shall not constitute consent to, waiver of, or excuse for any other different or subsequent 
breach. 

SECTION 15. AUTHORITY 

The County and City each warrant to the other that they have the authority to enter into this 
Agreement and that the person or persons executing this Agreement on their behalf has been duly 
authorized to act as the representative or officer of each respective party in affixing their signatures 
to the Agreement. The County and City hereto agree to sign such documents, enact such ordinances 
or resolutions, or perform such further obligations as may be necessary to effectuate the purposes 
of this Agreement. 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

6 
 

 

 

<signature page follows> 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
their duly authorized representatives. 

 

COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS      
an Illinois body politic and corporate 
 

________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
Joseph Chiarelli       
Chairman of the County Board of the   
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

 

 

CITY OF ROCKFORD, an Illinois municipal 
corporation 
 

____________________________________           Date: _______________________________ 
Thomas P. McNamara 
Mayor 
 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________   Date: _____________________________ 



 

7 
 

Nicholas O. Meyer 
City Legal Director 

 

 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rockford Focused Deterrence 
Initiative Research Report 

EXAMINING KEY PROGRAM PROCESSES, SERVICES PROVIDED AND 
OUTCOMES OF THE ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS FOCUSED DETERRENCE 
INITIATIVE 
 

 
 

 

Research Report 
 
Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy, and Practice 
 LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO 
 JULY 2020 
 



 
 

 
*This project was supported by Grant #2017-DJ-BX-0071, awarded by the Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of 
Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice, through the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. Points of 
view or opinions contained within this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the 
official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice, or the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
n 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About the 
Report: 
Prepared by Amanda Ward, 
Ph.D, Christopher Donner, 
Ph.D., David Olson, Ph.D.,  
Alexandre Tham, and Kaitlyn 
Faust, Department of 
Criminal Justice & 
Criminology, and Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, 
Policy and Practice  
 
Data Sources: This research 
relied on participant case file 
records, interviews with 
program participants and 
stakeholders, booking data 
from the Winnebago County 
Jail, video-recordings of call-
ins, and surveys of officers in 
the Rockford Police 
Department and members of 
the Rockford Community.  

Center for Criminal Justice 
Research, Policy & Practice 

Loyola University Chicago      
25 East Pearson, Suite 1116 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Phone: 312-915-7876 
ccj@luc.edu 

https://www.luc.edu/ccj/ 

The Center promotes fair, 
informed, effective, and ethical 
criminal justice approaches 
through collaborative 
interdisciplinary research, 
professional development and 
targeted projects. 

This project was possible 
through the support of the 
Illinois Criminal Justice 
Information Authority* 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To address escalating street and gun-violence in Rockford, Illinois, Winnebago 
County’s Criminal Justice Coordinating Council piloted the Focused 
Deterrence Intervention (FDI) between January of 2018 and November of 
2019. The intervention utilized a “focused deterrence” or “pulling-levers” 
framework to identify and deter members of the community who are at a 
heightened risk of committing future acts of street and gun violence. Loyola 
University Chicago’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy and Practice 
collaborated with Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice Coordinating Council 
to support the development, implementation and evaluation of the Focused 
Deterrence Intervention. The present report reviews FDI’s pilot years, with a 
focus on evaluating FDI processes key to the program design. 
 
Key Findings Include:  
 

• Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, 87 men and women 
under probation or Mandatory Supervised Release (MSR, or “parole”) 
supervision were identified as high-risk and required to participate in 
a call-in meeting or were “custom” notified (i.e., met with at their 
home). Those chosen were largely men (98%) and black (82%), with 
the largest proportion on MSR (64%). Ultimately, 74 participants 
attended either a call-in meeting (59 individuals) or custom 
notification (15 individuals), and of those, 66 met with the Navigator 
to complete an intake.  

• A key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention 
was conveying the deterrent message of “swift, certain and fair” 
punishment to participants. Analysis of video-recordings of the call-in 
meetings reveal that an average of 23.5 deterrent statements were 
made per call-in meeting, though there was large variation between 
meetings. In one meeting there were 15 deterrent statements, while 
another meeting had 32.  

• Another key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence 
Intervention was the provision of services. Engagement with the 
Navigator, a case-manager who worked closely with participants and 
provided social service referrals, was high. Eighty-nine percent (66 of 
the 74 participants) completed an intake with the Navigator and set at 
least one goal. 

https://www.luc.edu/ccj/


 

 
 

 
Page 3 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

INTRODUCTION 

______________________________ 

Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council piloted the Focused Deterrence Intervention (FDI) to address street and 

gun violence in Winnebago County’s largest city: Rockford. Although Winnebago County has 11 

cities and towns, Rockford alone accounted for 89% of the county’s violent crime in 2017. The 

intervention sought to address Winnebago County’s violent crime rate and concerns over public 

safety by identifying and deterring individuals who are at a heightened risk of committing 

future acts of street and gun violence. Loyola University Chicago’s Center for Criminal Justice 

Research, Policy and Practice collaborated with Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council to support the development and implementation of the Focused 

Deterrence Intervention. The present report reviews the two years of FDI’s pilot, with a focus 

on evaluating FDI processes key to the program design: (1) identifying high risk individuals for 

the intervention, (2) conducting call‐in meetings and custom notification meetings, (3) 

providing program participants with services, and (4) responding to participants who violate the 

terms of their probation and/or parole with swift, certain and just punishment. Finally, the 

report provides an analysis of the outcomes of the Focused Deterrence Intervention 

participants, including services received by those who engaged with the Navigator and 

recidivism for all those who attended a call‐in or custom notification meeting. 

Data for this research brief include: 

 Aggregated case file records kept by the FDI Navigator, a case‐manager who provided 

social service referrals and worked closely with participants to help them set and 

achieve positive life goals associated with desistance from crime. 

 Interviews with 19 participants in the intervention who actively engaged with the 

Navigator.3  

 Interviews with 17 stakeholders involved in implementing the program from agencies 

within Winnebago County’s criminal justice system, including representatives from the 

Criminal Justice Coordinating Council, Rockford Police Department, the 17th Judicial 

Circuit Court (which serves Winnebago and Boone County), the Winnebago County 

State’s Attorney’s Office, the Winnebago County Probation and Court Services 

Department, the Illinois Department of Corrections’ parole office operating in 

Winnebago County, and the Navigator. 

 Booking data provided by the Winnebago County Jail for all individuals who attended a 

call‐in or custom notification meeting. 



 

 
 

 
Page 4 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 Analysis of video‐recordings of all call‐in meetings. 

 Survey data of Rockford citizens in 2017 (and, again, in 2019) measuring their 

perceptions of crime and disorder, their perceptions of the Rockford Police 

Department, and their perceptions of the Winnebago County court system.  

 Survey data of Rockford police officers in the winter of 2018‐2019 measuring their 

perceptions of crime and disorder, perceptions of their organization, perceptions of 

their role as a police officer, and perceptions of their interactions with citizens. 

 

ROCKFORD’S VIOLENT CRIME CONTEXT 

______________________________ 

In 2017, Rockford’s violent crime rate outpaced other 
cities in Illinois 

______________________________ 

This intervention was well‐timed. Located along I‐90, a regional drug transportation corridor 

and within 100 miles of two urban crime hubs (Chicago and Milwaukee), Rockford experienced 

substantial increases in violent crime in the period leading up to the initiative. Between 2014 

and 2017, the total number of violent offenses (including murder, aggravated criminal sexual 

assault, robbery and aggravated assault/battery) reported to police in Winnebago County 

experienced a 26% increase, mostly due to a 38% increase in reports of aggravated 

assault/battery. Rockford’s overall violent crime rate rose 27% from 2014 (1,239.6 per 100,000 

people) to 2017 (1,571.9 per 100,000 people).4 As a result, Rockford’s violent crime rate in 2017 

was 44% higher than Chicago’s violent crime rate of 1,004.7 per 100,000 people. Further, 

Rockford had the highest violent crime rate of Illinois cities in 2017 with at least 35,000 

residents. Indeed, Rockford’s violent crime rate was more than 3.4 times the average among 

cities of similar size nationally, placing it on several “most dangerous” cities lists.5, 6  

Additionally, Rockford saw a precipitous rise in violent crimes involving firearms in the years 

preceding the initiative. The number of confirmed shootings increased by 60% between 2014 

(364 confirmed shootings) and 2017 (589 confirmed shootings, Figure 1). Aggravated battery 

with a firearm incidents rose 47% between 2014 (76 offenses reported) and 2017 (112 offenses 

reported).7 Further evidence of the increase in gun violence and the response by the Rockford 

Police Department was the increase in the number of guns taken off the street by the police.  



 

 
 

 
Page 5 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Between 2014 and 2017, the number of firearms recovered by the RPD increased 30%, from 
186 to 242.8 

 

 

During 2018 and 2019, the two years during which the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

Intervention was being implemented,9 gun violence in Rockford has declined somewhat. 

Between 2017 and 2019, the number of confirmed shootings declined 25% from 589 (2017) to 

442 (in 2019) and the number of aggravated battery with a firearm incidents declined by 53%. 

In 2019, there were 53 aggravated battery with a firearm incidents. During this time period, the 

number of firearms recovered by the RPD remained stable, decreasing by less than 1%.  

   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
C
o
n
fi
rm

ed
 S
h
o
o
ti
n
gs
  Time Period of Focused Detterence 

Intervention

Figure 1: Confirmed Shootings in Rockford, 2014‐2019 

Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by 
The Rockford Police Department.  



 

 
 

 
Page 6 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

FOCUSED DETERRENCE APPROACH 

______________________________ 

Focused deterrence is an evidenced-based approach to 
policing that provides high-risk individuals with social 

services alongside “certain, swift, and fair” punishment  
______________________________ 

The “focused deterrence” framework is a recent innovation in policing that has shown 

promising evidence of effectiveness in reducing crime. The strategy, which was pioneered in 

Boston and known as Operation Ceasefire, began as a problem‐oriented policing program to 

stop gang violence during the 1990s. Focused deterrence is an interagency approach, and it 

targets specific individuals or groups in an effort to reduce and prevent violent crime (Kennedy, 

1997). It is often described as a “blended strategy” that utilizes the resources of law 

enforcement, the community, and social services (e.g., Braga, Weisburd, & Turchan, 2018) to 

address individual‐and‐community‐level factors that facilitate crime. Sometimes referred to as 

“pulling‐levers policing” (e.g., Kennedy 1997, 2008), this strategy emphasizes using all available 

sources of leverage against known offenders, combining both formal and informal sanctions to 

deter high‐risk individuals from engaging in criminal behavior. Since Operation Ceasefire was 

implemented in Boston, focused deterrence strategies have been applied in many cities 

throughout the United States and evaluations of focused deterrence programs have 

consistently shown decreases in crime. This includes decreases in youth homicide (Braga et al., 

2001; Corsaro & McGarrell, 2010; Kennedy, 1997), gun homicide (Corsaro & McGarrell, 2010; 

Kennedy, 1997; McGarrell, Chermak, Wilson, & Corsaro, 2006; Papachristos, Meares, & Fagan, 

2007), and violent crime (Corsaro, Hunt, Hipple, & McGarrell, 2012; Papachristos et al., 2007).  

Focused deterrence frameworks reflect an effort to find new and creative ways of 

implementing traditional (and nontraditional) law enforcement tools to reduce crime, such as 

directly communicating incentives and disincentives to targeted individuals (e.g., Kennedy 

1997, 2008). In doing so, focused deterrence strategies reflect the core principles of deterrence 

theory. Deterrence theory suggests that crime can be prevented when its costs are perceived 

by the offender to outweigh the benefits (Gibbs 1975; Zimring & Hawkins 1973). Within the 

theory, discussions often distinguish between “general” and “specific” deterrence. General 

deterrence refers to the notion that the general population is dissuaded from committing crime 

when it sees punishment following the commission of a crime. Conversely, specific deterrence 

refers to the punishment administered to a specific person with the intent of discouraging that 



 

 
 

 
Page 7 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

person from committing crime in the future. Deterrence theory suggests that the likelihood an 

individual commits a crime will be reduced if they perceive that the punishment for committing 

that crime will be “certain, swift and severe.” It’s important to note “severe” in deterrence 

theory does not refer to excessive punishment, but rather to punishment that is proportionate 

to the offense, or a “fair” punishment. However, consistent with the focused deterrence 

framework, the high‐risk individuals who are targeted for the program are given a message that 

subsequent involvement in crime will be met with more severe consequences (yet, still fair) 

than they faced in earlier cases. For example, if an individual received probation the first time 

around, a second conviction would lead to incarceration. Or, if an individual was prosecuted in 

state court the first time around, a second prosecution would be handled in federal court if 

applicable.  

Critical to focused deterrence approaches is the direct (and repeated) communication of a 

deterrence‐based messaging to high‐risk individuals by law enforcement and community 

officials in the form of a “call‐in” meeting (e.g., Crandall & Wong, 2012; McDevitt et al., 2006). 

When referring to violence, the term “high risk” applies to individuals who are at high risk for 

both further criminalization and victimization. Indeed, because street violence is often fueled 

by retaliatory gang activity, individuals who are at a heightened risk of committing street 

violence are often at a heightened risk of being the victim of street violence themselves 

(Jennings et al., 2012). Thus, a key element of the strategy is the delivery of a direct and explicit 

message to a relatively small target audience regarding 1) what kind of behavior will provoke a 

specific response, and 2) what that response will be. The message is intended to deter future 

violent behavior by altering high‐risk individuals’ perceptions of the costs and benefits 

associated with violent offending. In particular, the deterrence‐based message is specifically 

constructed to enhance their perception of the certainty, swiftness, and severity of sanctions.  

Having government actors engage in procedural justice is important within a focused 

deterrence approach and communicating the fairness of sanctions is no easy task. Those who 

are targeted for this messaging are known to be at high‐risk for committing violent street crime 

because they have been sanctioned for this behavior in the past. Sanctions for potential future 

offenses would necessarily escalate in severity (harshness) because the Illinois penal code takes 

a more punitive stance against repeat offenders. Thus, the call‐in must simultaneously inform 

high‐risk individuals of the escalated consequences of future offenses while also persuading 

them that those consequences are fair.  

A specific goal of focused deterrence is to maintain a sense of procedural justice among 

offenders. Thibaut and Walker (1975) posited that people care as much about methods 

underlying decision‐making as they do about the actual decision being rendered. This 

underscores the notion that fairness is a fundamental part of society and that fairness is 



 

 
 

 
Page 8 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

associated with more than just outcomes. Procedural justice is commonly identified by four 

pillars: 1) fairness in the process, 2) transparency in actions, 3) opportunities for voice, and 4) 

impartiality in decision‐making (Kunard & Moe, 2015). Ultimately, when citizens assess the 

fairness of a police‐citizen interaction, their perceptions are influenced by a combination of the 

outcome as well as the process, and, often, the outcome of an interaction is less important than 

the interaction itself.  

Procedural justice in focused deterrence programs is achieved by being transparent—notifying 

offenders that law enforcement is closely monitoring them, are aware of their illegal activities, 

and that continued violence will result in aggressive enforcement and the “pulling” of all 

available “levers” to hold them accountable (e.g., Kennedy, 1997). Importantly, the manner and 

context in which the message is delivered couples the focus on deterrence with efforts to 

enhance offenders’ perceptions of procedural justice and police legitimacy (e.g., Braga et al., 

2018). This is accomplished through an emphasis on respectful delivery of the message and the 

notion that the message is fair in the sense of providing clear notice of what will occur if 

violence continues. Moreover, an important part of the message—an offer of community 

support and social services (e.g., employment assistance, housing, substance abuse 

treatment)—often accompanies this message and is intended as a disincentive to criminal 

behavior. Lastly, communicating the message to the target audience typically includes a 

community voice describing the impact of serious gun‐related violence on individuals, families, 

and the community.  

Assessing Community and Police Perceptions of Violent Crime and Safety 

One of the key elements of any violence reduction strategy is the support, cooperation and 

involvement of the community, and this is an important component of the focused deterrence 

intervention in Rockford. Indeed, part of the planning process involved gauging citizens’ 

perceptions of crime and disorder in Rockford, and what they see as appropriate responses to 

violent crime and those who commit violent crime. An internet‐based survey was administered 

to Rockford residents between September 25, 2017 and November 30, 2017. To recruit 

potential respondents, Rockford citizens were notified of the survey via various social media 

websites (e.g., Facebook) and websites of various Rockford and Winnebago County agencies, 

organizations, and elected officials (e.g., city webpage). More than 1,300 people participated in 

the survey, although the number of responses to each individual question varied slightly due to 

some questions not being answered by all respondents.10 

The survey indicated that the community is largely supportive of an approach that includes 

both accountability (punishment) and rehabilitation (services and treatment) to reduce 

violence. The majority of survey respondents agreed people who commit violent crime should 



 

 
 

 
Page 9 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

be punished severely, and the majority of respondents also agreed that those who commit 

violent crime need to be provided with services and treatment to change their behavior. The 

respondent characteristic that had the strongest influence on their views regarding punishment 

and treatment was perception of Rockford’s safety. Respondents who felt that Rockford had 

become a less safe place to live in the past year were much more likely to support punishment 

and less likely to support services and treatment. 

The crime issues that respondents were the most concerned about included shootings, robbery, 

gang activity, and burglary. Forty percent or more of respondents to the survey indicated they 

were “very concerned” about these problems in their neighborhood. These specific crime issues 

were also the areas where respondents were most likely to indicate the police should give the 

“most attention.” Just over one‐half (56%) of respondents felt as though crime in general had 

increased in their neighborhood over the past year, while less than one‐half (44%) felt as 

though violent crime had increased in their neighborhood. There were no statistical differences 

in the perception of crime increasing in the respondents’ neighborhood across different racial 

groups, however, men were more likely than women to perceive that crime increased in their 

neighborhoods. 

Following a full year of the focused deterrence intervention being implemented, a second 

round of the community survey was administered between June 6, 2019 and June 25, 2019. 

Again, an electronic survey was administered, and the same recruiting procedures were 

implemented. More than 1,200 people participated in the second survey, although the number 

of responses to each individual question varied slightly due to some questions not being 

answered by all respondents.11 As in 2017, the community members surveyed in 2019 were 

most concerned about violent crimes and largely supportive of an approach that includes both 

accountability (punishment) and rehabilitation (services and treatment) to reduce violence. 

Comparing the 2019 survey respondent levels of concern for specific crime problems in their 

neighborhoods to those in 2017 revealed statistically significant improvements across a number 

of crime concerns, including burglary, drug sales, robbery/mugging, shootings, disorderly youth, 

and gang activity (Figure 2). 

   



 

 
 

 
Page 10 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

 

Comparatively fewer respondents surveyed in 2019 indicated they were impacted “a lot” by 

crime (13.4%) as compared to those surveyed in 2017 (15.8%). Compared to those surveyed in 

2017, a smaller percentage of the 2019 respondents felt that crime in general, and violent 

crime in particular, had increased in their neighborhood over the course of the previous year 

(Figure 3). In 2017, 56% of survey respondents indicated that crime in general had either 

“increased some” or “increased a lot” in the previous twelve months, compared to 45% of 

survey respondents in 2019. Similarly, a greater percentage of 2017 respondents reported that 

violent neighborhood crime had increased in the previous year (45%) compared to 2019 

respondents (32%). Finally, a smaller percentage of the 2019 respondents indicated that 

Rockford had had become a less safe place (combined responses to “less safe” and “much less 

safe”) to live/work in the past year (50.5%) as compared to those surveyed in 2017 (72.4%).   

Figure 2: Comparing Reported Concern* in Neighborhood Crime for 2017 and 2019 
Survey Respondents, by Type of Crime 

67%

47%

64% 64%

48%
54%

57%
51%

56% 58%

44%
49%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 2019

Source: Analyses of 2017 and 2019 Rockford Community Resident Survey Data collected by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice. 
*Percentage included survey respondents who reported they were “concerned” or “very concerned.” Those 
categories with percentages included in the figure were statistically significant after controlling for differences in 
the survey sample that would impact perception of crime such as race and age.  



 

 
 

 
Page 11 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

 

 

As a follow‐up to the community surveys, the research team also conducted a survey of 

Rockford police officers to better understand their perceptions of crime as well. The electronic 

survey was sent to 249 non‐supervisory officers during the winter of 2018‐19, and 113 officers 

completed the survey.12 Overall, officers expressed more concern for violent crime than they 

did for property, drug, and nuisance crimes. For example, 70% and 83% of officers were “very 

concerned” about robberies and shootings, respectively. Additionally, 63% of officers were 

“very concerned” about gang activity. Almost all officers expressed punitive attitudes towards 

violent offenders, but many also saw the need for rehabilitation for these offenders. For 

example, 97% of officers agreed that violent criminals should be punished severely, and slightly 

more than one‐half of officers (53%) agreed that violent criminals need to be provided with 

services/treatment.  

56%

45%42%

32%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

General Crime Level Violent Crime Level

2017 2019

Figure 3: Comparing Perception of an Increase* in Neighborhood Crime in the 
Previous Year for 2017 and 2019 Survey Respondents 

Source: Analyses of 2017 and 2019 Rockford Community Resident Survey Data collected by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice. 
*Percentage includes survey respondents who reported that crime hand “increased some” or “increased a lot” 
in the previous year.” Reported differences in percentages were statistically significant after controlling for 
differences in the survey sample that would impact perception of crime such as race and age.  

 



 

 
 

 
Page 12 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Additionally, officers had mixed feelings towards citizens. Almost all (91%) of the officers 

agreed that most citizens have good intentions. However, 70% of officers agreed that they have 

reason to be distrustful of citizens, and only 54% agreed that citizens mostly could be trusted to 

do the right thing. Burnout and job frustration were a concern for many officers. For example, 

more than one‐quarter of officers (27%) indicated that they feel burned out from their work at 

least once per week. On a positive note, almost half of officers (48%) feel like they make a 

difference through their work at least once per week; although, another 23% indicated they 

only have that feeling a few times per year. 

 

IMPLEMENTING THE INTERVENTION 

 

Choosing Participants 

Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, 87 men and women on probation and/or 

mandatory supervised release (i.e., MSR or “parole” from Illinois prisons) were identified as 

high‐risk and “called in” to the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention. The intervention’s 

target population was individuals who were at a high‐risk of committing an act of gun‐related 

violence or being the victim of a future act of gun‐related violence. Current intelligence 

revealed those committing crime in Rockford are mobile and much of the gun‐related violence 

is retaliatory in nature, committed primarily by small, disorganized gangs of prolific, chronic 

violent offenders. As such, the target population for this project was from across all three 

Rockford Police Districts as the target population was those committing chronic crime rather 

than geographic hot spots of crime. To increase the likelihood of call‐in meeting and custom 

notification attendance, only individuals on probation and MSR were eligible for inclusion in the 

intervention. Participants were identified for inclusion via a two‐step process. First, the 

Winnebago County Probation and Court Services Department and the IDOC Parole Office in 

Winnebago County each identified a list of individuals currently on supervision who they 

identified as high‐risk of committing an act of gun violence or violence in general. Probationers 

were determined to be at high‐risk of committing a future act of violence based on their score 

on either the LSI‐R or the Illinois Adult Risk Assessment (IARA),13 any recent violent or gun‐

related charges and the professional judgement of the probation officer overseeing their case. 

Identifying the high‐risk parolees was more difficult due to the lack of a risk assessment being 

done on those released from prison during the period when the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

initiative was being implemented. Because of this lack of an objective risk assessment 

instrument for this group of the target population, parole officers tried to identify those with 

characteristics that placed them at increased risk of gun violence, including being relatively 



 

 
 

 
Page 13 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

young and in prison for a gun or violence‐related offense. Additionally, the parole officer 

overseeing their case considered the number and nature of any prison disciplinary actions as an 

indication of potential risk. Individuals who had mental health needs that would interfere with 

their ability to take part in the intervention and/or could not be addressed by the Navigator’s 

services (ex: Schizophrenia) were dropped from consideration by both agencies. Further, 

younger individuals (under 30), were prioritized over older individuals as the likelihood of 

committing a violent offense declines with age.  

Once the two agencies (probation and parole) identified potential participants, they then 

submitted these lists for consideration and discussion at a monthly Focused Deterrence 

initiative operations meeting attended by representatives from the Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council, Rockford Police Department, the Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s 

Office, the Winnebago County Adult Probation Department, the IDOC Parole Office in 

Winnebago County, the Navigator, the Program Manager, and members of the research team. 

During these meetings, the representatives discussed each individual on the list, screening out 

those who had any pending charges, active warrants or whom the police were currently 

building a case against. Further, these conversations gave the Navigator the opportunity to 

screen out any individuals who, based on local knowledge of ongoing rivalries between social 

factions within the community, were a potential threat to Navigator safety.  

The stakeholders interviewed largely expressed confidence that the inclusion criteria and 

processes were identifying the men and women on probation and parole caseloads at the 

highest risk of committing additional violent offenses. They pointed first to a process of 

choosing participants that was based both on their professional acumen (probation and parole) 

and evidence‐based risk assessment tools (probation only). Stakeholders also pointed to the 

recidivism rate amongst intervention participants as evidence that the program was, indeed, 

targeting those likely to reoffend.  

Most of the intervention participants that were interviewed for this study viewed themselves as 

a “good fit” for the program based on their history of gun‐related charges, although most 

tended to view themselves as already at low‐risk for future offending at the time of the call‐in 

or notification meeting. Indeed, all saw themselves as a good fit for the intervention because 

they viewed themselves as being ready for change and felt they had been targeted for the 

program, in part, because parole or probation saw this readiness as well.14 While this view did 

not reflect the actual criteria for inclusion into the program, it may have been beneficial for 

these participants to believe that they had been identified as ready for change and particularly 

worthy of services.  



 

 
 

 
Page 14 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

However, when asked whether the program was “targeting those most at risk for committing 

violence in Winnebago County,” many participants and stakeholders noted that the majority of 

street violence in Rockford is committed by juveniles, who, by virtue of their age and legal 

status, were excluded from adult probation or parole and the intervention. Further, concern 

regarding the inclusion of juveniles on supervision was raised due to the need to ensure the 

confidentiality of juvenile justice records versus the nature of the call‐in meetings, which 

involved community members. Intervention participants interviewed, in particular, expressed a 

desire to see the program expand to accept younger men caught up in street violence, but 

noted that it would be difficult to engage a group who was likely “not ready yet” for change. 

While the operations group discussed expanding to include juveniles, the legal issues around 

confidentiality (i.e., call‐in meetings attended by community members) and the operational 

difference in the juvenile court, juvenile probation and juvenile parole, resulted in that avenue 

not being pursued as part of this pilot initiative. 

Demographics of Individuals Chosen for the Intervention 

In all, 87 individuals were identified for participation in the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

Intervention. Fifty‐six of those chosen were on MSR only (65%) and 28 were on probation (32%, 

Figure 4). An additional three individuals were on both MSR and probation (3%). Although 

gender and race were not selection criteria for the program, most individuals identified for the 

program where Black men. Nearly all (85 individuals) were men, and 82% (71 of the 87) of the 

chosen participants were Black, followed by white (9%, 8) and Hispanic/Latino participants (7%, 

6). The average age of participants at the time they were inducted into the program was just 

under 28 years old (27.75), with just over half of the participants (44, 51%) being 25‐44 years 

old. An additional 40% of the participants (35) were 18‐24 years old and 6% (5) were 45 years 

and over. In all, the largest proportion of participants (approximately 43%) were black men 

between the ages of 25 and 44. All participants lived in Rockford with nearly half (47%) of the 

participants living in the 61102, 61103 and 61104 zip codes.  

   



 

 
 

 
Page 15 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

   

 
Number of Individuals Chosen  Percent of Total 

Sex       

Men  85  98% 

Women  2  2% 

Race       

Black  71  82% 

White  8  9% 

Hispanic/Latino  6  7% 

Unknown*  2  2% 

Supervision Status       

MSR  56  64% 

Probation  28  32% 

Both  3  3% 

Age       

18‐24  35  40% 

25‐44  44  51% 

45 and over  5  6% 

Unknown*  3  2% 

Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of Navigator Case Records and 
publicly available circuit court records.  
*Some demographic characteristics were unknown because the participant never completed an intake with the 
Navigator and the research teams was unable to identify them via publicly available circuit court records. 

Figure 4: Individuals Chosen for Focused Deterrence Intervention by Demographic 
Characteristics 



 

 
 

 
Page 16 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Choosing Participants: Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement 

Develop Agency‐Specific Protocols for Sharing Information: The current screening process 

that takes place during operations meetings relies on the representatives from each 

individual agency to volunteer information about the prospective participants’ previous 

arrests, risk level based on assessment (if available), any open charges and likelihood of 

being arrested in the time period between the operations meeting and the call‐in. Each 

agency has limitations in what information can and should be shared. For example, early 

operations meetings included representatives (Judges) from the 17th Circuit Court. It was 

quickly determined that the presence of the judiciary during discussions about current and 

potential participants was inappropriate as it exposed them to details about the prospective 

participant’s lives and behavior that could compromise their ability to provide fair and 

impartial judgments in future court proceedings. Because representatives experience some 

turnover, the research team suggests that the stakeholders develop agency‐specific 

protocols for the type of information they can and should provide to determine eligibility 

and the extent to which an individual would represent a risk to the Navigator’s safety. 

Evidence‐based Risk and Needs Assessment for MSR: While the Winnebago County 

Probation and Court Services Department was able to rely on an evidence‐based, risk/needs 

assessment tool to evaluate the risk level of potential participants, the IDOC Parole Office 

was not. Although IDOC has sought to implement an evidence‐based risk/needs assessment 

to guide parole practice for more than a decade, at the time of the pilot implementation it 

had not yet been put into place. The research team suggest that future versions of the 

intervention require that parolees complete a risk and needs assessment to determine 

eligibility and appropriateness for the program, which is designed for high risk individuals.  

Develop a Plan for Repeat Participants: As the intervention entered the second year of 

implementation, one challenge to identifying participants was that some of the names 

submitted for consideration were individuals who had previously been unsuccessfully 

discharged from the intervention because they were incarcerated in jail or prison for 

violating the terms of their probation and/or parole and were now reentering the 

community again. While some stakeholders felt that these former participants were an ill‐fit 

for the program because they had effectively squandered their chance at receiving the 

services of the Navigator, others argued that their recidivism indicated that they were, 

indeed, the most likely to commit additional crimes and in need of those services. The 

research team recommend that the stakeholders develop a policy for these potential 

participants. Including these individuals for a second call‐in, increased surveillance, and 

access to services would be consistent with the principles of focused deterrence in that the 

participants would still be considered at high‐risk of committing additional crimes. Arguably, 



 

 
 

 
Page 17 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

they may be better primed for participation, having directly experienced the “swift, certain 

and just” punishment that the approach argue deters criminal behavior. Finally, these 

individuals would likely benefit from services and may be more receptive a second time 

around.  

The Call‐in 

Call‐ins are a key component of a focused deterrence approach. In the context of reducing gun 

violence, the purpose of a “call‐in” meeting is to convey to the participants three key messages 

that they are expected to take in and share with their peers. The first message—the main 

message—is that gun violence will no longer be tolerated. The second message is that there will 

be swift, certain, and fair consequences for continued involvement in gun violence. The third 

message is that there will be a person (i.e. Navigator) who will work one‐on‐one with 

participants to help them obtain social services and other resources to “stay alive and thrive.”  

Over the course of two years, seven (7) quarterly call‐in meetings were held. The dates of the 

meetings were: March 21, 2018; June 13, 2018; September 12, 2018; November 28, 2018; 

March 20, 2019; June 19, 2019; and September 18, 2019.15 Participants were notified of the 

mandate to attend the call‐in meeting via a letter, coupled with either an “in‐person” or “over 

the phone” reminder by their probation or parole officer. In addition, the Navigator typically 

contacted those mandated to attend the call‐in prior to the call‐in to introduce herself and 

prepare them for the aspects of the call‐in that previous attendees identified as off‐putting and 

fear‐inducing, including the presence of the police, the pat‐down process and the confiscation 

of cell‐phones for the duration of the meeting.  

Historically, call‐ins have been located in a neutral community location, and they have been 

moderated by someone who is seen as emblematic of the partnership between the community 

and law enforcement. Call‐ins for the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention were held at 

the Rockford Rescue Mission, a well‐known and centrally located community center that 

provides shelter, necessities, food and counselling to homeless populations in Rockford. With 

one exception,16 the call‐ins were moderated by Reverend Copeland, a well‐respected bridge 

between both the criminal justice system and the local black community. Reverend Copland 

was also instrumental in the implementation of the RAVEN (Rockford Area Violence Elimination 

Network) program, an earlier attempt at implementing a focused deterrence‐type program in 

Rockford that targeted only those released from prison.  

To encourage a sense of community inclusion, the Call‐In speakers and the participants were 

seated in chairs forming a circle, with the call‐in speakers all seated together in a half circle and 

facing the participants. Consistent with focused deterrence principles, which highlight the 

importance of community voice, selected participants were encouraged by the Navigator and 



 

 
 

 
Page 18 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

their probation or parole officer to bring along supportive family members to observe the call‐

in. Additionally, stakeholders within the criminal justice and social service community who were 

interested in the proceedings, but who were not directly speaking in the call‐in, were among 

the observers. No observers were included in the circle, but rather, sat in rows of chairs behind 

the participants.  

Within the focused deterrence framework, the following groups are customary speakers during 

the call‐in: (1) law enforcement personnel, (2) social service providers, and (3) community 

members. Additionally, it is also customary for the community members to represent diverse 

backgrounds, such as someone with lived experience of being on probation or parole, the 

family member of a victim of gun violence, and a leader from the faith community. The call‐in 

meeting can be a powerful and transformative experience in which program participants, 

community members, and law enforcement see each other in new ways. This process has the 

ability to build new relationships and recognize common ground. At their core, call‐ins are a 

communication tool, a way to speak to group members and deliver critical information. Figure 5 

provides information about the specific agencies and representatives who spoke during the 

call‐ins for the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention. It is important to note that due to 

scheduling conflicts, not all of these speakers were able to attend every meeting. If possible, a 

designee was sent in their place. 

Elected 

Government 

Leaders 

Criminal Justice 

Representatives 

Community 

Member 

Navigator  Moderators 

 Mayor of Rockford 

 Winnebago County 

Board Chair 

 Police Chief 

 Sheriff 

 State’s Attorney for 

Winnebago County 

 U.S. Attorney 

Rockford Branch Chief 

 Adult Probation 

Supervisory Agent or 

Probation Agent 

 Parole Supervisory 

Agent or Parole Agent  

 Formerly 

incarcerated 

residents 

 Victim 

Parent 

 Navigator   Pastor 

 Retired Rockford 

Police Lieutenant  

 

Figure 5: Call‐in Speakers 



 

 
 

 
Page 19 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Of the three individuals who represented the elected leaders of Rockford and Winnebago 

County across the call‐in meetings (the Mayor, the City Administrator, the Mayor’s Office on 

Domestic Violence and Human Trafficking Prevention, and the County Board Chair), all but one 

were white men (Figure 6). For criminal justice agency representatives and community 

members, there was variation in race across the meetings and representatives. Among the 

criminal justice agency representatives, roughly two‐thirds were white and about one‐third 

were black. For the community member speakers, fewer than 15% were white, almost three‐

quarters were black, and about 15% were Hispanic. Almost all of the government 

representatives across the six meetings were men. For criminal justice representatives and 

community members, there was greater variation in the sex of the speakers across the 

meetings. Among criminal justice representatives, fewer than one‐half (approximately 40%) of 

the speakers were men and most (roughly 60%) were women. Among the community member 

speakers, most (roughly 85%) were men and only about 15% were women. The Navigator, a 

black woman, was present at all of the meetings. For all of the meetings except one, the 

moderator was a black man; for the final meeting (9/19/19), the moderator was a white man. 

Date  Government Reps.  Criminal Justice Reps.  Community Members 

  White  Black  Hispanic  White  Black  Hispanic  White  Black  Hispanic 

03/21/18  2  0  0  4  1  0  1  2  1 

06/13/18  2  0  0  3  2  0  0  4  0 

09/12/18  2  0  0  5  1  0  0  3  1 

03/20/19  2  0  0  2  3  0  0  2  1 

06/19/19  1  0  0  5  1  0  1  3  0 

09/18/19  1  0  0  3  2  0  1  4  1 

 

Call‐in meetings began with a message of welcome and a prayer from the Reverend Copeland, 

followed by short speeches from the government representatives, justice agency 

representatives, the community members, and, finally, the Navigator. Consistent with the 

principals of focused deterrence, government officials who attended the call‐in were 

encouraged to speak about 1) the harm that violence inflicts on the community; 2) the 

resources the government is directing to the focused deterrence initiative; 3) the variety of 

service resources being afforded to the participants; and 4) the hope that the participant will 

become productive members of society. Law enforcement officials were encouraged to speak 

Figure 6: Demographic Characteristics of Call‐In Speakers 



 

 
 

 
Page 20 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

about 1) the purpose of the call‐in; 2) the strength of the partnership between police and 

prosecution; 3) the fact that new enforcement rules are in place to ensure certain, swift, and 

fair prosecution/sanctions for continued criminality; 4) the fact that law enforcement has 

partnered with social service providers to assist those who want to change; and 5) that the new 

enforcement rules apply to the call‐in participants and their associates. Community members 

were encouraged to express the moral voice of the community. Family members of gun 

violence victims were encouraged to talk about 1) the impact of gun violence on their lives; and 

2) how this fate could occur for the participants and their families. Formerly incarcerated 

community members, some of whom had been involved as participants in previous call‐ins, 

were encouraged to 1) denounce the street code of violent retaliation; and 2) help participants 

see that there are other options available and that change is possible. Finally, the community 

faith leader was asked to talk about 1) the impact of violence on communities; and 2) 

encourage participants to see how their behavior affects others in the community. Because the 

Rockford Focused Deterrence Interventions were recorded, the research team was able to 

analyze the extent to which speakers transmitted these messages. A detailed analysis of the 

messages and their reception is provided below in the section titled Content Analyses of the 

Call‐In Meetings.  

Following the speakers, the participants in the call‐in were invited to join Reverend Copeland 

and the Navigator for a meal (typically pizza or sandwiches), and to learn more about local 

social services and job programs in an adjoining room staffed by representatives from various 

social services providers in the community.  

Call‐in Attendance 

Of the 87 individuals identified for inclusion into the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention, 

72 were mandated to attend one of the seven quarterly call‐in meetings at the Rockford Rescue 

Mission between January of 2018 and November of 2019. Of the 72 individuals mandated to 

attend a call‐in meeting, 59 individuals ultimately attended. Of the 13 individuals who were 

mandated to attend a call‐in meeting but did not, three were judged to have missed the 

meeting for legitimate reasons17 and were successfully custom notified (more information on 

custom notifications below). An additional nine participants (all of whom were on probation) 

were deemed non‐compliant to the supervision conditions by their probation officer, resulting 

in the State’s Attorney’s Office filing a petition to vacate (i.e., revoke) their probation. Eight 

were ultimately served with petitions to vacate probation and unsuccessfully discharged from 

the program. It should be noted that most (6) of those who were deemed non‐compliant for 

failing to attend their mandated call‐in meeting were also charged with new criminal offenses. 

In two instances, the failure to attend the call‐in meeting was the sole reason that probation 

was revoked, and the individual was ordered to serve the prison or jail term associated with 



 

 
 

 
Page 21 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

their original sentence. Finally, one participant was mandated to attend a call‐in and was 

subsequently arrested at the call‐in because a warrant was issued for new charges between his 

selection into the program and the date of the call‐in meeting. 

Content Analyses of the Call‐In Meetings 

As noted earlier, the call‐in meeting and the communication of deterrence‐based messaging is a 

crucial component of the focused deterrence approach. To analyze the extent to which these 

messages were conveyed to participants, the research team conducted a systematic and 

thorough coding of video‐recordings of the call‐in meetings provided by the Rockford Police 

Department. Unfortunately, technological difficulties precluded the watching/analyzing of one 

meeting video (November 28, 2018); thus, the results herein reflect analyses for six of the 

seven meetings.18  

The average length of time for the call‐in meetings was just over 49 minutes, with the longest 

meeting lasting just under on hour at 55:29 (3/21/18) and the shortest meet lasting 

approximately 40 minutes (6/19/19, Figure 7). On average, the community members spoke for 

the longest amount of time at 15 minutes and 34 seconds per meeting. This was followed by 

criminal justice representatives (an average of 14 minutes), the moderator (an average of 7 

minutes and 32 seconds), the navigator (an average of 5 minutes and 31 seconds), and 

government representatives (an average of just under 4 minutes, 3:46). 

 

Date  Meeting 

Length 

Government 

Reps. 

Criminal Justice 

Reps. 

Community 

Members 

Navigator  Moderator 

03/21/18  55:29  03:51  14:52  23:07  05:17  07:29 

06/13/18  49:39  04:19  16:00  15:39  04:37  08:12 

09/12/18  51:48  04:52  10:40  10:24  04:27  09:36 

03/20/19  42:50  03:48  13:14  14:03  03:46  07:28 

06/19/19  40:41  02:19  17:14  07:01  05:17  07:19 

09/18/19  55:15  03:28  12:01  23:09  09:40  05:07 

AVERAGE  49:17  03:46  14:00  15:34  5:31  07:32 

 

   

Figure 7: Length of Meetings and Group Speaking Time 



 

 
 

 
Page 22 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

As is a common theme of many prior focused deterrence initiatives, the main message directed 

at the program participants was that the violence in Rockford must stop. To analyze the 

communication of the main message from the speakers to the participants, the research team 

counted the number of times the main message was conveyed (Figure 8). This includes 

references to the following phrases: “the violence must stop,” “the violence needs to end,” 

“the violence will stop,” and “the violence must end.” Across the six meetings, the main 

message was communicated a total of 112 times—an average of 18.67 references per meeting.  

 

 

Trends varied in the use of “Ending the Violence” messaging by individual speakers19 (Figure 9). 

The moderator of the meetings, by far, referenced the message the most (24 total references; 

an average of 4.00 per meeting). The community members—combined—were close behind (a 

total of 20 references; or an average of 3.33 per meeting). This was followed by the Winnebago 

County State’s Attorney (11 references; an average of 1.83 per meeting), the parole agent (10 

references; an average of 1.67 per meeting), and the mayor and police chief (each with 9 

references or an average of 1.50 per meeting).  

 

15

24
25

13

20

15

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐In Meeting 

Figure 8: References to “Ending the Violence” by Call‐In Meeting 



 

 
 

 
Page 23 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

Speaker  Call‐In Meeting Date 

  3/21/18  6/13/18  9/12/18  3/20/19  6/19/19  9/18/19  TOTAL  AVERAGE 

Mayor  1  1  2  1  1  3  9  1.50 

County 

Board 

0  0  1  2  0  0  3  0.50 

Police Chief  2  2  3  0  1  1  9  1.50 

Sheriff  0  0  5  0  1  0  6  0.75 

State 

Attorney 

1  5  1  1  3  0  11  1.83 

U.S. 

Attorney 

0  1  1  2  2  1  7  1.17 

Probation†  1  0  1  2  2  0  6  0.75 

Parole‡  1  2  2  1  1  3  10  1.67 

Community 

Member** 

4  5  2  1  4  4  20  3.33 

Navigator  1  3  1  0  1  1  7  1.17 

Moderator  4  5  6  3  4  2  24  4.00 

 

Recall that the focused deterrence message was applied to a relatively small audience 

(individuals at high risk in Rockford) rather than a general audience (all individuals in Rockford), 

and it operated by making explicit cause‐and‐effect connections between the behavior of the 

target population and the behavior of the authorities. For example, in the first call‐in meeting, 

one of the justice agency representatives emphasized this mentality by saying “I believe in 

second chances but not third chances.” The intended message was that if the participants 

continued to engage in violent/gun crime, the criminal justice system would deal with their 

subsequent crimes more swiftly and severely.  

At the same time, the participants were also informed that they would be offered rehabilitative 

services to help them refrain from continued violent offending. This is a hallmark of the focused 

deterrence framework’s “stick and carrot” approach. For example, in the first call‐in meeting, 

Figure 9: References to “Ending the Violence” by Speaker 



 

 
 

 
Page 24 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

the probation officer highlighted that the navigator was there to help the participants succeed 

and mentioned several rehabilitative services, such as employment services, housing services, 

drug/mental health counseling, and cognitive‐behavioral therapy. Across the six meetings, the 

service message was conveyed slightly more often than the deterrence message. There was a 

total of 174 references to services (number of mentions of services and number of mentions of 

utilizing those services) and there was a total of 141 references to deterrence‐related concepts 

(i.e., mentions of ideas related to certain, swift, and fair sanctions) (Figure 10). This translates to 

an average of 29 service references per meeting and 23.5 deterrence references per meeting.  

 

There was variation in the use of deterrence and rehabilitative services messaging among the 

speakers (Figure 11). As a group, the community members (combined), provided the greatest 

number of references to deterrence across the six recorded call‐ins (47 references; the mean 

was 7.83). As an individual speaker, the Assistant U.S. Attorney (who was present at all six call‐

ins) referenced deterrence the most (21 total references; the mean was 3.50); the Assistant 

U.S. attorney also had the largest imbalance in terms of referencing deterrence and services 

across the call‐ins (21 references to deterrence compared to 12 references to services). The 

32 32

21

15

23

18

37

33

23

27
28

26

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Deterrence Services

Figure 10: Number of Deterrence‐ and Services‐Oriented Messages by Call‐In Meeting 



 

 
 

 
Page 25 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Winnebago County State’s Attorney gave 18 references (the mean was 3.00) to the deterrent 

message but also gave several more service references for a much more balanced presentation 

(18 to 17). In terms of the service messaging, the community members—combined—yielded 

the greatest number of references (39 references; the mean was 6.50). As far as individual 

speakers, though, the probation officer (23 total references; the mean was 3.83), the police 

chief (18 references; the mean was 3.00), and the mayor and state attorney (17 references 

each; the mean was 2.83) gave the most references to rehabilitative services. The largest 

imbalance of references—towards services—was offered by the probation officer (23 

references to services compared to 6 references to deterrence). 

  Call‐In Meeting Date 

Speaker  3/21/18  6/13/18  9/12/18  3/20/19  6/19/19  9/18/19  TOTAL  AVERAGE 

  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  Deterrence  Services  

Mayor  1  4  0  4  0  2  1  2  0  1  1  4  3  17  0.50  2.83 

County 

Chair 

1  1  0  3  0  0  0  1  0  0  0  0  2  5  0.33  0.83 

Police 

Chief 

4  3  2  3  3  2  3  2  1  4  1  4  14  18  2.33  3.00 

Sheriff  0  0  0  0  1  0  0  0  1  1  2  1  4  2  0.75  0.33 

State 

Attorney 

3  2  4  4  2  5  4  3  3  1  2  2  18  17  3.00  2.83 

U.S. 

Attorney 

1  0  7  3  3  1  1  2  7  3  2  3  21  12  3.50  2.00 

Probation  1  6  1  2  2  3  1  3  1  9  0  0  6  23  1.00  3.83 

Parole  2  2  3  3  1  2  0  3  3  4  2  1  11  15  1.83  2.50 

Comm. 

Member* 

14  10  12  7  6  8  2  7  4  1  7  6  47  39  7.83  6.50 

Navigator  3  3  0  2  0  2  0  2  3  3  1  2  7  14  1.17  2.33 

Moderator  2  5  3  2  3  3  2  2  0  1  0  3  10  16  1.67  2.67 

* All community member speakers combined; (D) = Deterrence; (S) = Rehabilitative Services 

Figure 11: Total References to Deterrence and Services by Individual Speakers  



 

 
 

 
Page 26 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Additionally, the research team counted the number of references the speakers (any speaker 

except the navigator) made to utilize the expertise/services of the navigator to help the 

participants navigate the variety of rehabilitative services being offered (Figure 12). Overall, 

there were a total of 49 references to utilizing the expertise of the navigator, and there were 

approximately eight references per meeting (the mean was 8.17). The most mentions occurred 

at the 6/19/19 meeting (17), and the fewest mentions occurred at the 3/21/18 meeting (3). 

Part of the reason for the increased frequency during the implementation period in the 

mentions of how the navigator could help was due to all of those involved having seen firsthand 

the types of support and assistance the Navigator had provided. During the first call‐in, most of 

the government, criminal justice agency, and community member participants did not know, 

nor had ever met the Navigator. However, during the course of program implementation, they 

had direct contact with the Navigator as that person worked with participants and heard of 

concrete examples of how Navigator services had helped participants. Thus, as the program 

was implemented, all of the stakeholders saw the benefit of Navigator assistance and support 

to the participants, and increasingly mentioned that during the call‐in meetings.  

 

3

7

9

5

17

8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐in Meeting 

Figure 12: Total References to Utilizing Expertise and Services of the Navigator  



 

 
 

 
Page 27 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Finally, speakers often referenced a desire for the participants to become successful and 

productive members of society. This was conveyed several times by several different speakers. 

For example, in the first call‐in meeting, the moderator emphasized the notion that he (and the 

entire group of speakers) hopes that the participants “not only stay alive, but also thrive.” 

Overall, there were a total of 83 references (the mean was 8.17, Figure 13). The most mentions 

occurred at the 9/18/19 meeting (20), and the fewest mentions occurred at the 9/12/18 and 

3/20/19 meetings (11).  

 

 

Participant and Stakeholders Response to Call‐In Meetings 

Most (12) of the 15 call‐in participants interviewed described their call‐in experiences in overall 

positive terms. Although all reported experiencing anxiety at the beginning of the call‐in, 

describing themselves as being “on guard,” “uneasy,” “worried,” or “nervous” during the initial 

pat‐down and in the presence of so many police officers and representatives of the criminal 

justice system, they were ultimately won over by the presence of both government and high‐

ranking criminal justice officials in Rockford, and the offer of what they deemed to be sincere 

and legitimate offers of aid:  

13 13

11 11

15

20

0

5

10

15

20

25

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐In Meeting 

Figure 13: Total References to Encouraging Participant to be a Productive Member of the 

Community  



 

 
 

 
Page 28 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Mike:20 The people that was there, I didn't expect these people to be there. I'm thinking 

that they're busy, you feel me? It was good to see that they care, they took time out of 

their day to come out, to show they face and show that they serious about the program 

and they really want to help us. That was good. 

Pen: [lets out a deep breath] At first, I didn't know what to expect. There was State 

Attorneys, there was all type of people there, city officials, convicts, all type of people 

were there. I didn't know what to expect and I went in there on guard. But, soon enough 

the people are legit…Not only did they talk about helping people, they actually are 

helping people. They are actually listening…. With most, ah political affiliates or city 

officials I ain't ever had any type of positive communication with them. You know, they 

usually look at a person who made mistakes and wound up inside the penal system as 

somebody else. It's just a job to them so or something else or they see you as, as 

something less or [inaudible] or something like that.  

The remaining three call‐in participants interviewed, described the call‐in solely in negative 

terms. Their description of the call‐in focused primarily on what they perceived as hostile, one‐

sided and redundant messages about the possible repercussions of future criminal activity. As 

one participant put it:  

Steve: I get there and I'm thinking, ‘okay they're gonna talk to us about, you know, 

crime prevention, and how not to be, you know, a violent offender or stuff like that and 

we're not gonna hold what you did against you because we want you to be rehabilitated 

from it and you know we can let bygones be bygones and we move away from it.’ It 

wasn't that. It was more like a ‘heads up, if you do this and do that or if you step outside 

boundaries, we got new technologies that’ll do that’ [smacks hand on table] and I was 

like, what? And I said, ‘I'm here for you to tell me this?’ It was a threatening moment to 

me, and I didn't take it well, excuse me, it was, it was insulting, rather… I felt like I was 

being violated…So I didn’t even take it serious.  

When asked to reflect on the messages of deterrence and punishment, five of the participants 

who described the experience in overall positive terms, also identified the style and substance 

of the messages of deterrence and punishment that were conveyed in the first half of the call‐in 

as unnecessary, patronizing and a potential barrier to participant engagement. Noting that 

none of the threats were “new news” to him, Henry explained:  

   



 

 
 

 
Page 29 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Really, it goes in one ear and out the other. It’s just another person that’s above us, that 

didn’t live or come from the life that we’ve experienced, telling us ‘you need to do this, 

you need to do that.’…It’s hard to listening to people like that say something good but 

that they will catch you if they can. And that kind of sets back from what they were 

saying before, about how they want to help us. Because they are so quick to throw out 

what they will do if we mess up.  

Participants like Henry who found the call‐in beneficial, despite feeling alienated by the 

messages of the first half of the program noted that the testimony of current participants who 

were doing well in the program and the warmth and sincerity of the Navigator’s welcome 

ultimately won them over. The remaining seven participants interviewed did not report any 

issue with the deterrence and punishment messages or the ways in which they were delivered, 

although most noted it was nothing they hadn’t heard before.  

Call‐in Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement  

Balance Security Needs with Community Inclusion: Participants and stakeholder attendees 

of the first call‐in noted that the presence of several police officers outfitted in police 

uniforms and tactical gear and the practice of said officers publicly patting down the 

participants prior to the call‐in was potentially off‐putting to participants and countered the 

message of community inclusion that is central to the Focused Deterrence Intervention. 

Further, there was concern that participants would interpret these practices as overly 

aggressive, decreasing the likelihood that they would be receptive to either the message of 

the call‐in or further engagement with the Navigator. Changes were implemented to 

balance the need for security during the call‐in and provide participants with a more 

welcoming introduction to the program. Police presence was limited to the 2‐3 officers 

needed, and pat downs were subsequently conducted in a private room.  

Reconsider the Degree to which the Deterrent Messaging is Emphasized: Nonetheless, 

more than half of the (8) participants who attended call‐ins and participated in a research 

interview identified the style and substance of the deterrence and punishment messaging 

as a potential barrier to participant engagement with the Navigator. Given that these 

interviews were conducted entirely with individuals who had a high level of engagement 

with the Navigator, it is possible that there were some individuals who did not engage with 

the Navigator because of their response to the first half of the call‐in. While the message of 

deterrence and punishment is a part of the Focused Deterrence initiative, those interviewed 

made it clear that they already knew about the consequences of their behavior. Indeed, 

most were returning from prison and all had been sentenced and were on community 

supervision. If future iterations of the intervention want to increase the likelihood that an 



 

 
 

 
Page 30 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

individual follows up with the Navigator, stakeholders should consider abbreviating the 

deterrence and punishment portions of the call‐in, since it is already known by the 

participants, so that a larger portion of the messaging is on what was perceived by the 

interviewees “new” and “encouraging” (e.g., that officials care, that there is support and 

services). Although there needs to be a balance between deterrence and services in the 

operation of the program, perhaps during the call‐in more of an emphasis of services and 

community would increase motivation among participants.  

Continued Involvement of Key Officials: Multiple call‐in participants who were interviewed 

noted that the presence of the city officials, particularly the Mayor, at the call‐ins validated 

the “welcoming” message of the call‐in and the legitimacy of the proffered aid. The 

research team suggests that future iterations of the intervention maintain this practice.  

Increase Messages to Spread the Word to the Community: A key component of the 

focused deterrence approach is the messages conveyed in the call‐in meeting spread to 

others in the community who are also at risk of committing acts of violence. However, when 

asked if they had discussed the call‐in with anyone in the community who was caught up in 

street violence, participants in the call‐in reported that they no longer had contact with 

those individuals. It’s possible that these responses are a product of a sample bias (all 

participants doing well) or the participants desire to avoid the appearance of maintaining a 

criminal social network. Nonetheless, many participants and stakeholders also noted that 

people within their communities or on their caseloads did not know what the intervention 

was or what it was for. The research team suggests that future interventions make a greater 

effort to publicize the focused deterrence intervention, while at the same time respecting 

the privacy of the individual participants.  

Increase Community Attendance: Participants were encouraged to bring supportive family 

to the call‐in, yet few did so. As a result, the audience of the call‐in was comprised almost 

entirely of interested criminal justice practitioners, social service providers, and the 

research team. Efforts were made to invite previous call‐in participants who were doing 

well in the intervention, and some of them did attend and speak at subsequent call‐ins. 

However, many of those invited did not attend, often because of conflicts with their 

schedules or difficulty getting transportation. Addressing these barriers to attendance 

would increase the number of people from the local community in the audience, reinforce 

the messaging of the call‐in with current participants and potentially lead to the 

development of a supportive community amongst participants.  

   



 

 
 

 
Page 31 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Custom Notifications  

Sixteen individuals21 were mandated to attend a custom notification meeting, rather than a 

call‐in meeting. Custom notification meetings were designed to echo the messages of the call‐in 

meeting but took place in a private location (typically the participant’s home, their parole or 

probation officer’s office or a private room within the Rockford Rescue Mission) and with the 

Navigator, a member Rockford Police Department’s Intelligence Division, and their probation or 

parole officer when they were available.22 Custom notification meetings were deemed 

appropriate for individuals whom the program operations group determined would benefit 

more from an individual approach or, most commonly, whom the operations group determined 

to be in urgent need of intervention prior to the next scheduled call‐in date. Individuals were 

notified of the mandate to attend the call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting via letter 

and in person or over the phone by their probation or parole officer. Of those 16 individuals 

mandated to attend a custom notification meeting, 12 were successfully custom notified. The 

remaining four were ultimately unsuccessfully discharged from the program due to being in 

violation of their community supervision for being AWOL (1) or because they were charged with 

new crimes (3). An additional three participants were custom notified after they missed their 

call‐in, for a total of 15 participants who were custom notified.  

During these meetings they were informed that they had been identified as high‐risk, were 

under increased surveillance, and would be held accountable for any future violence to the 

fullest extent possible. Participants were also introduced to the Navigator, who informed 

participants that that she was available to work closely with them to help them set and achieve 

positive life goals associated with desistance from crime.  

Two of the participants interviewed were custom notified. Both spoke in positive terms about 

the meeting, noting in particular the warm welcome and promise of legitimate aid they felt 

they received from the Navigator, as well as the sense that they had been singled out for 

individualized help. Like many of those who attended call‐ins, these two participants reported 

that they initially found the messages of punishment and deterrence intimidating. However, 

both participants also noted that they felt these messages were softened after they had an 

opportunity to respond and assert their commitment to going straight.  

Custom Notification Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement 

Schedule Custom Notification Meetings: Early attempts to custom notify participants 

consisted of unannounced visits by the police, Navigator and Reverend Copeland at the 

home of the identified individual. This approach was quickly dropped as participants 

were usually not at home, or the door was not answered by those in the residence. 

Indeed, in at least one incident, the participant was suspected to have fled their home 



 

 
 

 
Page 32 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

at the sight of the police on his doorstep. Subsequently, parole or probation agents 

informed participants of the custom notification meeting time in advance.  

Demographics of Intervention Participants 

Ultimately, 74 individuals either attended a call‐in (59) or a custom notification meeting (15) 

between January of 2018 and November of 2019. The attendees were predominately black 

(85%), followed by Hispanic (6%) and white (5%). All of the participants were adults (18 or 

older), and the median age for these attendees was 26 years old. Most of those who attended a 

call‐in or custom notification (74%, or 55 participants) were on only on MSR following their 

release from prison (Figure 14). An additional 22% of the attendees (16 participants) were on 

probation only and 6% of the attendees (3 participants) were simultaneously on both MSR and 

probation.  

 

 

 

Surveillance and Sanctions 

Part of the logic underlying focused deterrence interventions is that individuals are less likely to 

engage in criminal activity if they know that punishment will be certain, swift and fair. To 

increase the certainty of punishment, both probation and parole officers involved in supervising 

16

0

41

14

2 1

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Attended a Call In Custom Notified

Probation MSR On Probation and MSR

Figure 14: Program Participants by Introduction Type and Supervision Status  



 

 
 

 
Page 33 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

intervention participants reported that they surveilled intervention participants more closely 

than the other high‐risk men and women on their caseloads. While those on MSR are typically 

eligible at 90 days to have their case files reviewed for a supervision level reduction,23 

intervention participants were not. Parole and probation officers reported that frequent 

contact with the Navigator increased the speed with which concerning behavior would come to 

their attention. Additionally, the police department routinely notified probation and parole 

officers within 24 hours if program participants were arrested or had other police contact. 

Finally, both parole and probation reported closely monitoring and enforcing a greater degree 

of compliance to the technical rules of supervision (attending required programs, reporting, 

etc.) from the intervention participants. Stakeholders agreed that these measures increased the 

likelihood that an offense would be discovered and would be addressed at the supervisory 

level. Finally, although the role was primarily to provide case‐management services, the 

Navigator was in active communication with parole and probation about the participants on her 

caseload, becoming, as one stakeholder put it, “an extra set of eyes and hands and feet on the 

street” to help the participants succeed.  

Ensuring that the discovery of non‐compliance would result in certain, swift and fair sanctions 

was a greater challenge. Stakeholders interviewed were less confident in the intervention’s 

ability to provide swift and certain punishment to intervention participants. While probation 

and parole reported they took quick action when they were made aware of non‐compliance by, 

for example, requesting electronic monitoring (parole), requesting a sanction from the circuit 

court (probation), or requesting a petition for revocation (probation), the actual administering 

of that punishment can take a considerable amount of time. For example, when a probation 

agent notifies the court that a respondent has violated their probation, there is often 

considerable delay between that notification and the state’s attorney and court considering the 

violation. In some instances, this delay was due to the time required to get the violation 

scheduled before the judge who imposed the original probation sentence. This process can take 

weeks depending on the judge’s schedule and potentially results in no sanction whatsoever 

depending on awareness of the intervention’s goals and/or judgment regarding the sanction‐

ability of the non‐compliance. The delay could be even greater in instances where the 

probation agent is requesting the Assistant State’s Attorney’s Office file a petition for 

revocation. Because these requests are reviewed by the attorney who is assigned to the 

courtroom of the judge who imposed the original sentence, this process may also take weeks 

and/or result in no petition depending on the whether or not the attorney is aware of the 

intervention or its goals. Although the original grant proposal sought funding to have a 

dedicated Assistant State’s Attorney assigned to the program, that funding was not provided. 

As a result, while the Assistant State’s Attorney that was part of the operations group was 



 

 
 

 
Page 34 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

committed to the program and its goals, this program was in addition to that person’s “normal” 

responsibilities. In addition, because those on probation had been originally sentenced by a 

number of different judges (with a number of different Assistant State’s Attorney’s), they too 

had a large number of their “normal” cases in addition to these unique cases. 

Similarly, the ability of a parole officer to administer specific sanctions is limited, in part, by the 

conditions of MSR originally set by the statewide Prisoner Review Board (PRB). Getting approval 

from the PRB to have a participant be placed on electronic monitoring, for example, could take 

weeks. Further, because the PRB is a statewide agency handling ten of thousands of releases 

from prison a year, they were not familiar with the focused deterrence intervention or its goals, 

and thus there was no guarantee that the approval would be granted or expedited. As one 

stakeholder put it, the existing processes for sanctioning individuals on supervision are simply 

not “nimble” enough to accommodate speedy and consistent responses to noncompliance.  

As noted previously, an important component of the Focused Deterrence approach is that the 

participants perceive the punishment to be swift, certain and fair. All the participants 

interviewed for this study reported being well aware that if they violated the terms of their 

probation or parole, they would be quickly apprehended, and that incarceration was a likely 

outcome. Further, most of the participants interviewed described themselves as being under 

high surveillance by the police as evidenced by the frequency with which they were stopped for 

traffic violations. They all noted the high level of personal attention they were receiving from 

their probation and parole agent, and some did express initial surprise at how quickly 

information seemed to travel between the police, the Navigator and their probation and/or 

parole officers. However, they didn’t describe this increased attention and communication as 

“surveillance” or as increasing the likelihood that they would get caught and punished if they 

committed a crime. Rather, they interpreted this personal attention and communication as 

evidence that the Navigator and the probation and parole officer were part of a “supportive 

team” to help them pull their lives together and stay out of trouble.  

When asked whether their punishment would be “fair” if they were arrested for committing an 

additional crime or otherwise found to be in non‐compliance for with the rules of their 

supervision, responses varied. All participants interviewed agreed that incarceration was a likely 

and fair outcome for anyone who was arrested for engaging in street violence or any other 

criminal offense, regardless of whether they were in the program or not. However, some 

participants, particularly those on parole, noted that a relatively minor transgression, such as 

driving on a revoked license, missing an appointment or failing to call the “drop line” (used to 

notify individuals if they needed to come in for a random drug test) could result in weeks of 

incarceration and transfer back to prison as they awaited a PRB hearing. They argued that this 

would be an unfair outcome because it would take away things they had worked hard to 



 

 
 

 
Page 35 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

achieve with the Navigator, like finding work or reconnecting with family. Other participants 

felt as though they might be treated more favorably, which they saw as more fair, because the 

judge would view the progress they had made in the program as mitigating violations they may 

have had. Further, they felt the Navigator would advocate on their behalf for a lesser sanction. 

 

Surveillance and Sanctions: Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement  

Continue to Develop Strategies for Increasing the Swiftness of Sanctions: Throughout the 

intervention, the Circuit Court (which oversees probation) was developing a plan for 

increasing the flexibility and swiftness with which the court could respond to non‐compliant 

intervention participants who were on probation. The Court was working to develop a plan 

for the logistical management of these caseloads that decreased the time it took for a 

probation officer’s request that a sanction be administered be considered by the court in a 

way that ensured adherence to the rules of the court, and the rights of the intervention 

participant. One possible solution under consideration was developing a focused deterrence 

caseload that is heard by a single judge, prosecuted by 1‐2 specific assistant state’s 

attorneys and defended by 1‐2 specific assistant public defenders, all of whom would be 

well‐versed in the program’s goals and processes. However, doing so would either require 

focused deterrence cases be identified prior to sentencing and referred to that specific 

courtroom workgroup, or focused deterrence cases be identified post‐sentencing, and then 

having those cases transferred from the original sentencing courtroom to the focused 

deterrence courtroom. 

A Focused Deterrence Assistant State’s Attorney Caseload: As described, the original grant 

application for the Focused Deterrence Program requested, but did not receive, funding for 

a designated assistant state’s attorney whose caseload would include all intervention 

participants. It’s likely that having a designated state’s attorney could have increased the 

swiftness with which participants on probation who violate the conditions of their 

supervision would be sanctioned during this time period. This would not have addressed, 

however, the difficulty of coordinating judicial schedules or court calendars.  

Increase Flexibility of Parole Officer Responses to Violations: The issue related to parole 

officers not being able to more swiftly impose certain types of sanctions (e.g., short periods 

of electronic monitoring) has been identified through this project, as well as other efforts in 

the state, and discussions are taking place to either grant parole officers greater discretion 

to impose certain conditions or expediting hearings before the PRB to reduce the delay in 

sanctions being imposed due to non‐compliance.  



 

 
 

 
Page 36 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Maintain Current Parole Officer/Participant and Probation Officer/Participant Ratio: The 

probation and parole agents interviewed indicated that with current staffing levels there is 

a maximum threshold of participants that can be accommodated, above which it would be 

prohibitively difficult to provide intervention participants with the high level of attention 

and surveillance necessary to administer swift and certain sanctions. 

Participant Engagement with Navigator 

A key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention was the provision of 

services designed to meet the criminogenic needs of individuals at the greatest risk of 

committing additional crimes. Participants in the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention 

were granted access to the Navigator, a counselor who provided case‐management services 

and referrals to local social services and community programs that were tailored to each 

participant’s needs. Unlike participation in the call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting, 

which was compulsory for all individuals identified for the intervention, further interaction with 

the Navigator was voluntary. While all participants were encouraged to take advantage of the 

Navigator’s case management services, they were not penalized if they failed to do so. Of the 

74 participants who attended a call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting, 66 ultimately 

followed up with the Navigator. Eight participants chose not to follow up with the Navigator, 

citing disinterest in services, their ability to meet their own needs and distrust of the program’s 

intentions.24 Participants who chose not to follow‐up with the Navigator were not dropped 

from the program, but still received the same “certain, swift and fair” surveillance and 

sanctioning processes.  

Participants who engaged with the Navigator received case‐management services, beginning 

with a comprehensive intake process in which the Navigator questioned them about their 

current living situation, education level, employment, legal status, substance use, mental 

health, and support system to determine their needs. With the Navigator’s aid, these 

participants set wide‐ranging goals related to meeting their basic survival needs and bettering 

their lives, including obtaining housing, finding employment, accessing mental health 

treatment, connecting and/or reconnecting with prosocial family and friends, and furthering 

their education and job training. Key to the Navigator’s approach was encouraging participants 

to identify the goals that they felt would help them go straight and avoid a return to criminal 

activity. Importantly, the Navigator’s activities were in addition to any referrals and services 

offered by either the probation or parole officer. Due to the smaller caseload the Navigator had 

relative to the probation and parole officers, she was often able to provide more timely and 

thorough assistance for some of the participants’ needs than they would have received 

otherwise. 



 

 
 

 
Page 37 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

The 66 participants who took advantage of the Navigator’s services set a cumulative total of 

454 goals during the time period examined. Analysis of the Navigator’s case records reveal that 

goals related to employment (filling out resumes, distributing resumes, starting a full‐time job, 

maintaining desired employment) were the most popular, with 56 (85%) of the engaged 

intervention participants asking the Navigator for help in this area (Figure 15). This was 

followed by goals related to educational attainment (obtaining a GED, enrolling in higher 

education/vocational training) with 46 (70%) of engaged participants, and obtaining 

identification (social security cards, driver’s licenses and/or birth certificates) with 40 (61%) of 

the engaged participants. The goals that participants set, particularly those related to finding 

work, attending counseling for substance abuse issues, completing their GEDs, paying off their 

legal fees, etc. were typically in‐line with the mandates of their probation and MSR supervision. 

 

Uniformly, intervention participants interviewed for this study reported that the Navigator 

provided hands‐on guidance and support, assisting them to define their long‐ and short‐term 

goals, determine their eligibility and provide referrals for services and/or programs that might 

help them meet those goals, gather any necessary documentation and fill out any relevant 

paperwork, and often personally accompanied them to help navigate application processes and 

advocate for them.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
P
ar
ti
ci
p
an

ts

Figure 15: Participant Goals by Category 



 

 
 

 
Page 38 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

The Navigator’s services extended beyond case‐management and service referrals. Participants 

noted that the Navigator not only assisted them in taking steps to achieve their goals, but also 

held them accountable for progress on their goals by consistently following up with them for 

updates via phone and text. Further, most (15 of the 19) of the participants interviewed 

described the Navigator as an important part of their social support system because they 

perceived her to be an available and trustworthy person to confide their troubles to. 

Participants reported talking with the Navigator about conflicts with family members and 

romantic partners, their difficulties reconnecting with their children, and the pressures they felt 

to return to the “people, places and things” that had gotten them in trouble in the past. Indeed, 

eight participants interviewed for this study credited their ability to stay out of trouble during 

this time period, in part, to Navigator guidance and encouragement. For example, when asked 

to identify “the most important thing” that the navigator helped him with, Johnny offered the 

following:  

Just, I mean, I would say, personally just to stay focused and keep my mind on the right 

goal instead of a negative one. So...She just you know, tell me like, like one time I be 

feeling some type of way and she actually helped talk about problems that I'm going 

through. And she would actually sit down and talk through it. And she'd just let you 

know, like she's be honest and straight up forward with you. Like, “you need to just 

keep your eye on the ball, don't let nothin throw you off.” At the end of the day, you 

have kids to look after. 

Additionally, the Navigator facilitated participant’s compliance with the rules and requirements 

of their parole and/or probation. Participants often discussed their MSR board orders and 

probation requirements with the Navigator, looking to her to help clarify the rules of their 

community supervision and the reasoning behind those rules. The Navigator encouraged them 

to take their community supervision requirements seriously and to communicate with their 

probation or parole officer, particularly when they had committed a technical violation. 

Technical violations typically refer to instances in which someone on community supervision 

violates the rules of their supervision in a way that does not involve the commission of a crime, 

such as failing to call the drop line, missing an appointment or failing a drug test. As these kinds 

of violations are sanctionable with jail time and potentially revocation, participants often felt 

great anxiety when they violated the terms of the community supervision. Both stakeholders 

and the participants interviewed for this study reported instances in which a participant who 

was avoiding their probation and parole officer out of fear of being sanctioned with additional 

jail time was ultimately persuaded by the Navigator to contact their parole or probation officer.  

Finally, the parole officers and probation agents interviewed for this study reported that the 

Navigator was often a valuable source of information about the lives of the people on their 



 

 
 

 
Page 39 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

caseload. Because most of the participants in the study trusted the Navigator and checked in on 

a regular basis, the Navigator was often able to supply information to parole and probation that 

helped corroborate, refute or contextualize the information they were getting form the people 

on their caseloads. This information, they argued, helped them better monitor participants and 

provide appropriate sanctions. As one parole officer put it,  

Sometimes it helps me just to have a backstory and know what's going on, like if a 

participant is going through some type of crisis, you know. I know just generally 

speaking, for example losing a child, or things like that that might drive other behavior, 

whether it be drug use, or drinking. Then I have kind of an idea of what's going on, you 

know in that person's day to day life that they don't always share with me when I'm 

making my contacts, because they know that I'm just going to ask them are they 

addressing their board orders. I'm focusing more on their parole compliance, you know, 

where the Navigator is able to get them engaged more in their day to day life, what's 

going on.  

Further, because the Navigator was systematically checking in with participants, quick 

communication was facilitated between participants and their community corrections officers. 

Participants uniformly reported that it can be difficult to quickly get ahold of their parole officer 

or probation agent because there is an unwieldy process of calling in and leaving a message and 

then waiting for a return call from an unidentified number. Parole and probation agents, in 

turn, noted that it can sometimes be difficult to get the people on their caseloads to answer 

their phones. Because the Navigator was able to communicate with participants over text and 

community corrections officers via a direct line or email, she could connect the two.  

Participant Engagement with Navigator Lessons Learned and Suggestions for Improvement: 

Require Participants Utilizing Navigator’s Services to Share their Risk and Needs 

Assessments with the Navigator: Individuals on probation in Winnebago County complete 

risk and needs assessments as a routine part of the probation intake process. Similarly, 

individuals on MSR are often required to complete mental health and substance abuse 

assessments as part of their board orders. However, these assessment of those on MSR are 

not typically completed as part of the intake process and sometimes occur far later in the 

MSR process. Requiring that those on MSR utilizing the Navigator’s services to complete 

these assessments in a timely manner and granting the Navigator access to the assessment 

of both those on probation and MSR (or even just the recommendations from these 

assessments) would relieve the Navigator of the duty of administering these assessments 

and help the Navigator better provide referrals that meet the participants criminogenic 

needs.  



 

 
 

 
Page 40 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Require Participants Utilizing Navigator’s Services to Share their Probation Requirements 

and Parole Board orders with the Navigator: Granting access to probation requirements 

and parole board orders would decrease the likelihood that the Navigator provides referrals 

or aid that directly counter court or PRB orders. In a few instances, the Navigator worked 

with individuals on MSR to help them meet their goal of finding work, only to find out that 

doing so was in violation of their Parole Board Orders because they had not yet completed 

substance abuse programming.  

Develop Housing Referrals: Both the Navigator and the participants interviewed for this 

study identified independent housing as a crucial, yet particularly difficult to access 

resource. No participant in the study was homeless. However, the Navigator noted that 

many participants were looking for alternative housing because they were living in locations 

where they were likely to get in trouble either because their romantic partner was 

pressuring them to return to criminal activity to make ends meet or because they were 

living with people with whom they were likely to get in physical altercations. Of the 27 

participants who identified housing as a concern at intake, six (22%) were able to 

successfully find an apartment while working with the Navigator. Finding housing is difficult 

for people whose criminal records make them undesirable renters on the private housing 

market and often exclude them from housing programs. While the Navigator has identified 

potential housing opportunities via Section 8’s appeal process and Township Rental, the 

application processes are time‐consuming, lengthy and, in some instances, prohibitively 

unwieldy. One participant interviewed, for example, was simply unable to complete 

Township Rental’s housing application process because the program requires that he 

present his application material in person during a weekly, two‐hour timeslot during which 

he is invariably working.  

  



 

 
 

 
Page 41 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

INTERVENTION OUTCOMES 

______________________________ 

Most participants in the Focused Deterrence Intervention 
received services and were not charged with new violent 

cases in Winnebago County 
______________________________ 

 

Navigator Services Outcomes 

In all, the case records indicated 51 participants completed a total 202 goals between January 

of 2018 and November of 2019.25 Approximately a third (33%) of those goals were related to 

employment, followed by goals related to education (16%) and obtaining ID’s (9%). An 

additional 49 goals were in process at the end of the program and 203 goals were abandoned 

because the participant no longer wanted to achieve that goal, the goal was deemed 

unachievable due to the limited availability of the services requested or the eligibility of the 

participant, or because the participant was incarcerated.  

Of the 56 participants who set an employment goal, 63% achieved that goal (Figure 16). Thirty‐

one participants met their goal of finding full‐time work, two participants met their goal of 

finding part‐time work and one participant (who entered the program employed) met his goal 

of maintaining employment while enrolled in the program. With the help of the Navigator, 20 

of the 46 participants (43%) who set education goals achieved at least one of their goals. Five 

participants achieved goals related to earning their GEDs, including enrolling in a GED program 

(3), completing a GED practice test (3) and completing portions of the GED (1). Four participants 

enrolled in a post‐secondary training program (3) or community college course (1). The 

remaining 11 participants achieved one or more other goals related to furthering their 

education, such as completing education assessments (7), developing a post‐secondary plan (6), 

and applying for benefits/assistance for attending a post‐secondary program (2). 



 

 
 

 
Page 42 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

Fourteen participants “graduated” from the Navigator’s services. Graduation requirements 

were developed by the operations committee and included not being convicted of a new non‐

traffic offense, completing all recommended levels of care for treatment, maintaining a drug 

free status, and achieving at least four out of seven recovery capital criteria that are associated 

with desistance from crime (ex: stable living environment, legitimate form of income). 

Graduates or result in early discharge from either their probation or MSR. took part in a 

graduation ceremony, but graduation did not alter their supervision requirements. 

 Recidivism  

Offenses committed by participants while in the Focused Deterrence Program can generally be 

divided into two categories: technical violations and criminal activity that results in an 

arrest/new charges filed in court. The term technical violations is commonly used to refer to 

instances where an individual has violated the conditions of their probation or MSR but has not 

been arrested for a new crime. Examples would include offenses such as missing a meeting with 

a community corrections agent, failing to attend mandated anger management classes, or 

testing positive for drugs and/or alcohol. Arrests that result in new charges occur when an 

individual is apprehended by the police because of probable cause that the person had engaged 

47%

60%

43%

63%

56% 56%
26%

35%

27%
64%

33%

35% 88%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
P
ar
ti
ci
p
an

ts
 

Figure 16: Participant Goals Achieved by Category* 

*Percentages indicate the proportion of participants who achieved at least one goal within the 
category relative to the number of participants who set a goal in that category (Figure 15).  



 

 
 

 
Page 43 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

in criminal activity and a criminal case is filed in the court by the Winnebago County State’s 

Attorney’s Office.  

Technical Violations  

During the time period examined, 14 of the 66 individuals (21%) who completed an intake with 

the Navigator self‐reported that they had been sanctioned for violating the conditions of their 

probation or MSR. In total, these individuals reported 27 violations, the most common of which 

was recorded as non‐compliance or behavior (15), missing an appointment or failing to call the 

“drop line” (9), and testing positive for drugs (3). Most (70%) of the violations were sanctioned 

with jail time. The remaining sanctions included verbal reprimands, thinking report assignments 

and referrals to the GEO Day Reporting Center for MSR violations.  

Arrests 

Another way to measure recidivism amongst the participants is to consider the number of 

participants who went on to experience an arrest following their induction into the program by 

participating in a call‐in or being custom notified. However, some degree of caution needs to be 

taken when interpreting the recidivism rates of program participants due to: 1) the relatively 

short period of time most participants received support and services from the Navigator, 2) the 

heightened degree of supervision and surveillance of participants due to the program model, 

and 3) the relatively small sample size of participants, particularly when broken down between 

those on probation and MSR. That said, according to the Navigator’s case records and analysis 

of booking data from the Rockford County Jail, 64% (47 out of 74) of the participants who either 

attended a call‐in meeting or who were custom notified were not booked in jail while part of 

the intervention for new offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations such as driving on a 

revoked license or failure to report an incident (Figure 17).26  

Of the 66 participants who availed themselves of the Navigator’s services by completing an 

intake and setting at least one goal with the Navigator, 64% (42 out of 66) were not booked in 

jail while part of the intervention for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations or IDOC 

holds for technical violations. Of the eight participants who attended a call‐in or custom‐

notification meeting and did not follow‐up with the Navigator, most (6) were not booked in jail 

while part of the intervention for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations or IDOC 

holds for technical violations.27 Fifty‐six percent of participants who were supervised on 

probation and 67% of those who were supervised on MSR were not booked in jail while part of 

the intervention on new offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations. 

 



 

 
 

 
Page 44 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

Of the 74 men and women who participated in a call‐in or who were custom notified, 27 (38%) 

were booked in jail for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations. Twenty‐one 

participants were booked once (28% of total sample), 2 participants were booked twice (3%) 

and 4 participants were booked three times (5%). Because participants were booked on 

multiple charges, the most serious offense for which they were booked was used to determine 

the recidivism offense. The most serious offenses tend to have the most serious repercussions, 

both in terms of the individual’s punishment at the hands of the criminal justice system and for 

public safety.  

Sixteen participants (22% of total participants, Figure 18) were booked in jail on new violent 

charges, including domestic violence charges (12), aggravated battery (2), armed violence (1) 

Participant 

Supervision 

Status 

Overall 

Number & 

Percent of 

Total* 

Not Booked 

on any new 

arrest charge 

Booked on 

any new 

arrest 

charge 

Booked on 

new violent 

charge 

Booked on 

any new gun 

charge 

PROBATION  16 (22%)  9  7  5  3 

Engaged  16 (100%)   9  7  5  3 

Not engaged  0 (0%)    ‐  ‐  ‐ 

MSR  55 (74%)  37  18  11  0 

Engaged  47  31  16  10  0 

Not engaged  8  6  2  1  0 

BOTH 

PROBATION 

AND MSR 

3 (4%)  1  2  0  2 

Total 

Participants 

74 (100%)  47 (62%)  27 (38%)28   16 (22%)  5 (7%) 

Figure 17: Participant Recidivism by Supervision Status and Engagement with Navigator 

*Percentages indicate the proportion of the total sample of 74 participants who attended a 
call‐in or who were custom notified. Because some categories overlap, they will not sum to 
100% across rows or columns. 



 

 
 

 
Page 45 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

and armed robbery (1). An additional 11 participants were booked into jail on charges for non‐

violent crimes only, including illegal gun possession (2), property crimes (2), driving under the 

influence (2), manufacture/delivery of a controlled substance (2), and possession of cannabis 

(1), fleeing an officer (1), and violating an order of protection (1). Of the 5 participants who 

were booked into jail for offenses that involved a firearm (7% of the total sample), two were 

booked on charges that included the illegal possession (but not use) of a firearm only.29 The 

remaining three were booked on violent charges that involved a firearm: armed robbery (1), 

armed violence (1) and aggravated battery of a police officer and illegal possession of a 

firearm.30 

 

 

 

Of the 74 individuals who participated in the intervention (by at least attending a call‐in or 

custom notification meeting), 42 were determined to be in good legal standing at the end of 

the intervention, meaning that they were not currently incarcerated in jail or prison for 

committing a new offense or violating the terms of their supervision and were not currently 

under investigation by the Rockford Police Department. Individuals in good legal standing 

included 16 participants who were no longer working with the Navigator (typically citing 

disinterest or lack of needs) but who were still enrolled in the intervention, 13 participants who 

had graduated and 11 participants who were actively engaged with the Navigator at the end of 

No Bookings, 47, 
64%

Domestic Violence , 
12, 16%

Other Violence , 4, 
5%

Non‐Violent 
Offense, 11, 15%

Figure 18: Examining Recidivism Among Participants  



 

 
 

 
Page 46 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

the program. Thirty participants were unsuccessfully discharged from the program, because the 

police department was building cases against them for suspected violent criminal activity, 

because they were incarcerated in jail pending sentencing for a new crime or because their 

probation or parole was revoked and they were serving out the remainder of their sentence in 

jail or prison. Finally, four participants were dropped from the intervention either because they 

relocated from Winnebago County and were transferred to a new parole district (3) or because 

they were discovered to be on federal probation (1).  

While it is still too early to draw definitive conclusions on the efficacy of the intervention, it is 

heartening that most participants in the Focused Deterrence Intervention were not charged 

with new violent cases in Winnebago County during the pilot years. Of the 74 individuals on 

probation and/or parole who either attended a call‐in or a custom notification meeting, most 

(78%) were not booked on charges for any violent crimes and a significant proportion (63%) 

were not arrested for any new crimes in Winnebago County during the time period examined. 

Additionally, only 5 participants were arrested for gun‐related charges and only three 

participants were charged for using a gun in the commission of a violent crime. Given that 

participants were chosen because they represent the highest risk to public safety, the relative 

lack of violent crime amongst participants, particularly violent crime that involves firearms, is 

promising.  

Recidivism Outcomes Lessons Learned and Suggestions for Improvement 

Increase response to domestic violence. Early in the program implementation process, 

it was decided that the intervention would focus primarily on individuals who were at 

high risk of committing gun‐related violence. While domestic violence is clearly a serious 

and prevalent form of violence, stakeholders determined that the focused deterrence 

approach and services provided were not appropriate for combatting domestic violence, 

and the Mayor’s Office was addressing domestic violence through other efforts. 

Domestic violence, however, ultimately drove some of the recidivism in this program 

evaluation. Arrests for domestic violence also have significant implications for MSR 

supervision and revocation, since under Illinois law anyone on MSR who is rearrested for 

a domestic violence offense must have a warrant issued to revoke their MSR and be 

returned to prison as an MSR violator. Ultimately, 12 participants in this intervention 

were unsuccessfully discharged from the program following an arrest for domestic 

battery or aggravated domestic battery. 

Analyze Probation and Parole Case Files to Assess Violations and Sanctions: As noted 

earlier, the data about technical violations and sanctions described in this report come 

primarily from information reported to the Navigator by participants and do not fully 



 

 
 

 
Page 47 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

capture all of the violations and sanctions among program participants. There is a 

discrepancy, for example, between the apparent swiftness with which participants on 

parole reported being sanctioned for technical violations (within 24 hours) and the 

description that parole agents provided of the potentially lengthy process of sanctioning 

a participant.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
 

 
Page 48 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

REFERENCES 

______________________________ 

Braga, A. A., Kennedy, D. M., Waring, E. J., & Piehl, A. M. (2001). Problem‐oriented policing, 
deterrence, and youth violence: An evaluation of Boston's Operation Ceasefire. Journal of 
Research in Crime and Delinquency, 38(3), 195‐225. 

Braga, A. A., Weisburd, D., & Turchan, B. (2018). Focused deterrence strategies and crime 
control: An updated systematic review and meta‐analysis of the empirical 
evidence. Criminology & Public Policy, 17(1), 205‐250. 

Corsaro, N., Hunt, E. D., Hipple, N. K., & McGarrell, E. F. (2012). The impact of drug market 
pulling levers policing on neighborhood violence: an evaluation of the High Point drug market 
intervention. Criminology & Public Policy, 11(2), 167‐199. 

Corsaro, N., & McGarrell, E. F. (2010). Reducing homicide risk in Indianapolis between 1997 and 
2000. Journal of Urban Health, 87(5), 851‐864. 

Crandall, V., & Wong, S. (2012). Group violence reduction strategy: Call‐in preparation and 
execution. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Strategies. 

Gibbs, J. P. (1975). Crime, punishment, and deterrence. New York: Elsevier. 

Jennings, W. G., Piquero, A. R., & Reingle, J. M. (2012). On the overlap between victimization 
and offending: A review of the literature. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 17(1), 16‐26. 

Kennedy, D. M. (1997). Pulling levers: Chronic offenders, high‐crime settings, and a theory of 
prevention. Valparaiso University Law Review, 31(2), 449‐484. 

Kennedy, D. M. (2008). Deterrence and crime prevention: Reconsidering the prospect of 
sanction. London, UK: Routledge. 

Kunard, L., & Moe, C. (2015). Procedural justice for law enforcement: An overview. 

Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services. 

McDevitt, J., Decker, S., Hipple, N. K., McGarrell, E. F., Klofas, J., & Bynum, T. (2006). Project 
Safe Neighborhoods strategic interventions offender notification: Meetings case study 
2. Washington, DC: Office of Justice Programs. 

McGarrell, E. F., Chermak, S., Wilson, J. M., & Corsaro, N. (2006). Reducing homicide through a 
“lever‐pulling” strategy. Justice Quarterly, 23(02), 214‐231.  

Papachristos, A. V., Meares, T. L., & Fagan, J. (2007). Attention felons: Evaluating project safe 
neighborhoods in Chicago. Journal of Empirical Legal Studies, 4(2), 223‐272. 

Thibaut, J. W., & Walker, L. (1975). Procedural justice: A psychological analysis. L. Erlbaum  

Associates. 



 

 
 

 
Page 49 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Wright, V. (2010). Deterrence in criminal justice: Evaluating certainty vs. severity of punishment. 
Washington, DC: The Sentencing Project. 

Zimring, F. E., & Hawkins, G. J. (1973). Deterrence: The legal threat in crime control. Chicago: 
University of Chicago Press. 

 

1 Graduation requirements were developed by the operations committee and included not being convicted of a 
new non‐traffic offense, completing all recommended levels of care for treatment, maintaining a drug free status, 
and achieving at least four out of seven recovery capital criteria that are associated with desistance from crime (ex: 
stable living environment, legitimate form of income). 
2 Anyone arrested in Winnebago County is booked into the jail for the processing of the arrestee. Thus, booking 
into the jail is a measure of new arrests that occurred in the county. 
3 It should be noted that those who were interviewed represent a specific subset of participants in the 
intervention; all were individuals who took advantage of the Navigator’s services and had not recidivated by the 
time of the interview. 
4 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of aggregate, published I‐UCR 
data. 
5 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of aggregate, published I‐UCR 
data. 
6 See: http://www.mystateline.com/news/rockford‐listed‐as‐americas‐5th‐most‐dangerous‐city/820263454; 
http://1440wrok.com/website‐declares‐rockford‐to‐be‐the‐5th‐most‐dangerous‐city‐in‐america/ 
7 Number reflects incidents in which the victim was actually struck by gunfire. Analyses by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by The Rockford Police Department. 
8 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by The 
Rockford Police Department. 
9 The first call‐in took place in March of 2018 and the Navigator discontinued services to participants in December 
of 2019 when the grant ended. 
10 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the “The Rockford Community 
Survey: Results,” which was prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://wincoil.us/media/197427/2018_02_22_rockford_community_survey_results.pdf 
11 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the reports entitled “The 2019 
Rockford Community Survey: Results” and “Rockford Community Perceptions of Crime Survey: A Comparison of 
survey responses from 2017 to 2019,” which were both prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%202019%20Rockford%20Community%20Perceptions%20of%20
Crime%20Survey_Results.pdf 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%202019%20Rockford%20Community%20Perceptions%20of%20
Crime%20Survey_Results‐1.pdf 
12 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the report entitled “The 
Rockford Police Officer Survey: Results,” which was prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%20Rockford%20Community%20Survey_Results.pdf 
13 During 2018, the Winnebago County Probation began transitioning from using the LSI‐R to using the IARA for risk 
assessment. In order to be considered for the intervention, an individual had score “high risk” on the risk 
assessment tool and have a history of violent behavior involving guns. In some instances, individuals who had a 
history of gun violence and scored “moderate” on the risk assessment were upgraded to “high risk” based on the 
probation officers’ assessment of their case history and current behavior. 
14 It should be noted that those who were interviewed represent a specific subset of participants in the 
intervention, in that these were individual who took advantage of the Navigator’s services and had not recidivated 
by the time of the interview. 

                                                       



 

 
 

 
Page 50 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

                                                                                                                                                                               
15 Due to the grant supporting the program ending in December 2019, the fourth quarter call‐in meeting for 2019 
was not held due to operations group agreeing it would not be fair to the targeted participants to have a call‐in 
with offered services, only to have the Navigator no longer able to serve them after the project end date. 
16 One of the call‐in‐meetings, 9/18/19, was moderated by retired Rockford Police Lieutenant Eric Bruno. 
17 One participant was turned away at the door due to lateness resulting from confusion over which entrance to 
the Rockford Rescue Mission to use. Another missed because he was caring for an ill child and the final participant 
was unable to attend due to requirements/restrictions associated with MSR conditions. 
18 Observation notes taken from researchers who were present for the November 28, 2018 call‐in meeting confirm 
that the meeting was consistent in both structure and messaging as the other six meetings. 
19 Counts for each speaker include references to “Ending the Violence” made by designates sent in their place 
when they were unable to attend. 
20 All participant names indicated are pseudonyms. 
21 These 16 men and women do not include the three participants who were mandated to attend a custom 
notification following the failure to attend a call‐in meeting. 
22 Efforts were made initially to include a respected member of the community (The Reverend) and a member of 
the research team but the difficulty of scheduling these meetings was a barrier. 
23 A supervision level reduction would decrease the amount of contact that the parolee would be expected to have 
with the parole agent. For example, they may transition from weekly check‐ins by phone to monthly check‐ins by 
phone. 
24 Based on interviews with the Navigator and review of Navigator case notes. 
25 It may be tempting to interpret the fact 202 of the 454 goals set were completed as a 46% goal achievement 
rate. This would be inappropriate for two reasons. First, participants were inducted into the intervention in waves 
and set goals multiple times throughout the time period examined. Many of the “in‐process” goals for the latest 
cohort of participants were set in September of 2019. Additionally, some goals, like completing a GED, maintaining 
a job, and obtaining an apartment are long‐term goals that likely would extend beyond the year or less that most 
participants were receiving support from the Navigator. 
26 Because the bookings data is being used to measure the number of participants who were arrested for 
additional crimes, these analyses exclude individuals who were booked on an IDOC hold for technical violations 
(e.g. failure to report) that did not involve an arrest for new crime. 
27 That a similar proportion of those who did not utilize the Navigator’s services (62%) were not arrested compared 
to those who did (62%) should not be interpreted to mean that the Navigator’s services were unrelated participant 
success. The number of those who did not avail themselves of the Navigator’s services is simply too small to make 
that comparison. 
28 For comparison purposes, out of all those released from IDOC to Winnebago County with characteristics similar 
to the program participants, approximately 68% were rearrested for any crime within 2 years of release. For high‐
risk probationers with similar characteristics to the program participants, more than 50% were rearrested for any 
crime while on probation. 
29 The illegal possession of a gun refers to the possession of a gun by persons prohibited from possessing guns due 
to their age, criminal record, or not having applied for/received a Firearm Owner’s Identification—FOID‐ card or a 
Concealed Carry Permit‐CCP, or possessing a gun in prohibited places. In this sample, all individuals would be 
prohibited from possessing guns due to their criminal record and/or the terms of the supervision. 
30 Under Illinois’ Armed Violence statute, a person who illegally possesses a gun during the commission of any 
other felony (i.e., felony drug possession, drug sales, theft) can be charged and convicted of Armed Violence. In 
this instance, the individual was booked on Armed Violence charges for the possession of a gun alongside felony 
charges for manufacture and delivery of cannabis. 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rockford Focused Deterrence 
Initiative Research Report 

EXAMINING KEY PROGRAM PROCESSES, SERVICES PROVIDED AND 
OUTCOMES OF THE ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS FOCUSED DETERRENCE 
INITIATIVE 
 

 
 

 

Research Report 
 
Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy, and Practice 
 LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO 
 JULY 2020 
 



 
 

 
*This project was supported by Grant #2017-DJ-BX-0071, awarded by the Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of 
Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice, through the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. Points of 
view or opinions contained within this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the 
official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice, or the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
n 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About the 
Report: 
Prepared by Amanda Ward, 
Ph.D, Christopher Donner, 
Ph.D., David Olson, Ph.D.,  
Alexandre Tham, and Kaitlyn 
Faust, Department of 
Criminal Justice & 
Criminology, and Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, 
Policy and Practice  
 
Data Sources: This research 
relied on participant case file 
records, interviews with 
program participants and 
stakeholders, booking data 
from the Winnebago County 
Jail, video-recordings of call-
ins, and surveys of officers in 
the Rockford Police 
Department and members of 
the Rockford Community.  

Center for Criminal Justice 
Research, Policy & Practice 

Loyola University Chicago      
25 East Pearson, Suite 1116 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Phone: 312-915-7876 
ccj@luc.edu 

https://www.luc.edu/ccj/ 

The Center promotes fair, 
informed, effective, and ethical 
criminal justice approaches 
through collaborative 
interdisciplinary research, 
professional development and 
targeted projects. 

This project was possible 
through the support of the 
Illinois Criminal Justice 
Information Authority* 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To address escalating street and gun-violence in Rockford, Illinois, Winnebago 
County’s Criminal Justice Coordinating Council piloted the Focused 
Deterrence Intervention (FDI) between January of 2018 and November of 
2019. The intervention utilized a “focused deterrence” or “pulling-levers” 
framework to identify and deter members of the community who are at a 
heightened risk of committing future acts of street and gun violence. Loyola 
University Chicago’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy and Practice 
collaborated with Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice Coordinating Council 
to support the development, implementation and evaluation of the Focused 
Deterrence Intervention. The present report reviews FDI’s pilot years, with a 
focus on evaluating FDI processes key to the program design. 
 
Key Findings Include:  
 

• Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, 87 men and women 
under probation or Mandatory Supervised Release (MSR, or “parole”) 
supervision were identified as high-risk and required to participate in 
a call-in meeting or were “custom” notified (i.e., met with at their 
home). Those chosen were largely men (98%) and black (82%), with 
the largest proportion on MSR (64%). Ultimately, 74 participants 
attended either a call-in meeting (59 individuals) or custom 
notification (15 individuals), and of those, 66 met with the Navigator 
to complete an intake.  

• A key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention 
was conveying the deterrent message of “swift, certain and fair” 
punishment to participants. Analysis of video-recordings of the call-in 
meetings reveal that an average of 23.5 deterrent statements were 
made per call-in meeting, though there was large variation between 
meetings. In one meeting there were 15 deterrent statements, while 
another meeting had 32.  

• Another key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence 
Intervention was the provision of services. Engagement with the 
Navigator, a case-manager who worked closely with participants and 
provided social service referrals, was high. Eighty-nine percent (66 of 
the 74 participants) completed an intake with the Navigator and set at 
least one goal. 

https://www.luc.edu/ccj/
mdokken
Sticky Note
Only the Forum was mandatory, meeting with the Navigator was not. The individuals were high risk/high need so this number is beyond what was expected.

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 3 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

INTRODUCTION 

______________________________ 

Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council piloted the Focused Deterrence Intervention (FDI) to address street and 

gun violence in Winnebago County’s largest city: Rockford. Although Winnebago County has 11 

cities and towns, Rockford alone accounted for 89% of the county’s violent crime in 2017. The 

intervention sought to address Winnebago County’s violent crime rate and concerns over public 

safety by identifying and deterring individuals who are at a heightened risk of committing 

future acts of street and gun violence. Loyola University Chicago’s Center for Criminal Justice 

Research, Policy and Practice collaborated with Winnebago County’s Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council to support the development and implementation of the Focused 

Deterrence Intervention. The present report reviews the two years of FDI’s pilot, with a focus 

on evaluating FDI processes key to the program design: (1) identifying high risk individuals for 

the intervention, (2) conducting call‐in meetings and custom notification meetings, (3) 

providing program participants with services, and (4) responding to participants who violate the 

terms of their probation and/or parole with swift, certain and just punishment. Finally, the 

report provides an analysis of the outcomes of the Focused Deterrence Intervention 

participants, including services received by those who engaged with the Navigator and 

recidivism for all those who attended a call‐in or custom notification meeting. 

Data for this research brief include: 

 Aggregated case file records kept by the FDI Navigator, a case‐manager who provided 

social service referrals and worked closely with participants to help them set and 

achieve positive life goals associated with desistance from crime. 

 Interviews with 19 participants in the intervention who actively engaged with the 

Navigator.3  

 Interviews with 17 stakeholders involved in implementing the program from agencies 

within Winnebago County’s criminal justice system, including representatives from the 

Criminal Justice Coordinating Council, Rockford Police Department, the 17th Judicial 

Circuit Court (which serves Winnebago and Boone County), the Winnebago County 

State’s Attorney’s Office, the Winnebago County Probation and Court Services 

Department, the Illinois Department of Corrections’ parole office operating in 

Winnebago County, and the Navigator. 

 Booking data provided by the Winnebago County Jail for all individuals who attended a 

call‐in or custom notification meeting. 



 

 
 

 
Page 4 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 Analysis of video‐recordings of all call‐in meetings. 

 Survey data of Rockford citizens in 2017 (and, again, in 2019) measuring their 

perceptions of crime and disorder, their perceptions of the Rockford Police 

Department, and their perceptions of the Winnebago County court system.  

 Survey data of Rockford police officers in the winter of 2018‐2019 measuring their 

perceptions of crime and disorder, perceptions of their organization, perceptions of 

their role as a police officer, and perceptions of their interactions with citizens. 

 

ROCKFORD’S VIOLENT CRIME CONTEXT 

______________________________ 

In 2017, Rockford’s violent crime rate outpaced other 
cities in Illinois 

______________________________ 

This intervention was well‐timed. Located along I‐90, a regional drug transportation corridor 

and within 100 miles of two urban crime hubs (Chicago and Milwaukee), Rockford experienced 

substantial increases in violent crime in the period leading up to the initiative. Between 2014 

and 2017, the total number of violent offenses (including murder, aggravated criminal sexual 

assault, robbery and aggravated assault/battery) reported to police in Winnebago County 

experienced a 26% increase, mostly due to a 38% increase in reports of aggravated 

assault/battery. Rockford’s overall violent crime rate rose 27% from 2014 (1,239.6 per 100,000 

people) to 2017 (1,571.9 per 100,000 people).4 As a result, Rockford’s violent crime rate in 2017 

was 44% higher than Chicago’s violent crime rate of 1,004.7 per 100,000 people. Further, 

Rockford had the highest violent crime rate of Illinois cities in 2017 with at least 35,000 

residents. Indeed, Rockford’s violent crime rate was more than 3.4 times the average among 

cities of similar size nationally, placing it on several “most dangerous” cities lists.5, 6  

Additionally, Rockford saw a precipitous rise in violent crimes involving firearms in the years 

preceding the initiative. The number of confirmed shootings increased by 60% between 2014 

(364 confirmed shootings) and 2017 (589 confirmed shootings, Figure 1). Aggravated battery 

with a firearm incidents rose 47% between 2014 (76 offenses reported) and 2017 (112 offenses 

reported).7 Further evidence of the increase in gun violence and the response by the Rockford 

Police Department was the increase in the number of guns taken off the street by the police.  



 

 
 

 
Page 5 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Between 2014 and 2017, the number of firearms recovered by the RPD increased 30%, from 
186 to 242.8 

 

 

During 2018 and 2019, the two years during which the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

Intervention was being implemented,9 gun violence in Rockford has declined somewhat. 

Between 2017 and 2019, the number of confirmed shootings declined 25% from 589 (2017) to 

442 (in 2019) and the number of aggravated battery with a firearm incidents declined by 53%. 

In 2019, there were 53 aggravated battery with a firearm incidents. During this time period, the 

number of firearms recovered by the RPD remained stable, decreasing by less than 1%.  

   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
C
o
n
fi
rm

ed
 S
h
o
o
ti
n
gs
  Time Period of Focused Detterence 

Intervention

Figure 1: Confirmed Shootings in Rockford, 2014‐2019 

Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by 
The Rockford Police Department.  

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 6 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

FOCUSED DETERRENCE APPROACH 

______________________________ 

Focused deterrence is an evidenced-based approach to 
policing that provides high-risk individuals with social 

services alongside “certain, swift, and fair” punishment  
______________________________ 

The “focused deterrence” framework is a recent innovation in policing that has shown 

promising evidence of effectiveness in reducing crime. The strategy, which was pioneered in 

Boston and known as Operation Ceasefire, began as a problem‐oriented policing program to 

stop gang violence during the 1990s. Focused deterrence is an interagency approach, and it 

targets specific individuals or groups in an effort to reduce and prevent violent crime (Kennedy, 

1997). It is often described as a “blended strategy” that utilizes the resources of law 

enforcement, the community, and social services (e.g., Braga, Weisburd, & Turchan, 2018) to 

address individual‐and‐community‐level factors that facilitate crime. Sometimes referred to as 

“pulling‐levers policing” (e.g., Kennedy 1997, 2008), this strategy emphasizes using all available 

sources of leverage against known offenders, combining both formal and informal sanctions to 

deter high‐risk individuals from engaging in criminal behavior. Since Operation Ceasefire was 

implemented in Boston, focused deterrence strategies have been applied in many cities 

throughout the United States and evaluations of focused deterrence programs have 

consistently shown decreases in crime. This includes decreases in youth homicide (Braga et al., 

2001; Corsaro & McGarrell, 2010; Kennedy, 1997), gun homicide (Corsaro & McGarrell, 2010; 

Kennedy, 1997; McGarrell, Chermak, Wilson, & Corsaro, 2006; Papachristos, Meares, & Fagan, 

2007), and violent crime (Corsaro, Hunt, Hipple, & McGarrell, 2012; Papachristos et al., 2007).  

Focused deterrence frameworks reflect an effort to find new and creative ways of 

implementing traditional (and nontraditional) law enforcement tools to reduce crime, such as 

directly communicating incentives and disincentives to targeted individuals (e.g., Kennedy 

1997, 2008). In doing so, focused deterrence strategies reflect the core principles of deterrence 

theory. Deterrence theory suggests that crime can be prevented when its costs are perceived 

by the offender to outweigh the benefits (Gibbs 1975; Zimring & Hawkins 1973). Within the 

theory, discussions often distinguish between “general” and “specific” deterrence. General 

deterrence refers to the notion that the general population is dissuaded from committing crime 

when it sees punishment following the commission of a crime. Conversely, specific deterrence 

refers to the punishment administered to a specific person with the intent of discouraging that 



 

 
 

 
Page 7 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

person from committing crime in the future. Deterrence theory suggests that the likelihood an 

individual commits a crime will be reduced if they perceive that the punishment for committing 

that crime will be “certain, swift and severe.” It’s important to note “severe” in deterrence 

theory does not refer to excessive punishment, but rather to punishment that is proportionate 

to the offense, or a “fair” punishment. However, consistent with the focused deterrence 

framework, the high‐risk individuals who are targeted for the program are given a message that 

subsequent involvement in crime will be met with more severe consequences (yet, still fair) 

than they faced in earlier cases. For example, if an individual received probation the first time 

around, a second conviction would lead to incarceration. Or, if an individual was prosecuted in 

state court the first time around, a second prosecution would be handled in federal court if 

applicable.  

Critical to focused deterrence approaches is the direct (and repeated) communication of a 

deterrence‐based messaging to high‐risk individuals by law enforcement and community 

officials in the form of a “call‐in” meeting (e.g., Crandall & Wong, 2012; McDevitt et al., 2006). 

When referring to violence, the term “high risk” applies to individuals who are at high risk for 

both further criminalization and victimization. Indeed, because street violence is often fueled 

by retaliatory gang activity, individuals who are at a heightened risk of committing street 

violence are often at a heightened risk of being the victim of street violence themselves 

(Jennings et al., 2012). Thus, a key element of the strategy is the delivery of a direct and explicit 

message to a relatively small target audience regarding 1) what kind of behavior will provoke a 

specific response, and 2) what that response will be. The message is intended to deter future 

violent behavior by altering high‐risk individuals’ perceptions of the costs and benefits 

associated with violent offending. In particular, the deterrence‐based message is specifically 

constructed to enhance their perception of the certainty, swiftness, and severity of sanctions.  

Having government actors engage in procedural justice is important within a focused 

deterrence approach and communicating the fairness of sanctions is no easy task. Those who 

are targeted for this messaging are known to be at high‐risk for committing violent street crime 

because they have been sanctioned for this behavior in the past. Sanctions for potential future 

offenses would necessarily escalate in severity (harshness) because the Illinois penal code takes 

a more punitive stance against repeat offenders. Thus, the call‐in must simultaneously inform 

high‐risk individuals of the escalated consequences of future offenses while also persuading 

them that those consequences are fair.  

A specific goal of focused deterrence is to maintain a sense of procedural justice among 

offenders. Thibaut and Walker (1975) posited that people care as much about methods 

underlying decision‐making as they do about the actual decision being rendered. This 

underscores the notion that fairness is a fundamental part of society and that fairness is 



 

 
 

 
Page 8 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

associated with more than just outcomes. Procedural justice is commonly identified by four 

pillars: 1) fairness in the process, 2) transparency in actions, 3) opportunities for voice, and 4) 

impartiality in decision‐making (Kunard & Moe, 2015). Ultimately, when citizens assess the 

fairness of a police‐citizen interaction, their perceptions are influenced by a combination of the 

outcome as well as the process, and, often, the outcome of an interaction is less important than 

the interaction itself.  

Procedural justice in focused deterrence programs is achieved by being transparent—notifying 

offenders that law enforcement is closely monitoring them, are aware of their illegal activities, 

and that continued violence will result in aggressive enforcement and the “pulling” of all 

available “levers” to hold them accountable (e.g., Kennedy, 1997). Importantly, the manner and 

context in which the message is delivered couples the focus on deterrence with efforts to 

enhance offenders’ perceptions of procedural justice and police legitimacy (e.g., Braga et al., 

2018). This is accomplished through an emphasis on respectful delivery of the message and the 

notion that the message is fair in the sense of providing clear notice of what will occur if 

violence continues. Moreover, an important part of the message—an offer of community 

support and social services (e.g., employment assistance, housing, substance abuse 

treatment)—often accompanies this message and is intended as a disincentive to criminal 

behavior. Lastly, communicating the message to the target audience typically includes a 

community voice describing the impact of serious gun‐related violence on individuals, families, 

and the community.  

Assessing Community and Police Perceptions of Violent Crime and Safety 

One of the key elements of any violence reduction strategy is the support, cooperation and 

involvement of the community, and this is an important component of the focused deterrence 

intervention in Rockford. Indeed, part of the planning process involved gauging citizens’ 

perceptions of crime and disorder in Rockford, and what they see as appropriate responses to 

violent crime and those who commit violent crime. An internet‐based survey was administered 

to Rockford residents between September 25, 2017 and November 30, 2017. To recruit 

potential respondents, Rockford citizens were notified of the survey via various social media 

websites (e.g., Facebook) and websites of various Rockford and Winnebago County agencies, 

organizations, and elected officials (e.g., city webpage). More than 1,300 people participated in 

the survey, although the number of responses to each individual question varied slightly due to 

some questions not being answered by all respondents.10 

The survey indicated that the community is largely supportive of an approach that includes 

both accountability (punishment) and rehabilitation (services and treatment) to reduce 

violence. The majority of survey respondents agreed people who commit violent crime should 



 

 
 

 
Page 9 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

be punished severely, and the majority of respondents also agreed that those who commit 

violent crime need to be provided with services and treatment to change their behavior. The 

respondent characteristic that had the strongest influence on their views regarding punishment 

and treatment was perception of Rockford’s safety. Respondents who felt that Rockford had 

become a less safe place to live in the past year were much more likely to support punishment 

and less likely to support services and treatment. 

The crime issues that respondents were the most concerned about included shootings, robbery, 

gang activity, and burglary. Forty percent or more of respondents to the survey indicated they 

were “very concerned” about these problems in their neighborhood. These specific crime issues 

were also the areas where respondents were most likely to indicate the police should give the 

“most attention.” Just over one‐half (56%) of respondents felt as though crime in general had 

increased in their neighborhood over the past year, while less than one‐half (44%) felt as 

though violent crime had increased in their neighborhood. There were no statistical differences 

in the perception of crime increasing in the respondents’ neighborhood across different racial 

groups, however, men were more likely than women to perceive that crime increased in their 

neighborhoods. 

Following a full year of the focused deterrence intervention being implemented, a second 

round of the community survey was administered between June 6, 2019 and June 25, 2019. 

Again, an electronic survey was administered, and the same recruiting procedures were 

implemented. More than 1,200 people participated in the second survey, although the number 

of responses to each individual question varied slightly due to some questions not being 

answered by all respondents.11 As in 2017, the community members surveyed in 2019 were 

most concerned about violent crimes and largely supportive of an approach that includes both 

accountability (punishment) and rehabilitation (services and treatment) to reduce violence. 

Comparing the 2019 survey respondent levels of concern for specific crime problems in their 

neighborhoods to those in 2017 revealed statistically significant improvements across a number 

of crime concerns, including burglary, drug sales, robbery/mugging, shootings, disorderly youth, 

and gang activity (Figure 2). 

   



 

 
 

 
Page 10 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

 

Comparatively fewer respondents surveyed in 2019 indicated they were impacted “a lot” by 

crime (13.4%) as compared to those surveyed in 2017 (15.8%). Compared to those surveyed in 

2017, a smaller percentage of the 2019 respondents felt that crime in general, and violent 

crime in particular, had increased in their neighborhood over the course of the previous year 

(Figure 3). In 2017, 56% of survey respondents indicated that crime in general had either 

“increased some” or “increased a lot” in the previous twelve months, compared to 45% of 

survey respondents in 2019. Similarly, a greater percentage of 2017 respondents reported that 

violent neighborhood crime had increased in the previous year (45%) compared to 2019 

respondents (32%). Finally, a smaller percentage of the 2019 respondents indicated that 

Rockford had had become a less safe place (combined responses to “less safe” and “much less 

safe”) to live/work in the past year (50.5%) as compared to those surveyed in 2017 (72.4%).   

Figure 2: Comparing Reported Concern* in Neighborhood Crime for 2017 and 2019 
Survey Respondents, by Type of Crime 

67%

47%

64% 64%

48%
54%

57%
51%

56% 58%

44%
49%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 2019

Source: Analyses of 2017 and 2019 Rockford Community Resident Survey Data collected by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice. 
*Percentage included survey respondents who reported they were “concerned” or “very concerned.” Those 
categories with percentages included in the figure were statistically significant after controlling for differences in 
the survey sample that would impact perception of crime such as race and age.  



 

 
 

 
Page 11 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

 

 

As a follow‐up to the community surveys, the research team also conducted a survey of 

Rockford police officers to better understand their perceptions of crime as well. The electronic 

survey was sent to 249 non‐supervisory officers during the winter of 2018‐19, and 113 officers 

completed the survey.12 Overall, officers expressed more concern for violent crime than they 

did for property, drug, and nuisance crimes. For example, 70% and 83% of officers were “very 

concerned” about robberies and shootings, respectively. Additionally, 63% of officers were 

“very concerned” about gang activity. Almost all officers expressed punitive attitudes towards 

violent offenders, but many also saw the need for rehabilitation for these offenders. For 

example, 97% of officers agreed that violent criminals should be punished severely, and slightly 

more than one‐half of officers (53%) agreed that violent criminals need to be provided with 

services/treatment.  

56%

45%42%

32%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

General Crime Level Violent Crime Level

2017 2019

Figure 3: Comparing Perception of an Increase* in Neighborhood Crime in the 
Previous Year for 2017 and 2019 Survey Respondents 

Source: Analyses of 2017 and 2019 Rockford Community Resident Survey Data collected by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice. 
*Percentage includes survey respondents who reported that crime hand “increased some” or “increased a lot” 
in the previous year.” Reported differences in percentages were statistically significant after controlling for 
differences in the survey sample that would impact perception of crime such as race and age.  

 



 

 
 

 
Page 12 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Additionally, officers had mixed feelings towards citizens. Almost all (91%) of the officers 

agreed that most citizens have good intentions. However, 70% of officers agreed that they have 

reason to be distrustful of citizens, and only 54% agreed that citizens mostly could be trusted to 

do the right thing. Burnout and job frustration were a concern for many officers. For example, 

more than one‐quarter of officers (27%) indicated that they feel burned out from their work at 

least once per week. On a positive note, almost half of officers (48%) feel like they make a 

difference through their work at least once per week; although, another 23% indicated they 

only have that feeling a few times per year. 

 

IMPLEMENTING THE INTERVENTION 

 

Choosing Participants 

Between January of 2018 and November of 2019, 87 men and women on probation and/or 

mandatory supervised release (i.e., MSR or “parole” from Illinois prisons) were identified as 

high‐risk and “called in” to the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention. The intervention’s 

target population was individuals who were at a high‐risk of committing an act of gun‐related 

violence or being the victim of a future act of gun‐related violence. Current intelligence 

revealed those committing crime in Rockford are mobile and much of the gun‐related violence 

is retaliatory in nature, committed primarily by small, disorganized gangs of prolific, chronic 

violent offenders. As such, the target population for this project was from across all three 

Rockford Police Districts as the target population was those committing chronic crime rather 

than geographic hot spots of crime. To increase the likelihood of call‐in meeting and custom 

notification attendance, only individuals on probation and MSR were eligible for inclusion in the 

intervention. Participants were identified for inclusion via a two‐step process. First, the 

Winnebago County Probation and Court Services Department and the IDOC Parole Office in 

Winnebago County each identified a list of individuals currently on supervision who they 

identified as high‐risk of committing an act of gun violence or violence in general. Probationers 

were determined to be at high‐risk of committing a future act of violence based on their score 

on either the LSI‐R or the Illinois Adult Risk Assessment (IARA),13 any recent violent or gun‐

related charges and the professional judgement of the probation officer overseeing their case. 

Identifying the high‐risk parolees was more difficult due to the lack of a risk assessment being 

done on those released from prison during the period when the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

initiative was being implemented. Because of this lack of an objective risk assessment 

instrument for this group of the target population, parole officers tried to identify those with 

characteristics that placed them at increased risk of gun violence, including being relatively 



 

 
 

 
Page 13 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

young and in prison for a gun or violence‐related offense. Additionally, the parole officer 

overseeing their case considered the number and nature of any prison disciplinary actions as an 

indication of potential risk. Individuals who had mental health needs that would interfere with 

their ability to take part in the intervention and/or could not be addressed by the Navigator’s 

services (ex: Schizophrenia) were dropped from consideration by both agencies. Further, 

younger individuals (under 30), were prioritized over older individuals as the likelihood of 

committing a violent offense declines with age.  

Once the two agencies (probation and parole) identified potential participants, they then 

submitted these lists for consideration and discussion at a monthly Focused Deterrence 

initiative operations meeting attended by representatives from the Criminal Justice 

Coordinating Council, Rockford Police Department, the Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s 

Office, the Winnebago County Adult Probation Department, the IDOC Parole Office in 

Winnebago County, the Navigator, the Program Manager, and members of the research team. 

During these meetings, the representatives discussed each individual on the list, screening out 

those who had any pending charges, active warrants or whom the police were currently 

building a case against. Further, these conversations gave the Navigator the opportunity to 

screen out any individuals who, based on local knowledge of ongoing rivalries between social 

factions within the community, were a potential threat to Navigator safety.  

The stakeholders interviewed largely expressed confidence that the inclusion criteria and 

processes were identifying the men and women on probation and parole caseloads at the 

highest risk of committing additional violent offenses. They pointed first to a process of 

choosing participants that was based both on their professional acumen (probation and parole) 

and evidence‐based risk assessment tools (probation only). Stakeholders also pointed to the 

recidivism rate amongst intervention participants as evidence that the program was, indeed, 

targeting those likely to reoffend.  

Most of the intervention participants that were interviewed for this study viewed themselves as 

a “good fit” for the program based on their history of gun‐related charges, although most 

tended to view themselves as already at low‐risk for future offending at the time of the call‐in 

or notification meeting. Indeed, all saw themselves as a good fit for the intervention because 

they viewed themselves as being ready for change and felt they had been targeted for the 

program, in part, because parole or probation saw this readiness as well.14 While this view did 

not reflect the actual criteria for inclusion into the program, it may have been beneficial for 

these participants to believe that they had been identified as ready for change and particularly 

worthy of services.  



 

 
 

 
Page 14 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

However, when asked whether the program was “targeting those most at risk for committing 

violence in Winnebago County,” many participants and stakeholders noted that the majority of 

street violence in Rockford is committed by juveniles, who, by virtue of their age and legal 

status, were excluded from adult probation or parole and the intervention. Further, concern 

regarding the inclusion of juveniles on supervision was raised due to the need to ensure the 

confidentiality of juvenile justice records versus the nature of the call‐in meetings, which 

involved community members. Intervention participants interviewed, in particular, expressed a 

desire to see the program expand to accept younger men caught up in street violence, but 

noted that it would be difficult to engage a group who was likely “not ready yet” for change. 

While the operations group discussed expanding to include juveniles, the legal issues around 

confidentiality (i.e., call‐in meetings attended by community members) and the operational 

difference in the juvenile court, juvenile probation and juvenile parole, resulted in that avenue 

not being pursued as part of this pilot initiative. 

Demographics of Individuals Chosen for the Intervention 

In all, 87 individuals were identified for participation in the Rockford Focused Deterrence 

Intervention. Fifty‐six of those chosen were on MSR only (65%) and 28 were on probation (32%, 

Figure 4). An additional three individuals were on both MSR and probation (3%). Although 

gender and race were not selection criteria for the program, most individuals identified for the 

program where Black men. Nearly all (85 individuals) were men, and 82% (71 of the 87) of the 

chosen participants were Black, followed by white (9%, 8) and Hispanic/Latino participants (7%, 

6). The average age of participants at the time they were inducted into the program was just 

under 28 years old (27.75), with just over half of the participants (44, 51%) being 25‐44 years 

old. An additional 40% of the participants (35) were 18‐24 years old and 6% (5) were 45 years 

and over. In all, the largest proportion of participants (approximately 43%) were black men 

between the ages of 25 and 44. All participants lived in Rockford with nearly half (47%) of the 

participants living in the 61102, 61103 and 61104 zip codes.  

   



 

 
 

 
Page 15 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

   

 
Number of Individuals Chosen  Percent of Total 

Sex       

Men  85  98% 

Women  2  2% 

Race       

Black  71  82% 

White  8  9% 

Hispanic/Latino  6  7% 

Unknown*  2  2% 

Supervision Status       

MSR  56  64% 

Probation  28  32% 

Both  3  3% 

Age       

18‐24  35  40% 

25‐44  44  51% 

45 and over  5  6% 

Unknown*  3  2% 

Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of Navigator Case Records and 
publicly available circuit court records.  
*Some demographic characteristics were unknown because the participant never completed an intake with the 
Navigator and the research teams was unable to identify them via publicly available circuit court records. 

Figure 4: Individuals Chosen for Focused Deterrence Intervention by Demographic 
Characteristics 



 

 
 

 
Page 16 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Choosing Participants: Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement 

Develop Agency‐Specific Protocols for Sharing Information: The current screening process 

that takes place during operations meetings relies on the representatives from each 

individual agency to volunteer information about the prospective participants’ previous 

arrests, risk level based on assessment (if available), any open charges and likelihood of 

being arrested in the time period between the operations meeting and the call‐in. Each 

agency has limitations in what information can and should be shared. For example, early 

operations meetings included representatives (Judges) from the 17th Circuit Court. It was 

quickly determined that the presence of the judiciary during discussions about current and 

potential participants was inappropriate as it exposed them to details about the prospective 

participant’s lives and behavior that could compromise their ability to provide fair and 

impartial judgments in future court proceedings. Because representatives experience some 

turnover, the research team suggests that the stakeholders develop agency‐specific 

protocols for the type of information they can and should provide to determine eligibility 

and the extent to which an individual would represent a risk to the Navigator’s safety. 

Evidence‐based Risk and Needs Assessment for MSR: While the Winnebago County 

Probation and Court Services Department was able to rely on an evidence‐based, risk/needs 

assessment tool to evaluate the risk level of potential participants, the IDOC Parole Office 

was not. Although IDOC has sought to implement an evidence‐based risk/needs assessment 

to guide parole practice for more than a decade, at the time of the pilot implementation it 

had not yet been put into place. The research team suggest that future versions of the 

intervention require that parolees complete a risk and needs assessment to determine 

eligibility and appropriateness for the program, which is designed for high risk individuals.  

Develop a Plan for Repeat Participants: As the intervention entered the second year of 

implementation, one challenge to identifying participants was that some of the names 

submitted for consideration were individuals who had previously been unsuccessfully 

discharged from the intervention because they were incarcerated in jail or prison for 

violating the terms of their probation and/or parole and were now reentering the 

community again. While some stakeholders felt that these former participants were an ill‐fit 

for the program because they had effectively squandered their chance at receiving the 

services of the Navigator, others argued that their recidivism indicated that they were, 

indeed, the most likely to commit additional crimes and in need of those services. The 

research team recommend that the stakeholders develop a policy for these potential 

participants. Including these individuals for a second call‐in, increased surveillance, and 

access to services would be consistent with the principles of focused deterrence in that the 

participants would still be considered at high‐risk of committing additional crimes. Arguably, 

mdokken
Highlight

mdokken
Sticky Note
IDOC implemented Risk and Needs Assessments in 2020; therefore, they will be used in the process for the new implementation. 



 

 
 

 
Page 17 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

they may be better primed for participation, having directly experienced the “swift, certain 

and just” punishment that the approach argue deters criminal behavior. Finally, these 

individuals would likely benefit from services and may be more receptive a second time 

around.  

The Call‐in 

Call‐ins are a key component of a focused deterrence approach. In the context of reducing gun 

violence, the purpose of a “call‐in” meeting is to convey to the participants three key messages 

that they are expected to take in and share with their peers. The first message—the main 

message—is that gun violence will no longer be tolerated. The second message is that there will 

be swift, certain, and fair consequences for continued involvement in gun violence. The third 

message is that there will be a person (i.e. Navigator) who will work one‐on‐one with 

participants to help them obtain social services and other resources to “stay alive and thrive.”  

Over the course of two years, seven (7) quarterly call‐in meetings were held. The dates of the 

meetings were: March 21, 2018; June 13, 2018; September 12, 2018; November 28, 2018; 

March 20, 2019; June 19, 2019; and September 18, 2019.15 Participants were notified of the 

mandate to attend the call‐in meeting via a letter, coupled with either an “in‐person” or “over 

the phone” reminder by their probation or parole officer. In addition, the Navigator typically 

contacted those mandated to attend the call‐in prior to the call‐in to introduce herself and 

prepare them for the aspects of the call‐in that previous attendees identified as off‐putting and 

fear‐inducing, including the presence of the police, the pat‐down process and the confiscation 

of cell‐phones for the duration of the meeting.  

Historically, call‐ins have been located in a neutral community location, and they have been 

moderated by someone who is seen as emblematic of the partnership between the community 

and law enforcement. Call‐ins for the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention were held at 

the Rockford Rescue Mission, a well‐known and centrally located community center that 

provides shelter, necessities, food and counselling to homeless populations in Rockford. With 

one exception,16 the call‐ins were moderated by Reverend Copeland, a well‐respected bridge 

between both the criminal justice system and the local black community. Reverend Copland 

was also instrumental in the implementation of the RAVEN (Rockford Area Violence Elimination 

Network) program, an earlier attempt at implementing a focused deterrence‐type program in 

Rockford that targeted only those released from prison.  

To encourage a sense of community inclusion, the Call‐In speakers and the participants were 

seated in chairs forming a circle, with the call‐in speakers all seated together in a half circle and 

facing the participants. Consistent with focused deterrence principles, which highlight the 

importance of community voice, selected participants were encouraged by the Navigator and 



 

 
 

 
Page 18 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

their probation or parole officer to bring along supportive family members to observe the call‐

in. Additionally, stakeholders within the criminal justice and social service community who were 

interested in the proceedings, but who were not directly speaking in the call‐in, were among 

the observers. No observers were included in the circle, but rather, sat in rows of chairs behind 

the participants.  

Within the focused deterrence framework, the following groups are customary speakers during 

the call‐in: (1) law enforcement personnel, (2) social service providers, and (3) community 

members. Additionally, it is also customary for the community members to represent diverse 

backgrounds, such as someone with lived experience of being on probation or parole, the 

family member of a victim of gun violence, and a leader from the faith community. The call‐in 

meeting can be a powerful and transformative experience in which program participants, 

community members, and law enforcement see each other in new ways. This process has the 

ability to build new relationships and recognize common ground. At their core, call‐ins are a 

communication tool, a way to speak to group members and deliver critical information. Figure 5 

provides information about the specific agencies and representatives who spoke during the 

call‐ins for the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention. It is important to note that due to 

scheduling conflicts, not all of these speakers were able to attend every meeting. If possible, a 

designee was sent in their place. 

Elected 

Government 

Leaders 

Criminal Justice 

Representatives 

Community 

Member 

Navigator  Moderators 

 Mayor of Rockford 

 Winnebago County 

Board Chair 

 Police Chief 

 Sheriff 

 State’s Attorney for 

Winnebago County 

 U.S. Attorney 

Rockford Branch Chief 

 Adult Probation 

Supervisory Agent or 

Probation Agent 

 Parole Supervisory 

Agent or Parole Agent  

 Formerly 

incarcerated 

residents 

 Victim 

Parent 

 Navigator   Pastor 

 Retired Rockford 

Police Lieutenant  

 

Figure 5: Call‐in Speakers 



 

 
 

 
Page 19 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Of the three individuals who represented the elected leaders of Rockford and Winnebago 

County across the call‐in meetings (the Mayor, the City Administrator, the Mayor’s Office on 

Domestic Violence and Human Trafficking Prevention, and the County Board Chair), all but one 

were white men (Figure 6). For criminal justice agency representatives and community 

members, there was variation in race across the meetings and representatives. Among the 

criminal justice agency representatives, roughly two‐thirds were white and about one‐third 

were black. For the community member speakers, fewer than 15% were white, almost three‐

quarters were black, and about 15% were Hispanic. Almost all of the government 

representatives across the six meetings were men. For criminal justice representatives and 

community members, there was greater variation in the sex of the speakers across the 

meetings. Among criminal justice representatives, fewer than one‐half (approximately 40%) of 

the speakers were men and most (roughly 60%) were women. Among the community member 

speakers, most (roughly 85%) were men and only about 15% were women. The Navigator, a 

black woman, was present at all of the meetings. For all of the meetings except one, the 

moderator was a black man; for the final meeting (9/19/19), the moderator was a white man. 

Date  Government Reps.  Criminal Justice Reps.  Community Members 

  White  Black  Hispanic  White  Black  Hispanic  White  Black  Hispanic 

03/21/18  2  0  0  4  1  0  1  2  1 

06/13/18  2  0  0  3  2  0  0  4  0 

09/12/18  2  0  0  5  1  0  0  3  1 

03/20/19  2  0  0  2  3  0  0  2  1 

06/19/19  1  0  0  5  1  0  1  3  0 

09/18/19  1  0  0  3  2  0  1  4  1 

 

Call‐in meetings began with a message of welcome and a prayer from the Reverend Copeland, 

followed by short speeches from the government representatives, justice agency 

representatives, the community members, and, finally, the Navigator. Consistent with the 

principals of focused deterrence, government officials who attended the call‐in were 

encouraged to speak about 1) the harm that violence inflicts on the community; 2) the 

resources the government is directing to the focused deterrence initiative; 3) the variety of 

service resources being afforded to the participants; and 4) the hope that the participant will 

become productive members of society. Law enforcement officials were encouraged to speak 

Figure 6: Demographic Characteristics of Call‐In Speakers 



 

 
 

 
Page 20 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

about 1) the purpose of the call‐in; 2) the strength of the partnership between police and 

prosecution; 3) the fact that new enforcement rules are in place to ensure certain, swift, and 

fair prosecution/sanctions for continued criminality; 4) the fact that law enforcement has 

partnered with social service providers to assist those who want to change; and 5) that the new 

enforcement rules apply to the call‐in participants and their associates. Community members 

were encouraged to express the moral voice of the community. Family members of gun 

violence victims were encouraged to talk about 1) the impact of gun violence on their lives; and 

2) how this fate could occur for the participants and their families. Formerly incarcerated 

community members, some of whom had been involved as participants in previous call‐ins, 

were encouraged to 1) denounce the street code of violent retaliation; and 2) help participants 

see that there are other options available and that change is possible. Finally, the community 

faith leader was asked to talk about 1) the impact of violence on communities; and 2) 

encourage participants to see how their behavior affects others in the community. Because the 

Rockford Focused Deterrence Interventions were recorded, the research team was able to 

analyze the extent to which speakers transmitted these messages. A detailed analysis of the 

messages and their reception is provided below in the section titled Content Analyses of the 

Call‐In Meetings.  

Following the speakers, the participants in the call‐in were invited to join Reverend Copeland 

and the Navigator for a meal (typically pizza or sandwiches), and to learn more about local 

social services and job programs in an adjoining room staffed by representatives from various 

social services providers in the community.  

Call‐in Attendance 

Of the 87 individuals identified for inclusion into the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention, 

72 were mandated to attend one of the seven quarterly call‐in meetings at the Rockford Rescue 

Mission between January of 2018 and November of 2019. Of the 72 individuals mandated to 

attend a call‐in meeting, 59 individuals ultimately attended. Of the 13 individuals who were 

mandated to attend a call‐in meeting but did not, three were judged to have missed the 

meeting for legitimate reasons17 and were successfully custom notified (more information on 

custom notifications below). An additional nine participants (all of whom were on probation) 

were deemed non‐compliant to the supervision conditions by their probation officer, resulting 

in the State’s Attorney’s Office filing a petition to vacate (i.e., revoke) their probation. Eight 

were ultimately served with petitions to vacate probation and unsuccessfully discharged from 

the program. It should be noted that most (6) of those who were deemed non‐compliant for 

failing to attend their mandated call‐in meeting were also charged with new criminal offenses. 

In two instances, the failure to attend the call‐in meeting was the sole reason that probation 

was revoked, and the individual was ordered to serve the prison or jail term associated with 



 

 
 

 
Page 21 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

their original sentence. Finally, one participant was mandated to attend a call‐in and was 

subsequently arrested at the call‐in because a warrant was issued for new charges between his 

selection into the program and the date of the call‐in meeting. 

Content Analyses of the Call‐In Meetings 

As noted earlier, the call‐in meeting and the communication of deterrence‐based messaging is a 

crucial component of the focused deterrence approach. To analyze the extent to which these 

messages were conveyed to participants, the research team conducted a systematic and 

thorough coding of video‐recordings of the call‐in meetings provided by the Rockford Police 

Department. Unfortunately, technological difficulties precluded the watching/analyzing of one 

meeting video (November 28, 2018); thus, the results herein reflect analyses for six of the 

seven meetings.18  

The average length of time for the call‐in meetings was just over 49 minutes, with the longest 

meeting lasting just under on hour at 55:29 (3/21/18) and the shortest meet lasting 

approximately 40 minutes (6/19/19, Figure 7). On average, the community members spoke for 

the longest amount of time at 15 minutes and 34 seconds per meeting. This was followed by 

criminal justice representatives (an average of 14 minutes), the moderator (an average of 7 

minutes and 32 seconds), the navigator (an average of 5 minutes and 31 seconds), and 

government representatives (an average of just under 4 minutes, 3:46). 

 

Date  Meeting 

Length 

Government 

Reps. 

Criminal Justice 

Reps. 

Community 

Members 

Navigator  Moderator 

03/21/18  55:29  03:51  14:52  23:07  05:17  07:29 

06/13/18  49:39  04:19  16:00  15:39  04:37  08:12 

09/12/18  51:48  04:52  10:40  10:24  04:27  09:36 

03/20/19  42:50  03:48  13:14  14:03  03:46  07:28 

06/19/19  40:41  02:19  17:14  07:01  05:17  07:19 

09/18/19  55:15  03:28  12:01  23:09  09:40  05:07 

AVERAGE  49:17  03:46  14:00  15:34  5:31  07:32 

 

   

Figure 7: Length of Meetings and Group Speaking Time 



 

 
 

 
Page 22 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

As is a common theme of many prior focused deterrence initiatives, the main message directed 

at the program participants was that the violence in Rockford must stop. To analyze the 

communication of the main message from the speakers to the participants, the research team 

counted the number of times the main message was conveyed (Figure 8). This includes 

references to the following phrases: “the violence must stop,” “the violence needs to end,” 

“the violence will stop,” and “the violence must end.” Across the six meetings, the main 

message was communicated a total of 112 times—an average of 18.67 references per meeting.  

 

 

Trends varied in the use of “Ending the Violence” messaging by individual speakers19 (Figure 9). 

The moderator of the meetings, by far, referenced the message the most (24 total references; 

an average of 4.00 per meeting). The community members—combined—were close behind (a 

total of 20 references; or an average of 3.33 per meeting). This was followed by the Winnebago 

County State’s Attorney (11 references; an average of 1.83 per meeting), the parole agent (10 

references; an average of 1.67 per meeting), and the mayor and police chief (each with 9 

references or an average of 1.50 per meeting).  

 

15

24
25

13

20

15

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐In Meeting 

Figure 8: References to “Ending the Violence” by Call‐In Meeting 



 

 
 

 
Page 23 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

Speaker  Call‐In Meeting Date 

  3/21/18  6/13/18  9/12/18  3/20/19  6/19/19  9/18/19  TOTAL  AVERAGE 

Mayor  1  1  2  1  1  3  9  1.50 

County 

Board 

0  0  1  2  0  0  3  0.50 

Police Chief  2  2  3  0  1  1  9  1.50 

Sheriff  0  0  5  0  1  0  6  0.75 

State 

Attorney 

1  5  1  1  3  0  11  1.83 

U.S. 

Attorney 

0  1  1  2  2  1  7  1.17 

Probation†  1  0  1  2  2  0  6  0.75 

Parole‡  1  2  2  1  1  3  10  1.67 

Community 

Member** 

4  5  2  1  4  4  20  3.33 

Navigator  1  3  1  0  1  1  7  1.17 

Moderator  4  5  6  3  4  2  24  4.00 

 

Recall that the focused deterrence message was applied to a relatively small audience 

(individuals at high risk in Rockford) rather than a general audience (all individuals in Rockford), 

and it operated by making explicit cause‐and‐effect connections between the behavior of the 

target population and the behavior of the authorities. For example, in the first call‐in meeting, 

one of the justice agency representatives emphasized this mentality by saying “I believe in 

second chances but not third chances.” The intended message was that if the participants 

continued to engage in violent/gun crime, the criminal justice system would deal with their 

subsequent crimes more swiftly and severely.  

At the same time, the participants were also informed that they would be offered rehabilitative 

services to help them refrain from continued violent offending. This is a hallmark of the focused 

deterrence framework’s “stick and carrot” approach. For example, in the first call‐in meeting, 

Figure 9: References to “Ending the Violence” by Speaker 



 

 
 

 
Page 24 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

the probation officer highlighted that the navigator was there to help the participants succeed 

and mentioned several rehabilitative services, such as employment services, housing services, 

drug/mental health counseling, and cognitive‐behavioral therapy. Across the six meetings, the 

service message was conveyed slightly more often than the deterrence message. There was a 

total of 174 references to services (number of mentions of services and number of mentions of 

utilizing those services) and there was a total of 141 references to deterrence‐related concepts 

(i.e., mentions of ideas related to certain, swift, and fair sanctions) (Figure 10). This translates to 

an average of 29 service references per meeting and 23.5 deterrence references per meeting.  

 

There was variation in the use of deterrence and rehabilitative services messaging among the 

speakers (Figure 11). As a group, the community members (combined), provided the greatest 

number of references to deterrence across the six recorded call‐ins (47 references; the mean 

was 7.83). As an individual speaker, the Assistant U.S. Attorney (who was present at all six call‐

ins) referenced deterrence the most (21 total references; the mean was 3.50); the Assistant 

U.S. attorney also had the largest imbalance in terms of referencing deterrence and services 

across the call‐ins (21 references to deterrence compared to 12 references to services). The 

32 32

21

15

23

18

37

33

23

27
28

26

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Deterrence Services

Figure 10: Number of Deterrence‐ and Services‐Oriented Messages by Call‐In Meeting 



 

 
 

 
Page 25 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Winnebago County State’s Attorney gave 18 references (the mean was 3.00) to the deterrent 

message but also gave several more service references for a much more balanced presentation 

(18 to 17). In terms of the service messaging, the community members—combined—yielded 

the greatest number of references (39 references; the mean was 6.50). As far as individual 

speakers, though, the probation officer (23 total references; the mean was 3.83), the police 

chief (18 references; the mean was 3.00), and the mayor and state attorney (17 references 

each; the mean was 2.83) gave the most references to rehabilitative services. The largest 

imbalance of references—towards services—was offered by the probation officer (23 

references to services compared to 6 references to deterrence). 

  Call‐In Meeting Date 

Speaker  3/21/18  6/13/18  9/12/18  3/20/19  6/19/19  9/18/19  TOTAL  AVERAGE 

  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  D  S  Deterrence  Services  

Mayor  1  4  0  4  0  2  1  2  0  1  1  4  3  17  0.50  2.83 

County 

Chair 

1  1  0  3  0  0  0  1  0  0  0  0  2  5  0.33  0.83 

Police 

Chief 

4  3  2  3  3  2  3  2  1  4  1  4  14  18  2.33  3.00 

Sheriff  0  0  0  0  1  0  0  0  1  1  2  1  4  2  0.75  0.33 

State 

Attorney 

3  2  4  4  2  5  4  3  3  1  2  2  18  17  3.00  2.83 

U.S. 

Attorney 

1  0  7  3  3  1  1  2  7  3  2  3  21  12  3.50  2.00 

Probation  1  6  1  2  2  3  1  3  1  9  0  0  6  23  1.00  3.83 

Parole  2  2  3  3  1  2  0  3  3  4  2  1  11  15  1.83  2.50 

Comm. 

Member* 

14  10  12  7  6  8  2  7  4  1  7  6  47  39  7.83  6.50 

Navigator  3  3  0  2  0  2  0  2  3  3  1  2  7  14  1.17  2.33 

Moderator  2  5  3  2  3  3  2  2  0  1  0  3  10  16  1.67  2.67 

* All community member speakers combined; (D) = Deterrence; (S) = Rehabilitative Services 

Figure 11: Total References to Deterrence and Services by Individual Speakers  



 

 
 

 
Page 26 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Additionally, the research team counted the number of references the speakers (any speaker 

except the navigator) made to utilize the expertise/services of the navigator to help the 

participants navigate the variety of rehabilitative services being offered (Figure 12). Overall, 

there were a total of 49 references to utilizing the expertise of the navigator, and there were 

approximately eight references per meeting (the mean was 8.17). The most mentions occurred 

at the 6/19/19 meeting (17), and the fewest mentions occurred at the 3/21/18 meeting (3). 

Part of the reason for the increased frequency during the implementation period in the 

mentions of how the navigator could help was due to all of those involved having seen firsthand 

the types of support and assistance the Navigator had provided. During the first call‐in, most of 

the government, criminal justice agency, and community member participants did not know, 

nor had ever met the Navigator. However, during the course of program implementation, they 

had direct contact with the Navigator as that person worked with participants and heard of 

concrete examples of how Navigator services had helped participants. Thus, as the program 

was implemented, all of the stakeholders saw the benefit of Navigator assistance and support 

to the participants, and increasingly mentioned that during the call‐in meetings.  

 

3

7

9

5

17

8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐in Meeting 

Figure 12: Total References to Utilizing Expertise and Services of the Navigator  



 

 
 

 
Page 27 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Finally, speakers often referenced a desire for the participants to become successful and 

productive members of society. This was conveyed several times by several different speakers. 

For example, in the first call‐in meeting, the moderator emphasized the notion that he (and the 

entire group of speakers) hopes that the participants “not only stay alive, but also thrive.” 

Overall, there were a total of 83 references (the mean was 8.17, Figure 13). The most mentions 

occurred at the 9/18/19 meeting (20), and the fewest mentions occurred at the 9/12/18 and 

3/20/19 meetings (11).  

 

 

Participant and Stakeholders Response to Call‐In Meetings 

Most (12) of the 15 call‐in participants interviewed described their call‐in experiences in overall 

positive terms. Although all reported experiencing anxiety at the beginning of the call‐in, 

describing themselves as being “on guard,” “uneasy,” “worried,” or “nervous” during the initial 

pat‐down and in the presence of so many police officers and representatives of the criminal 

justice system, they were ultimately won over by the presence of both government and high‐

ranking criminal justice officials in Rockford, and the offer of what they deemed to be sincere 

and legitimate offers of aid:  

13 13

11 11

15

20

0

5

10

15

20

25

3/21/2018 6/13/2018 9/12/2018 3/20/2019 6/19/2019 9/18/2019

To
ta
l N

u
m
b
er
 o
f 
R
ef
er
en

ce
s 

Call‐In Meeting 

Figure 13: Total References to Encouraging Participant to be a Productive Member of the 

Community  



 

 
 

 
Page 28 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Mike:20 The people that was there, I didn't expect these people to be there. I'm thinking 

that they're busy, you feel me? It was good to see that they care, they took time out of 

their day to come out, to show they face and show that they serious about the program 

and they really want to help us. That was good. 

Pen: [lets out a deep breath] At first, I didn't know what to expect. There was State 

Attorneys, there was all type of people there, city officials, convicts, all type of people 

were there. I didn't know what to expect and I went in there on guard. But, soon enough 

the people are legit…Not only did they talk about helping people, they actually are 

helping people. They are actually listening…. With most, ah political affiliates or city 

officials I ain't ever had any type of positive communication with them. You know, they 

usually look at a person who made mistakes and wound up inside the penal system as 

somebody else. It's just a job to them so or something else or they see you as, as 

something less or [inaudible] or something like that.  

The remaining three call‐in participants interviewed, described the call‐in solely in negative 

terms. Their description of the call‐in focused primarily on what they perceived as hostile, one‐

sided and redundant messages about the possible repercussions of future criminal activity. As 

one participant put it:  

Steve: I get there and I'm thinking, ‘okay they're gonna talk to us about, you know, 

crime prevention, and how not to be, you know, a violent offender or stuff like that and 

we're not gonna hold what you did against you because we want you to be rehabilitated 

from it and you know we can let bygones be bygones and we move away from it.’ It 

wasn't that. It was more like a ‘heads up, if you do this and do that or if you step outside 

boundaries, we got new technologies that’ll do that’ [smacks hand on table] and I was 

like, what? And I said, ‘I'm here for you to tell me this?’ It was a threatening moment to 

me, and I didn't take it well, excuse me, it was, it was insulting, rather… I felt like I was 

being violated…So I didn’t even take it serious.  

When asked to reflect on the messages of deterrence and punishment, five of the participants 

who described the experience in overall positive terms, also identified the style and substance 

of the messages of deterrence and punishment that were conveyed in the first half of the call‐in 

as unnecessary, patronizing and a potential barrier to participant engagement. Noting that 

none of the threats were “new news” to him, Henry explained:  

   

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 29 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Really, it goes in one ear and out the other. It’s just another person that’s above us, that 

didn’t live or come from the life that we’ve experienced, telling us ‘you need to do this, 

you need to do that.’…It’s hard to listening to people like that say something good but 

that they will catch you if they can. And that kind of sets back from what they were 

saying before, about how they want to help us. Because they are so quick to throw out 

what they will do if we mess up.  

Participants like Henry who found the call‐in beneficial, despite feeling alienated by the 

messages of the first half of the program noted that the testimony of current participants who 

were doing well in the program and the warmth and sincerity of the Navigator’s welcome 

ultimately won them over. The remaining seven participants interviewed did not report any 

issue with the deterrence and punishment messages or the ways in which they were delivered, 

although most noted it was nothing they hadn’t heard before.  

Call‐in Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement  

Balance Security Needs with Community Inclusion: Participants and stakeholder attendees 

of the first call‐in noted that the presence of several police officers outfitted in police 

uniforms and tactical gear and the practice of said officers publicly patting down the 

participants prior to the call‐in was potentially off‐putting to participants and countered the 

message of community inclusion that is central to the Focused Deterrence Intervention. 

Further, there was concern that participants would interpret these practices as overly 

aggressive, decreasing the likelihood that they would be receptive to either the message of 

the call‐in or further engagement with the Navigator. Changes were implemented to 

balance the need for security during the call‐in and provide participants with a more 

welcoming introduction to the program. Police presence was limited to the 2‐3 officers 

needed, and pat downs were subsequently conducted in a private room.  

Reconsider the Degree to which the Deterrent Messaging is Emphasized: Nonetheless, 

more than half of the (8) participants who attended call‐ins and participated in a research 

interview identified the style and substance of the deterrence and punishment messaging 

as a potential barrier to participant engagement with the Navigator. Given that these 

interviews were conducted entirely with individuals who had a high level of engagement 

with the Navigator, it is possible that there were some individuals who did not engage with 

the Navigator because of their response to the first half of the call‐in. While the message of 

deterrence and punishment is a part of the Focused Deterrence initiative, those interviewed 

made it clear that they already knew about the consequences of their behavior. Indeed, 

most were returning from prison and all had been sentenced and were on community 

supervision. If future iterations of the intervention want to increase the likelihood that an 



 

 
 

 
Page 30 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

individual follows up with the Navigator, stakeholders should consider abbreviating the 

deterrence and punishment portions of the call‐in, since it is already known by the 

participants, so that a larger portion of the messaging is on what was perceived by the 

interviewees “new” and “encouraging” (e.g., that officials care, that there is support and 

services). Although there needs to be a balance between deterrence and services in the 

operation of the program, perhaps during the call‐in more of an emphasis of services and 

community would increase motivation among participants.  

Continued Involvement of Key Officials: Multiple call‐in participants who were interviewed 

noted that the presence of the city officials, particularly the Mayor, at the call‐ins validated 

the “welcoming” message of the call‐in and the legitimacy of the proffered aid. The 

research team suggests that future iterations of the intervention maintain this practice.  

Increase Messages to Spread the Word to the Community: A key component of the 

focused deterrence approach is the messages conveyed in the call‐in meeting spread to 

others in the community who are also at risk of committing acts of violence. However, when 

asked if they had discussed the call‐in with anyone in the community who was caught up in 

street violence, participants in the call‐in reported that they no longer had contact with 

those individuals. It’s possible that these responses are a product of a sample bias (all 

participants doing well) or the participants desire to avoid the appearance of maintaining a 

criminal social network. Nonetheless, many participants and stakeholders also noted that 

people within their communities or on their caseloads did not know what the intervention 

was or what it was for. The research team suggests that future interventions make a greater 

effort to publicize the focused deterrence intervention, while at the same time respecting 

the privacy of the individual participants.  

Increase Community Attendance: Participants were encouraged to bring supportive family 

to the call‐in, yet few did so. As a result, the audience of the call‐in was comprised almost 

entirely of interested criminal justice practitioners, social service providers, and the 

research team. Efforts were made to invite previous call‐in participants who were doing 

well in the intervention, and some of them did attend and speak at subsequent call‐ins. 

However, many of those invited did not attend, often because of conflicts with their 

schedules or difficulty getting transportation. Addressing these barriers to attendance 

would increase the number of people from the local community in the audience, reinforce 

the messaging of the call‐in with current participants and potentially lead to the 

development of a supportive community amongst participants.  

   



 

 
 

 
Page 31 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Custom Notifications  

Sixteen individuals21 were mandated to attend a custom notification meeting, rather than a 

call‐in meeting. Custom notification meetings were designed to echo the messages of the call‐in 

meeting but took place in a private location (typically the participant’s home, their parole or 

probation officer’s office or a private room within the Rockford Rescue Mission) and with the 

Navigator, a member Rockford Police Department’s Intelligence Division, and their probation or 

parole officer when they were available.22 Custom notification meetings were deemed 

appropriate for individuals whom the program operations group determined would benefit 

more from an individual approach or, most commonly, whom the operations group determined 

to be in urgent need of intervention prior to the next scheduled call‐in date. Individuals were 

notified of the mandate to attend the call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting via letter 

and in person or over the phone by their probation or parole officer. Of those 16 individuals 

mandated to attend a custom notification meeting, 12 were successfully custom notified. The 

remaining four were ultimately unsuccessfully discharged from the program due to being in 

violation of their community supervision for being AWOL (1) or because they were charged with 

new crimes (3). An additional three participants were custom notified after they missed their 

call‐in, for a total of 15 participants who were custom notified.  

During these meetings they were informed that they had been identified as high‐risk, were 

under increased surveillance, and would be held accountable for any future violence to the 

fullest extent possible. Participants were also introduced to the Navigator, who informed 

participants that that she was available to work closely with them to help them set and achieve 

positive life goals associated with desistance from crime.  

Two of the participants interviewed were custom notified. Both spoke in positive terms about 

the meeting, noting in particular the warm welcome and promise of legitimate aid they felt 

they received from the Navigator, as well as the sense that they had been singled out for 

individualized help. Like many of those who attended call‐ins, these two participants reported 

that they initially found the messages of punishment and deterrence intimidating. However, 

both participants also noted that they felt these messages were softened after they had an 

opportunity to respond and assert their commitment to going straight.  

Custom Notification Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement 

Schedule Custom Notification Meetings: Early attempts to custom notify participants 

consisted of unannounced visits by the police, Navigator and Reverend Copeland at the 

home of the identified individual. This approach was quickly dropped as participants 

were usually not at home, or the door was not answered by those in the residence. 

Indeed, in at least one incident, the participant was suspected to have fled their home 



 

 
 

 
Page 32 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

at the sight of the police on his doorstep. Subsequently, parole or probation agents 

informed participants of the custom notification meeting time in advance.  

Demographics of Intervention Participants 

Ultimately, 74 individuals either attended a call‐in (59) or a custom notification meeting (15) 

between January of 2018 and November of 2019. The attendees were predominately black 

(85%), followed by Hispanic (6%) and white (5%). All of the participants were adults (18 or 

older), and the median age for these attendees was 26 years old. Most of those who attended a 

call‐in or custom notification (74%, or 55 participants) were on only on MSR following their 

release from prison (Figure 14). An additional 22% of the attendees (16 participants) were on 

probation only and 6% of the attendees (3 participants) were simultaneously on both MSR and 

probation.  

 

 

 

Surveillance and Sanctions 

Part of the logic underlying focused deterrence interventions is that individuals are less likely to 

engage in criminal activity if they know that punishment will be certain, swift and fair. To 

increase the certainty of punishment, both probation and parole officers involved in supervising 

16

0

41

14

2 1

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Attended a Call In Custom Notified

Probation MSR On Probation and MSR

Figure 14: Program Participants by Introduction Type and Supervision Status  



 

 
 

 
Page 33 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

intervention participants reported that they surveilled intervention participants more closely 

than the other high‐risk men and women on their caseloads. While those on MSR are typically 

eligible at 90 days to have their case files reviewed for a supervision level reduction,23 

intervention participants were not. Parole and probation officers reported that frequent 

contact with the Navigator increased the speed with which concerning behavior would come to 

their attention. Additionally, the police department routinely notified probation and parole 

officers within 24 hours if program participants were arrested or had other police contact. 

Finally, both parole and probation reported closely monitoring and enforcing a greater degree 

of compliance to the technical rules of supervision (attending required programs, reporting, 

etc.) from the intervention participants. Stakeholders agreed that these measures increased the 

likelihood that an offense would be discovered and would be addressed at the supervisory 

level. Finally, although the role was primarily to provide case‐management services, the 

Navigator was in active communication with parole and probation about the participants on her 

caseload, becoming, as one stakeholder put it, “an extra set of eyes and hands and feet on the 

street” to help the participants succeed.  

Ensuring that the discovery of non‐compliance would result in certain, swift and fair sanctions 

was a greater challenge. Stakeholders interviewed were less confident in the intervention’s 

ability to provide swift and certain punishment to intervention participants. While probation 

and parole reported they took quick action when they were made aware of non‐compliance by, 

for example, requesting electronic monitoring (parole), requesting a sanction from the circuit 

court (probation), or requesting a petition for revocation (probation), the actual administering 

of that punishment can take a considerable amount of time. For example, when a probation 

agent notifies the court that a respondent has violated their probation, there is often 

considerable delay between that notification and the state’s attorney and court considering the 

violation. In some instances, this delay was due to the time required to get the violation 

scheduled before the judge who imposed the original probation sentence. This process can take 

weeks depending on the judge’s schedule and potentially results in no sanction whatsoever 

depending on awareness of the intervention’s goals and/or judgment regarding the sanction‐

ability of the non‐compliance. The delay could be even greater in instances where the 

probation agent is requesting the Assistant State’s Attorney’s Office file a petition for 

revocation. Because these requests are reviewed by the attorney who is assigned to the 

courtroom of the judge who imposed the original sentence, this process may also take weeks 

and/or result in no petition depending on the whether or not the attorney is aware of the 

intervention or its goals. Although the original grant proposal sought funding to have a 

dedicated Assistant State’s Attorney assigned to the program, that funding was not provided. 

As a result, while the Assistant State’s Attorney that was part of the operations group was 



 

 
 

 
Page 34 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

committed to the program and its goals, this program was in addition to that person’s “normal” 

responsibilities. In addition, because those on probation had been originally sentenced by a 

number of different judges (with a number of different Assistant State’s Attorney’s), they too 

had a large number of their “normal” cases in addition to these unique cases. 

Similarly, the ability of a parole officer to administer specific sanctions is limited, in part, by the 

conditions of MSR originally set by the statewide Prisoner Review Board (PRB). Getting approval 

from the PRB to have a participant be placed on electronic monitoring, for example, could take 

weeks. Further, because the PRB is a statewide agency handling ten of thousands of releases 

from prison a year, they were not familiar with the focused deterrence intervention or its goals, 

and thus there was no guarantee that the approval would be granted or expedited. As one 

stakeholder put it, the existing processes for sanctioning individuals on supervision are simply 

not “nimble” enough to accommodate speedy and consistent responses to noncompliance.  

As noted previously, an important component of the Focused Deterrence approach is that the 

participants perceive the punishment to be swift, certain and fair. All the participants 

interviewed for this study reported being well aware that if they violated the terms of their 

probation or parole, they would be quickly apprehended, and that incarceration was a likely 

outcome. Further, most of the participants interviewed described themselves as being under 

high surveillance by the police as evidenced by the frequency with which they were stopped for 

traffic violations. They all noted the high level of personal attention they were receiving from 

their probation and parole agent, and some did express initial surprise at how quickly 

information seemed to travel between the police, the Navigator and their probation and/or 

parole officers. However, they didn’t describe this increased attention and communication as 

“surveillance” or as increasing the likelihood that they would get caught and punished if they 

committed a crime. Rather, they interpreted this personal attention and communication as 

evidence that the Navigator and the probation and parole officer were part of a “supportive 

team” to help them pull their lives together and stay out of trouble.  

When asked whether their punishment would be “fair” if they were arrested for committing an 

additional crime or otherwise found to be in non‐compliance for with the rules of their 

supervision, responses varied. All participants interviewed agreed that incarceration was a likely 

and fair outcome for anyone who was arrested for engaging in street violence or any other 

criminal offense, regardless of whether they were in the program or not. However, some 

participants, particularly those on parole, noted that a relatively minor transgression, such as 

driving on a revoked license, missing an appointment or failing to call the “drop line” (used to 

notify individuals if they needed to come in for a random drug test) could result in weeks of 

incarceration and transfer back to prison as they awaited a PRB hearing. They argued that this 

would be an unfair outcome because it would take away things they had worked hard to 

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 35 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

achieve with the Navigator, like finding work or reconnecting with family. Other participants 

felt as though they might be treated more favorably, which they saw as more fair, because the 

judge would view the progress they had made in the program as mitigating violations they may 

have had. Further, they felt the Navigator would advocate on their behalf for a lesser sanction. 

 

Surveillance and Sanctions: Lessons Learned and Opportunities for Improvement  

Continue to Develop Strategies for Increasing the Swiftness of Sanctions: Throughout the 

intervention, the Circuit Court (which oversees probation) was developing a plan for 

increasing the flexibility and swiftness with which the court could respond to non‐compliant 

intervention participants who were on probation. The Court was working to develop a plan 

for the logistical management of these caseloads that decreased the time it took for a 

probation officer’s request that a sanction be administered be considered by the court in a 

way that ensured adherence to the rules of the court, and the rights of the intervention 

participant. One possible solution under consideration was developing a focused deterrence 

caseload that is heard by a single judge, prosecuted by 1‐2 specific assistant state’s 

attorneys and defended by 1‐2 specific assistant public defenders, all of whom would be 

well‐versed in the program’s goals and processes. However, doing so would either require 

focused deterrence cases be identified prior to sentencing and referred to that specific 

courtroom workgroup, or focused deterrence cases be identified post‐sentencing, and then 

having those cases transferred from the original sentencing courtroom to the focused 

deterrence courtroom. 

A Focused Deterrence Assistant State’s Attorney Caseload: As described, the original grant 

application for the Focused Deterrence Program requested, but did not receive, funding for 

a designated assistant state’s attorney whose caseload would include all intervention 

participants. It’s likely that having a designated state’s attorney could have increased the 

swiftness with which participants on probation who violate the conditions of their 

supervision would be sanctioned during this time period. This would not have addressed, 

however, the difficulty of coordinating judicial schedules or court calendars.  

Increase Flexibility of Parole Officer Responses to Violations: The issue related to parole 

officers not being able to more swiftly impose certain types of sanctions (e.g., short periods 

of electronic monitoring) has been identified through this project, as well as other efforts in 

the state, and discussions are taking place to either grant parole officers greater discretion 

to impose certain conditions or expediting hearings before the PRB to reduce the delay in 

sanctions being imposed due to non‐compliance.  



 

 
 

 
Page 36 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Maintain Current Parole Officer/Participant and Probation Officer/Participant Ratio: The 

probation and parole agents interviewed indicated that with current staffing levels there is 

a maximum threshold of participants that can be accommodated, above which it would be 

prohibitively difficult to provide intervention participants with the high level of attention 

and surveillance necessary to administer swift and certain sanctions. 

Participant Engagement with Navigator 

A key component of the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention was the provision of 

services designed to meet the criminogenic needs of individuals at the greatest risk of 

committing additional crimes. Participants in the Rockford Focused Deterrence Intervention 

were granted access to the Navigator, a counselor who provided case‐management services 

and referrals to local social services and community programs that were tailored to each 

participant’s needs. Unlike participation in the call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting, 

which was compulsory for all individuals identified for the intervention, further interaction with 

the Navigator was voluntary. While all participants were encouraged to take advantage of the 

Navigator’s case management services, they were not penalized if they failed to do so. Of the 

74 participants who attended a call‐in meeting or custom notification meeting, 66 ultimately 

followed up with the Navigator. Eight participants chose not to follow up with the Navigator, 

citing disinterest in services, their ability to meet their own needs and distrust of the program’s 

intentions.24 Participants who chose not to follow‐up with the Navigator were not dropped 

from the program, but still received the same “certain, swift and fair” surveillance and 

sanctioning processes.  

Participants who engaged with the Navigator received case‐management services, beginning 

with a comprehensive intake process in which the Navigator questioned them about their 

current living situation, education level, employment, legal status, substance use, mental 

health, and support system to determine their needs. With the Navigator’s aid, these 

participants set wide‐ranging goals related to meeting their basic survival needs and bettering 

their lives, including obtaining housing, finding employment, accessing mental health 

treatment, connecting and/or reconnecting with prosocial family and friends, and furthering 

their education and job training. Key to the Navigator’s approach was encouraging participants 

to identify the goals that they felt would help them go straight and avoid a return to criminal 

activity. Importantly, the Navigator’s activities were in addition to any referrals and services 

offered by either the probation or parole officer. Due to the smaller caseload the Navigator had 

relative to the probation and parole officers, she was often able to provide more timely and 

thorough assistance for some of the participants’ needs than they would have received 

otherwise. 



 

 
 

 
Page 37 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

The 66 participants who took advantage of the Navigator’s services set a cumulative total of 

454 goals during the time period examined. Analysis of the Navigator’s case records reveal that 

goals related to employment (filling out resumes, distributing resumes, starting a full‐time job, 

maintaining desired employment) were the most popular, with 56 (85%) of the engaged 

intervention participants asking the Navigator for help in this area (Figure 15). This was 

followed by goals related to educational attainment (obtaining a GED, enrolling in higher 

education/vocational training) with 46 (70%) of engaged participants, and obtaining 

identification (social security cards, driver’s licenses and/or birth certificates) with 40 (61%) of 

the engaged participants. The goals that participants set, particularly those related to finding 

work, attending counseling for substance abuse issues, completing their GEDs, paying off their 

legal fees, etc. were typically in‐line with the mandates of their probation and MSR supervision. 

 

Uniformly, intervention participants interviewed for this study reported that the Navigator 

provided hands‐on guidance and support, assisting them to define their long‐ and short‐term 

goals, determine their eligibility and provide referrals for services and/or programs that might 

help them meet those goals, gather any necessary documentation and fill out any relevant 

paperwork, and often personally accompanied them to help navigate application processes and 

advocate for them.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
P
ar
ti
ci
p
an

ts

Figure 15: Participant Goals by Category 

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 38 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

The Navigator’s services extended beyond case‐management and service referrals. Participants 

noted that the Navigator not only assisted them in taking steps to achieve their goals, but also 

held them accountable for progress on their goals by consistently following up with them for 

updates via phone and text. Further, most (15 of the 19) of the participants interviewed 

described the Navigator as an important part of their social support system because they 

perceived her to be an available and trustworthy person to confide their troubles to. 

Participants reported talking with the Navigator about conflicts with family members and 

romantic partners, their difficulties reconnecting with their children, and the pressures they felt 

to return to the “people, places and things” that had gotten them in trouble in the past. Indeed, 

eight participants interviewed for this study credited their ability to stay out of trouble during 

this time period, in part, to Navigator guidance and encouragement. For example, when asked 

to identify “the most important thing” that the navigator helped him with, Johnny offered the 

following:  

Just, I mean, I would say, personally just to stay focused and keep my mind on the right 

goal instead of a negative one. So...She just you know, tell me like, like one time I be 

feeling some type of way and she actually helped talk about problems that I'm going 

through. And she would actually sit down and talk through it. And she'd just let you 

know, like she's be honest and straight up forward with you. Like, “you need to just 

keep your eye on the ball, don't let nothin throw you off.” At the end of the day, you 

have kids to look after. 

Additionally, the Navigator facilitated participant’s compliance with the rules and requirements 

of their parole and/or probation. Participants often discussed their MSR board orders and 

probation requirements with the Navigator, looking to her to help clarify the rules of their 

community supervision and the reasoning behind those rules. The Navigator encouraged them 

to take their community supervision requirements seriously and to communicate with their 

probation or parole officer, particularly when they had committed a technical violation. 

Technical violations typically refer to instances in which someone on community supervision 

violates the rules of their supervision in a way that does not involve the commission of a crime, 

such as failing to call the drop line, missing an appointment or failing a drug test. As these kinds 

of violations are sanctionable with jail time and potentially revocation, participants often felt 

great anxiety when they violated the terms of the community supervision. Both stakeholders 

and the participants interviewed for this study reported instances in which a participant who 

was avoiding their probation and parole officer out of fear of being sanctioned with additional 

jail time was ultimately persuaded by the Navigator to contact their parole or probation officer.  

Finally, the parole officers and probation agents interviewed for this study reported that the 

Navigator was often a valuable source of information about the lives of the people on their 



 

 
 

 
Page 39 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

caseload. Because most of the participants in the study trusted the Navigator and checked in on 

a regular basis, the Navigator was often able to supply information to parole and probation that 

helped corroborate, refute or contextualize the information they were getting form the people 

on their caseloads. This information, they argued, helped them better monitor participants and 

provide appropriate sanctions. As one parole officer put it,  

Sometimes it helps me just to have a backstory and know what's going on, like if a 

participant is going through some type of crisis, you know. I know just generally 

speaking, for example losing a child, or things like that that might drive other behavior, 

whether it be drug use, or drinking. Then I have kind of an idea of what's going on, you 

know in that person's day to day life that they don't always share with me when I'm 

making my contacts, because they know that I'm just going to ask them are they 

addressing their board orders. I'm focusing more on their parole compliance, you know, 

where the Navigator is able to get them engaged more in their day to day life, what's 

going on.  

Further, because the Navigator was systematically checking in with participants, quick 

communication was facilitated between participants and their community corrections officers. 

Participants uniformly reported that it can be difficult to quickly get ahold of their parole officer 

or probation agent because there is an unwieldy process of calling in and leaving a message and 

then waiting for a return call from an unidentified number. Parole and probation agents, in 

turn, noted that it can sometimes be difficult to get the people on their caseloads to answer 

their phones. Because the Navigator was able to communicate with participants over text and 

community corrections officers via a direct line or email, she could connect the two.  

Participant Engagement with Navigator Lessons Learned and Suggestions for Improvement: 

Require Participants Utilizing Navigator’s Services to Share their Risk and Needs 

Assessments with the Navigator: Individuals on probation in Winnebago County complete 

risk and needs assessments as a routine part of the probation intake process. Similarly, 

individuals on MSR are often required to complete mental health and substance abuse 

assessments as part of their board orders. However, these assessment of those on MSR are 

not typically completed as part of the intake process and sometimes occur far later in the 

MSR process. Requiring that those on MSR utilizing the Navigator’s services to complete 

these assessments in a timely manner and granting the Navigator access to the assessment 

of both those on probation and MSR (or even just the recommendations from these 

assessments) would relieve the Navigator of the duty of administering these assessments 

and help the Navigator better provide referrals that meet the participants criminogenic 

needs.  



 

 
 

 
Page 40 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Require Participants Utilizing Navigator’s Services to Share their Probation Requirements 

and Parole Board orders with the Navigator: Granting access to probation requirements 

and parole board orders would decrease the likelihood that the Navigator provides referrals 

or aid that directly counter court or PRB orders. In a few instances, the Navigator worked 

with individuals on MSR to help them meet their goal of finding work, only to find out that 

doing so was in violation of their Parole Board Orders because they had not yet completed 

substance abuse programming.  

Develop Housing Referrals: Both the Navigator and the participants interviewed for this 

study identified independent housing as a crucial, yet particularly difficult to access 

resource. No participant in the study was homeless. However, the Navigator noted that 

many participants were looking for alternative housing because they were living in locations 

where they were likely to get in trouble either because their romantic partner was 

pressuring them to return to criminal activity to make ends meet or because they were 

living with people with whom they were likely to get in physical altercations. Of the 27 

participants who identified housing as a concern at intake, six (22%) were able to 

successfully find an apartment while working with the Navigator. Finding housing is difficult 

for people whose criminal records make them undesirable renters on the private housing 

market and often exclude them from housing programs. While the Navigator has identified 

potential housing opportunities via Section 8’s appeal process and Township Rental, the 

application processes are time‐consuming, lengthy and, in some instances, prohibitively 

unwieldy. One participant interviewed, for example, was simply unable to complete 

Township Rental’s housing application process because the program requires that he 

present his application material in person during a weekly, two‐hour timeslot during which 

he is invariably working.  

  



 

 
 

 
Page 41 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

INTERVENTION OUTCOMES 

______________________________ 

Most participants in the Focused Deterrence Intervention 
received services and were not charged with new violent 

cases in Winnebago County 
______________________________ 

 

Navigator Services Outcomes 

In all, the case records indicated 51 participants completed a total 202 goals between January 

of 2018 and November of 2019.25 Approximately a third (33%) of those goals were related to 

employment, followed by goals related to education (16%) and obtaining ID’s (9%). An 

additional 49 goals were in process at the end of the program and 203 goals were abandoned 

because the participant no longer wanted to achieve that goal, the goal was deemed 

unachievable due to the limited availability of the services requested or the eligibility of the 

participant, or because the participant was incarcerated.  

Of the 56 participants who set an employment goal, 63% achieved that goal (Figure 16). Thirty‐

one participants met their goal of finding full‐time work, two participants met their goal of 

finding part‐time work and one participant (who entered the program employed) met his goal 

of maintaining employment while enrolled in the program. With the help of the Navigator, 20 

of the 46 participants (43%) who set education goals achieved at least one of their goals. Five 

participants achieved goals related to earning their GEDs, including enrolling in a GED program 

(3), completing a GED practice test (3) and completing portions of the GED (1). Four participants 

enrolled in a post‐secondary training program (3) or community college course (1). The 

remaining 11 participants achieved one or more other goals related to furthering their 

education, such as completing education assessments (7), developing a post‐secondary plan (6), 

and applying for benefits/assistance for attending a post‐secondary program (2). 

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 42 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

 

Fourteen participants “graduated” from the Navigator’s services. Graduation requirements 

were developed by the operations committee and included not being convicted of a new non‐

traffic offense, completing all recommended levels of care for treatment, maintaining a drug 

free status, and achieving at least four out of seven recovery capital criteria that are associated 

with desistance from crime (ex: stable living environment, legitimate form of income). 

Graduates or result in early discharge from either their probation or MSR. took part in a 

graduation ceremony, but graduation did not alter their supervision requirements. 

 Recidivism  

Offenses committed by participants while in the Focused Deterrence Program can generally be 

divided into two categories: technical violations and criminal activity that results in an 

arrest/new charges filed in court. The term technical violations is commonly used to refer to 

instances where an individual has violated the conditions of their probation or MSR but has not 

been arrested for a new crime. Examples would include offenses such as missing a meeting with 

a community corrections agent, failing to attend mandated anger management classes, or 

testing positive for drugs and/or alcohol. Arrests that result in new charges occur when an 

individual is apprehended by the police because of probable cause that the person had engaged 

47%

60%

43%

63%

56% 56%
26%

35%

27%
64%

33%

35% 88%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
P
ar
ti
ci
p
an

ts
 

Figure 16: Participant Goals Achieved by Category* 

*Percentages indicate the proportion of participants who achieved at least one goal within the 
category relative to the number of participants who set a goal in that category (Figure 15).  

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 43 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

in criminal activity and a criminal case is filed in the court by the Winnebago County State’s 

Attorney’s Office.  

Technical Violations  

During the time period examined, 14 of the 66 individuals (21%) who completed an intake with 

the Navigator self‐reported that they had been sanctioned for violating the conditions of their 

probation or MSR. In total, these individuals reported 27 violations, the most common of which 

was recorded as non‐compliance or behavior (15), missing an appointment or failing to call the 

“drop line” (9), and testing positive for drugs (3). Most (70%) of the violations were sanctioned 

with jail time. The remaining sanctions included verbal reprimands, thinking report assignments 

and referrals to the GEO Day Reporting Center for MSR violations.  

Arrests 

Another way to measure recidivism amongst the participants is to consider the number of 

participants who went on to experience an arrest following their induction into the program by 

participating in a call‐in or being custom notified. However, some degree of caution needs to be 

taken when interpreting the recidivism rates of program participants due to: 1) the relatively 

short period of time most participants received support and services from the Navigator, 2) the 

heightened degree of supervision and surveillance of participants due to the program model, 

and 3) the relatively small sample size of participants, particularly when broken down between 

those on probation and MSR. That said, according to the Navigator’s case records and analysis 

of booking data from the Rockford County Jail, 64% (47 out of 74) of the participants who either 

attended a call‐in meeting or who were custom notified were not booked in jail while part of 

the intervention for new offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations such as driving on a 

revoked license or failure to report an incident (Figure 17).26  

Of the 66 participants who availed themselves of the Navigator’s services by completing an 

intake and setting at least one goal with the Navigator, 64% (42 out of 66) were not booked in 

jail while part of the intervention for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations or IDOC 

holds for technical violations. Of the eight participants who attended a call‐in or custom‐

notification meeting and did not follow‐up with the Navigator, most (6) were not booked in jail 

while part of the intervention for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations or IDOC 

holds for technical violations.27 Fifty‐six percent of participants who were supervised on 

probation and 67% of those who were supervised on MSR were not booked in jail while part of 

the intervention on new offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations. 

 

mdokken
Highlight

mdokken
Highlight



 

 
 

 
Page 44 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

 

Of the 74 men and women who participated in a call‐in or who were custom notified, 27 (38%) 

were booked in jail for offenses other than non‐serious traffic violations. Twenty‐one 

participants were booked once (28% of total sample), 2 participants were booked twice (3%) 

and 4 participants were booked three times (5%). Because participants were booked on 

multiple charges, the most serious offense for which they were booked was used to determine 

the recidivism offense. The most serious offenses tend to have the most serious repercussions, 

both in terms of the individual’s punishment at the hands of the criminal justice system and for 

public safety.  

Sixteen participants (22% of total participants, Figure 18) were booked in jail on new violent 

charges, including domestic violence charges (12), aggravated battery (2), armed violence (1) 

Participant 

Supervision 

Status 

Overall 

Number & 

Percent of 

Total* 

Not Booked 

on any new 

arrest charge 

Booked on 

any new 

arrest 

charge 

Booked on 

new violent 

charge 

Booked on 

any new gun 

charge 

PROBATION  16 (22%)  9  7  5  3 

Engaged  16 (100%)   9  7  5  3 

Not engaged  0 (0%)    ‐  ‐  ‐ 

MSR  55 (74%)  37  18  11  0 

Engaged  47  31  16  10  0 

Not engaged  8  6  2  1  0 

BOTH 

PROBATION 

AND MSR 

3 (4%)  1  2  0  2 

Total 

Participants 

74 (100%)  47 (62%)  27 (38%)28   16 (22%)  5 (7%) 

Figure 17: Participant Recidivism by Supervision Status and Engagement with Navigator 

*Percentages indicate the proportion of the total sample of 74 participants who attended a 
call‐in or who were custom notified. Because some categories overlap, they will not sum to 
100% across rows or columns. 



 

 
 

 
Page 45 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

and armed robbery (1). An additional 11 participants were booked into jail on charges for non‐

violent crimes only, including illegal gun possession (2), property crimes (2), driving under the 

influence (2), manufacture/delivery of a controlled substance (2), and possession of cannabis 

(1), fleeing an officer (1), and violating an order of protection (1). Of the 5 participants who 

were booked into jail for offenses that involved a firearm (7% of the total sample), two were 

booked on charges that included the illegal possession (but not use) of a firearm only.29 The 

remaining three were booked on violent charges that involved a firearm: armed robbery (1), 

armed violence (1) and aggravated battery of a police officer and illegal possession of a 

firearm.30 

 

 

 

Of the 74 individuals who participated in the intervention (by at least attending a call‐in or 

custom notification meeting), 42 were determined to be in good legal standing at the end of 

the intervention, meaning that they were not currently incarcerated in jail or prison for 

committing a new offense or violating the terms of their supervision and were not currently 

under investigation by the Rockford Police Department. Individuals in good legal standing 

included 16 participants who were no longer working with the Navigator (typically citing 

disinterest or lack of needs) but who were still enrolled in the intervention, 13 participants who 

had graduated and 11 participants who were actively engaged with the Navigator at the end of 

No Bookings, 47, 
64%

Domestic Violence , 
12, 16%

Other Violence , 4, 
5%

Non‐Violent 
Offense, 11, 15%

Figure 18: Examining Recidivism Among Participants  



 

 
 

 
Page 46 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

the program. Thirty participants were unsuccessfully discharged from the program, because the 

police department was building cases against them for suspected violent criminal activity, 

because they were incarcerated in jail pending sentencing for a new crime or because their 

probation or parole was revoked and they were serving out the remainder of their sentence in 

jail or prison. Finally, four participants were dropped from the intervention either because they 

relocated from Winnebago County and were transferred to a new parole district (3) or because 

they were discovered to be on federal probation (1).  

While it is still too early to draw definitive conclusions on the efficacy of the intervention, it is 

heartening that most participants in the Focused Deterrence Intervention were not charged 

with new violent cases in Winnebago County during the pilot years. Of the 74 individuals on 

probation and/or parole who either attended a call‐in or a custom notification meeting, most 

(78%) were not booked on charges for any violent crimes and a significant proportion (63%) 

were not arrested for any new crimes in Winnebago County during the time period examined. 

Additionally, only 5 participants were arrested for gun‐related charges and only three 

participants were charged for using a gun in the commission of a violent crime. Given that 

participants were chosen because they represent the highest risk to public safety, the relative 

lack of violent crime amongst participants, particularly violent crime that involves firearms, is 

promising.  

Recidivism Outcomes Lessons Learned and Suggestions for Improvement 

Increase response to domestic violence. Early in the program implementation process, 

it was decided that the intervention would focus primarily on individuals who were at 

high risk of committing gun‐related violence. While domestic violence is clearly a serious 

and prevalent form of violence, stakeholders determined that the focused deterrence 

approach and services provided were not appropriate for combatting domestic violence, 

and the Mayor’s Office was addressing domestic violence through other efforts. 

Domestic violence, however, ultimately drove some of the recidivism in this program 

evaluation. Arrests for domestic violence also have significant implications for MSR 

supervision and revocation, since under Illinois law anyone on MSR who is rearrested for 

a domestic violence offense must have a warrant issued to revoke their MSR and be 

returned to prison as an MSR violator. Ultimately, 12 participants in this intervention 

were unsuccessfully discharged from the program following an arrest for domestic 

battery or aggravated domestic battery. 

Analyze Probation and Parole Case Files to Assess Violations and Sanctions: As noted 

earlier, the data about technical violations and sanctions described in this report come 

primarily from information reported to the Navigator by participants and do not fully 



 

 
 

 
Page 47 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

capture all of the violations and sanctions among program participants. There is a 

discrepancy, for example, between the apparent swiftness with which participants on 

parole reported being sanctioned for technical violations (within 24 hours) and the 

description that parole agents provided of the potentially lengthy process of sanctioning 

a participant.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
 

 
Page 48 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

REFERENCES 

______________________________ 

Braga, A. A., Kennedy, D. M., Waring, E. J., & Piehl, A. M. (2001). Problem‐oriented policing, 
deterrence, and youth violence: An evaluation of Boston's Operation Ceasefire. Journal of 
Research in Crime and Delinquency, 38(3), 195‐225. 

Braga, A. A., Weisburd, D., & Turchan, B. (2018). Focused deterrence strategies and crime 
control: An updated systematic review and meta‐analysis of the empirical 
evidence. Criminology & Public Policy, 17(1), 205‐250. 

Corsaro, N., Hunt, E. D., Hipple, N. K., & McGarrell, E. F. (2012). The impact of drug market 
pulling levers policing on neighborhood violence: an evaluation of the High Point drug market 
intervention. Criminology & Public Policy, 11(2), 167‐199. 

Corsaro, N., & McGarrell, E. F. (2010). Reducing homicide risk in Indianapolis between 1997 and 
2000. Journal of Urban Health, 87(5), 851‐864. 

Crandall, V., & Wong, S. (2012). Group violence reduction strategy: Call‐in preparation and 
execution. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Strategies. 

Gibbs, J. P. (1975). Crime, punishment, and deterrence. New York: Elsevier. 

Jennings, W. G., Piquero, A. R., & Reingle, J. M. (2012). On the overlap between victimization 
and offending: A review of the literature. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 17(1), 16‐26. 

Kennedy, D. M. (1997). Pulling levers: Chronic offenders, high‐crime settings, and a theory of 
prevention. Valparaiso University Law Review, 31(2), 449‐484. 

Kennedy, D. M. (2008). Deterrence and crime prevention: Reconsidering the prospect of 
sanction. London, UK: Routledge. 

Kunard, L., & Moe, C. (2015). Procedural justice for law enforcement: An overview. 

Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services. 

McDevitt, J., Decker, S., Hipple, N. K., McGarrell, E. F., Klofas, J., & Bynum, T. (2006). Project 
Safe Neighborhoods strategic interventions offender notification: Meetings case study 
2. Washington, DC: Office of Justice Programs. 

McGarrell, E. F., Chermak, S., Wilson, J. M., & Corsaro, N. (2006). Reducing homicide through a 
“lever‐pulling” strategy. Justice Quarterly, 23(02), 214‐231.  

Papachristos, A. V., Meares, T. L., & Fagan, J. (2007). Attention felons: Evaluating project safe 
neighborhoods in Chicago. Journal of Empirical Legal Studies, 4(2), 223‐272. 

Thibaut, J. W., & Walker, L. (1975). Procedural justice: A psychological analysis. L. Erlbaum  

Associates. 



 

 
 

 
Page 49 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

Wright, V. (2010). Deterrence in criminal justice: Evaluating certainty vs. severity of punishment. 
Washington, DC: The Sentencing Project. 

Zimring, F. E., & Hawkins, G. J. (1973). Deterrence: The legal threat in crime control. Chicago: 
University of Chicago Press. 

 

1 Graduation requirements were developed by the operations committee and included not being convicted of a 
new non‐traffic offense, completing all recommended levels of care for treatment, maintaining a drug free status, 
and achieving at least four out of seven recovery capital criteria that are associated with desistance from crime (ex: 
stable living environment, legitimate form of income). 
2 Anyone arrested in Winnebago County is booked into the jail for the processing of the arrestee. Thus, booking 
into the jail is a measure of new arrests that occurred in the county. 
3 It should be noted that those who were interviewed represent a specific subset of participants in the 
intervention; all were individuals who took advantage of the Navigator’s services and had not recidivated by the 
time of the interview. 
4 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of aggregate, published I‐UCR 
data. 
5 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of aggregate, published I‐UCR 
data. 
6 See: http://www.mystateline.com/news/rockford‐listed‐as‐americas‐5th‐most‐dangerous‐city/820263454; 
http://1440wrok.com/website‐declares‐rockford‐to‐be‐the‐5th‐most‐dangerous‐city‐in‐america/ 
7 Number reflects incidents in which the victim was actually struck by gunfire. Analyses by Loyola’s Center for 
Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by The Rockford Police Department. 
8 Source: Analyses by Loyola’s Center for Criminal Justice Research, Policy & Practice of data provided by The 
Rockford Police Department. 
9 The first call‐in took place in March of 2018 and the Navigator discontinued services to participants in December 
of 2019 when the grant ended. 
10 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the “The Rockford Community 
Survey: Results,” which was prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://wincoil.us/media/197427/2018_02_22_rockford_community_survey_results.pdf 
11 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the reports entitled “The 2019 
Rockford Community Survey: Results” and “Rockford Community Perceptions of Crime Survey: A Comparison of 
survey responses from 2017 to 2019,” which were both prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%202019%20Rockford%20Community%20Perceptions%20of%20
Crime%20Survey_Results.pdf 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%202019%20Rockford%20Community%20Perceptions%20of%20
Crime%20Survey_Results‐1.pdf 
12 For full descriptions of the methodology, the sample, and the results, please see the report entitled “The 
Rockford Police Officer Survey: Results,” which was prepared by the Loyola University Chicago research team. 
https://www.luc.edu/media/lucedu/ccj/pdfs/The%20Rockford%20Community%20Survey_Results.pdf 
13 During 2018, the Winnebago County Probation began transitioning from using the LSI‐R to using the IARA for risk 
assessment. In order to be considered for the intervention, an individual had score “high risk” on the risk 
assessment tool and have a history of violent behavior involving guns. In some instances, individuals who had a 
history of gun violence and scored “moderate” on the risk assessment were upgraded to “high risk” based on the 
probation officers’ assessment of their case history and current behavior. 
14 It should be noted that those who were interviewed represent a specific subset of participants in the 
intervention, in that these were individual who took advantage of the Navigator’s services and had not recidivated 
by the time of the interview. 

                                                       



 

 
 

 
Page 50 of 50 

       CENTER FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH, POLICY AND PRACTICE | Program Evaluation, June 2020 

                                                                                                                                                                               
15 Due to the grant supporting the program ending in December 2019, the fourth quarter call‐in meeting for 2019 
was not held due to operations group agreeing it would not be fair to the targeted participants to have a call‐in 
with offered services, only to have the Navigator no longer able to serve them after the project end date. 
16 One of the call‐in‐meetings, 9/18/19, was moderated by retired Rockford Police Lieutenant Eric Bruno. 
17 One participant was turned away at the door due to lateness resulting from confusion over which entrance to 
the Rockford Rescue Mission to use. Another missed because he was caring for an ill child and the final participant 
was unable to attend due to requirements/restrictions associated with MSR conditions. 
18 Observation notes taken from researchers who were present for the November 28, 2018 call‐in meeting confirm 
that the meeting was consistent in both structure and messaging as the other six meetings. 
19 Counts for each speaker include references to “Ending the Violence” made by designates sent in their place 
when they were unable to attend. 
20 All participant names indicated are pseudonyms. 
21 These 16 men and women do not include the three participants who were mandated to attend a custom 
notification following the failure to attend a call‐in meeting. 
22 Efforts were made initially to include a respected member of the community (The Reverend) and a member of 
the research team but the difficulty of scheduling these meetings was a barrier. 
23 A supervision level reduction would decrease the amount of contact that the parolee would be expected to have 
with the parole agent. For example, they may transition from weekly check‐ins by phone to monthly check‐ins by 
phone. 
24 Based on interviews with the Navigator and review of Navigator case notes. 
25 It may be tempting to interpret the fact 202 of the 454 goals set were completed as a 46% goal achievement 
rate. This would be inappropriate for two reasons. First, participants were inducted into the intervention in waves 
and set goals multiple times throughout the time period examined. Many of the “in‐process” goals for the latest 
cohort of participants were set in September of 2019. Additionally, some goals, like completing a GED, maintaining 
a job, and obtaining an apartment are long‐term goals that likely would extend beyond the year or less that most 
participants were receiving support from the Navigator. 
26 Because the bookings data is being used to measure the number of participants who were arrested for 
additional crimes, these analyses exclude individuals who were booked on an IDOC hold for technical violations 
(e.g. failure to report) that did not involve an arrest for new crime. 
27 That a similar proportion of those who did not utilize the Navigator’s services (62%) were not arrested compared 
to those who did (62%) should not be interpreted to mean that the Navigator’s services were unrelated participant 
success. The number of those who did not avail themselves of the Navigator’s services is simply too small to make 
that comparison. 
28 For comparison purposes, out of all those released from IDOC to Winnebago County with characteristics similar 
to the program participants, approximately 68% were rearrested for any crime within 2 years of release. For high‐
risk probationers with similar characteristics to the program participants, more than 50% were rearrested for any 
crime while on probation. 
29 The illegal possession of a gun refers to the possession of a gun by persons prohibited from possessing guns due 
to their age, criminal record, or not having applied for/received a Firearm Owner’s Identification—FOID‐ card or a 
Concealed Carry Permit‐CCP, or possessing a gun in prohibited places. In this sample, all individuals would be 
prohibited from possessing guns due to their criminal record and/or the terms of the supervision. 
30 Under Illinois’ Armed Violence statute, a person who illegally possesses a gun during the commission of any 
other felony (i.e., felony drug possession, drug sales, theft) can be charged and convicted of Armed Violence. In 
this instance, the individual was booked on Armed Violence charges for the possession of a gun alongside felony 
charges for manufacture and delivery of cannabis. 



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

USE Department LETTERHEAD | 404 Elm Street, Rockford, IL 61101 |  www.wincoil.us 

Phone: (815) 319- XXXX  |  Email: XXXXXXXXX      
    ResExSummary 20.1 version 

 

 

Prepared By:   David J. Rickert 

 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

 

Committee Date:  July 1, 2021 

 

Resolution Title:   Ordinance Authorizing a Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds 
Received from the U.S. Treasury Department as Directed Under the 
American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) 

 

County Code:       Not applicable  

   

Board Meeting Date:    July 8, 2021 

 
Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?          No                Appropriation Amount:          $20,000,000 

If not, explain funding source:          U.S. Department of the Treasury ARP Funds 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:          61300    Budget Impact:          N/A 

 
 

Background Information: The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, also called the COVID-19 
Stimulus Package or American Rescue Plan, is a $ 1.9 trillion 
economic stimulus bill passed by the 117th U.S. Congress and 
signed into law by President Biden on March 11, 2021 to speed up 
the United States' recovery from the economic and health effects 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

  
Recommendation:   Staff concurs   
 
Contract/Agreement:  Not applicable  
 
Legal Review:     Not Applicable 
 
Follow-Up:   Not Applicable        

http://www.wincoil.us/


1 

 

2021 Fiscal Year Finance: July 1, 2021 
 Lay Over: July 8, 2021 
Sponsored by:  Final Vote:           July 22, 2021 
Jaime Salgado, Finance Committee Chairman   
 
 
 

  

 

2021 CO 
 
TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021 and recommends 
its adoption. 

 
ORDINANCE 

 WHEREAS, Winnebago County has received funds from the American Recovery Plan as 
part of the federal government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
             WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021 at its September 24, 2020 meeting; 
and,  
     
 WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to the 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #2021-012 American Recovery Plan. 
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
  

 

 



2 

 

   
 
Respectfully Submitted,                                                                 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

(AGREE)  (DISAGREE) 
   

JAIME SALGADO,  
FINANCE CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 JAIME SALGADO,  
FINANCE CHAIRMAN 

 
 

JEAN CROSBY 
 
 

 JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 

STEVE SCHULTZ 
 

 STEVE SCHULTZ 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 
 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2021. 
 

 

 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



6/17/2021

American Rescue Plan Dave Rickert

0313

Department 

Org Number

Object 

(Account) 

Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 

Budget

Amendments 

Previously 

Approved

Revised 

Approved 

Budget

Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 

Budget after 

Approved 

Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

61300 41110 Regular Salaries $0 $0 $0 $645,400 $645,400
61300 41211 Health Insurance-Employer Cont $0 $0 $0 $64,179 $64,179
61300 42110 Supplies $0 $0 $0 $13,040 $13,040
61300 43310 Travel $0 $0 $0 $2,381 $2,381
61300 42115 Non-Capital Office Equipment $0 $0 $0 $2,878,865 $2,878,865
61300 43167 Software Subsciption $0 $0 $0 $260,000 $260,000
61300 42491 Software Licensing Fee $0 $0 $0 $92,880 $92,880
61300 43190 Other Professional Services $0 $0 $0 $2,145,000 $2,145,000
61300 43204 ARP Community Business Grants $0 $0 $0 $1,000,000 $1,000,000

61300 46320 Building Improvements $0 $0 $0 $1,735,393 $1,735,393

61300 46410 Automobiles $0 $0 $0 $2,276,000 $2,276,000
61300 46430 Machinery & Equipment $0 $0 $0 $950,000 $950,000
61300 46586 Data Processing Equipment $0 $0 $0 $3,273,100 $3,273,100
61300 46999 Project Contingency $0 $0 $0 $4,063,762 $4,063,762
61300 49110 Transfer to Other Fund $0 $0 $0 $600,000 $600,000

Revenue

13500 39110 Transfer From Other Fund $2,163,000 $0 $2,163,000 $600,000 $2,763,000

$20,000,000

Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: American Recovery Plan Funds

2021

WINNEBAGO COUNTY
FINANCE  COMMITTEE

REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT

AMENDMENT NO:

SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2021 budget:  

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:

DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

$0 

Winnebago County has received money from the Federal government as part of the American Rescue Plan, in response to the 

Covid-19 pandemic. This budget amendment will allow us to put forth a budget to spend some of that money.

2021-012

61300DEPT. BUDGET NO.



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

USE Department LETTERHEAD | 404 Elm Street, Rockford, IL 61101 |  www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319- XXXX  |  Email: XXXXXXXXX      

    ResExSummary 20.1 version 

 
Prepared By:   David J. Rickert 
 
Committee:   Finance Committee 
 
Committee Date:  July 1, 2021 
 
Resolution Title:   Ordinance Authorizing a Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds 

Received from the U.S. Treasury Department Under the Emergency 
Rental Assistance Program II. 

 
County Code:       Not applicable  
   
Board Meeting Date:    July 8, 2021 
 
Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?          No                Appropriation Amount:          $2,651,023 

If not, explain funding source:          U.S. Department of the Treasury ERAP II Funds 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:          601200    Budget Impact:          N/A 
 
 

Background Information: The COVID-19 Emergency Rental Assistance Program Phase II will 
provide approximately $353 million nationally in rental assistance 
to low- and moderate-income households that have had a 
substantial reduction in income or incurred significant costs as a 
result of the pandemic, including those who are homeless or at risk 
of homelessness. The amount currently distributed to Winnebago 
County is $2,651,023. 

  
Recommendation:   Staff concurs   
 
Contract/Agreement:  Not applicable  
 
Legal Review:     Not Applicable 
 
Follow-Up:   Not Applicable        

http://www.wincoil.us/


1 
 

2021 Fiscal Year Finance: Jul 1, 2021 
 Lay Over: Jul 8, 2021 
Sponsored by:  Final Vote: Jul 22, 2021 
Jaime Salgado, Finance Committee Chairman   
 
 
 

  

 
2021 CO 

 
TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021 and recommends 
its adoption. 

 
ORDINANCE 

 WHEREAS, Winnebago County has received a second federal grant to help its citizens 
who have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic, with rental and utility payment assistance. 
  
             WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021 at its September 24, 2020 meeting; 
and,  
     
 WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to the 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #2021-013 Emergency Rental Assistance II. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
  

 
 



2 
 

   
 
Respectfully Submitted,                                                                 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

(AGREE)  (DISAGREE) 
   

JAIME SALGADO,  
FINANCE CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 JAIME SALGADO,  
FINANCE CHAIRMAN 

 
 

JEAN CROSBY 
 
 

 JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 

STEVE SCHULTZ 
 

 STEVE SCHULTZ 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 
 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



6/21/2021
Finance Dave Rickert

0312

Department 
Org Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

61200 41110 Regular Salaries $0 $0 $0 $397,653 $397,653

23200 Total Personnel: $397,653

61200 43192 Rent Assistance Prog $0 $0 $0 $2,110,216 $2,110,216
61200 43193 Utility Assistance Prog $0 $0 $0 $143,154 $143,154

Total Supplies: $2,253,370
Total Expenses: $2,651,023

Revenue
61200 32110 Federal Operating Grant $0 $0 $0 $2,651,023 $2,651,023

Total Revenue:
$0

Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: Federal Grant

AMENDMENT NO:
SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2021 budget:  

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:
DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

None

Winnebago County has received a second  Federal Grant for emergency rental assistance in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
This grant includes funds for staff and relief funds.

2021-013

61200DEPT. BUDGET NO.

2021
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

 
Prepared By:   Lafakeria S. Vaughn 
Committee:   Finance Committee 
Committee Date:  July 1, 2021 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Approving the Purdue Pharma, L.P. Bankruptcy Plan 

(Opioid Litigation) 
County Code:         Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date:    July 8, 2021 
 
Budget Information: 
 

Was item budgeted?    N/A               Appropriation Amount:   N/A 
If not, explain funding source:  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:   N/A                        Budget Impact:  N/A 

 
Background Information:         Approval of the Purdue Pharma, L.P. Bankruptcy Plan  
                                                       (Opioid Litigation) 
 
Recommendation:                     Staff concurs  
 
Legal Review:                             Legal review conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office  
 
Follow-Up:                                  The SAO will submit the required voting instructions to the                 
                                          National Consortium by the deadline of July 9, 2021. 
 
 



  County Board Meeting: July 8, 2021 
  
  

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2021 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  FINANCE COMMITTEE  
 

SPONSORED BY:  JAIME SALGADO 
 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURDUE PHARMA, L.P. BANKRUPTCY PLAN 

(OPIOID LITGATION) 
 

 
 WHEREAS, Winnebago County, Illinois is one of many governmental agencies 
represented by the National Prescription Opioids Litigation Consortium (National Consortium), 
who have filed proofs of claims in the Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Plan of Reorganization in 
connection with In Re Purdue Pharma, L.P. and its affiliates; and  
 
 WHEREAS, all creditors are eligible to vote on approval of Purdue’s proposed 
bankruptcy plan of restructuring; and 
 

WHEREAS, upon review of the plan and recommendation of the National Consortium 
and the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee (PEC), the Finance Committee recommends approval of 
the plan, which it believes, is a fair and equitable resolution of opioid-related claims against 
Purdue.  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that Winnebago County, Illinois is hereby authorized to submit a vote of 
approval of the Purdue Pharma, L.P. Bankruptcy Plan. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

  
 
 
 



AGREE      DISAGREE 
 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado, Chairman                                Jaime Salgado, Chairman 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
Steve Schultz          Steve Schultz 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
John Butitta           John Butitta 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Paul Arena      Paul Arena 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman       Joe Hoffman 
 
________________________________         ___________________________________ 
Jean Crosby          Jean Crosby  
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Keith McDonald     Keith McDonald 
 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County  
of Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________, 2021. 
 
 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

 
 
 
 



 

ZONING 
 COMMITTEE 



 
Attachment 

 ZONING COMMITTEE  
OF THE COUNTY BOARD AGENDA 

 July 8, 2021  
 
 

Zoning Committee……….………….......……………...…Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 

     PLANNING AND/OR ZONING REQUESTS: 

  TO BE VOTED ON:   

  1. Z-03-21 A MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE +/- 10 ACRES FROM THE AG, 
AGRICULTURAL PRIORITY DISTRICT TO THE RA, RURAL AGRICULTURAL 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT (A SUB-DISTRICT OF THE RA DISTRICT) requested by 
David Goral, Property Owner (6287 S. Perryville Road), for vacant property that is commonly 
known as 6341 S. Perryville Road and 6403 S. Perryville Road, Cherry Valley, IL 61016 in 
Cherry Valley Township.   
PINS: 16-22-200-007 and 16-22-200-008     C.B. District: 9 
Lesa Rating: Very High Consistent W/2030 LRMP – Future Map:  NO 

        ZBA Recommendation:  DENIAL (1-5) 
          ZC Recommendation:  DENIAL (0-3-1) 
 

2.  Z-04-21 A MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE +/- 5 ACRES FROM THE AG,          
AGRICULTURAL PRIORITY DISTRICT TO THE RR, RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
(A SUB-DISTRICT OF THE RA DISTRICT) requested by Mark Payne, Realtor, for the 
property that is commonly known as 11227 Havens Woods Road, Roscoe, IL 61073 in Roscoe 
Township. 

         PIN:         04-36-251-003                                                                              C.B. District:   4 
         Lesa Rating:         Moderate                         Consistent W/2030 LRMP – Future Map:    YES 
       ZBA Recommendation:  APPROVAL (6-0) 

ZC Recommendation:  APPROVAL (4-0) 
   
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

3.   COMMITTEE REPORT (ANNOUNCEMENTS) - for informational purposes only; not 
intended as an official public notice):  

 
• Chairman, Brian Erickson, hereby announces that a Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) 
 meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, August 11, 2021, at 5:30 p.m. in Room 303 of the    
     County Administration Building.   
 
• Chairman, Jim Webster, hereby announces that the next Zoning Committee (ZC) meeting        
     is tentatively scheduled for Wednesday, August 25, 2021, at 5:00 p.m. in Room 303 of the    
     County Administration Building.   

  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 



 

OPERATIONS & 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

 COMMITTEE 



 
 
 

Resolution Executive Summary 
 

Prepared By: Winnebago County Health Department 
Committee: Operations and Administrative Committee  
Committee Date: July 1, 2021 
Resolution Title: Resolution Amending the Winnebago County Health Department Soil Boring Fee Schedule 
Board Meeting Date: July 8, 2021 

Rationale for Soil Boring 2021 Fee Increase 
Soil Borings Analysis Services 

 Winnebago County Soil & Water Conservation District Fee schedule. 
 The fee structure in Winnebago County was last addressed in 2010. 
 Researching the fees for the same services in the surrounding area indicates that SWCD fee structure 

has lagged. 
 Recommend that the fee structure be evaluated biannually, to maintain conformity and consistency 

with the professional standard. 
Statement of Request 
 The Winnebago County Soil & Water Conservation District (SWCD) has informed WCHD that 

their soil boring service fees will be increasing to cover cost incurred. 
 SWCD new fee structure was be implemented when passed by County. 
 This request has prompted WCHD to propose an increase to their soil-boring fee to cover SWCD fee 

increases. 
 Requirement of Private Sewage Disposal Code (Sec. 86-78 - Determining suitability and sizing) to 

exclusively utilize their soil analysis services: 
o The county soil survey, prepared by the Natural Resource Conservation Service, 
US Department of Agriculture and an ISCA or SSSA approved soil scientist/classifier from the 
Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation District, shall be the official sources of 
information about the soils of the county. 

 Winnebago County SWCD services are essential for the WCHD’s septic program. Their soil analysis 
service provides us the ability to determine what type and size of septic system to ensure groundwater 
protection. 

 In addition to the fee increase, SWCD is requesting that all soil services per property (new &/or repair) 
should be the same fee instead of having different cost for each type of application. 

Staff Recommendations 
 WCHD staff is in favor of the soil boring fee increase. 
 Staff is suggesting a term be put in place so both agencies can review/revise their scope of work, 

compensations, etc. 
Cost Comparison  
 

Initial Borings SWCD WCHD Total 
Current - Repair $ 250.00 $ 103.00 $ 357.00 
Current - New $ 275.00 $ 122.00 $ 393.00 
Proposed ‐ All Applications $ 325.00 $ 150.00 $ 475.00 

 
Supplemental Borings SWCD WCHD Total 

Current $ 75.00 $ 75.00 $ 150.00 
Proposed $ 175.00 $ 175.00 $ 350.00 

 



Sponsored by:  Keith McDonald  County Board Meeting: July8, 2021 
 
 

RESOLUTION  
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2021 CR  
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE  
 

 
RESOLUTION AMENDING THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

SOIL BORING FEE SCHEDULE  
 
 

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, desires to amend the 
Winnebago County Health Department (WCHD) Soil Boring fee schedule for the soil boring/septic 
suitability program with the Winnebago County Soil & Water Conservation District (SWCD); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County SWCD informed the WCHD that their soil boring service 
fees were increasing as of March 1, 2021, which prompted the WCHD to review its soil boring fees to 
align with Winnebago County SWCD, which have not been addressed since 2010; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 86-78 of the County of Winnebago Code of Ordinances, the 

Winnebago County SWCD services are essential for the WCHD’s septic program because it provides 
the WCHD the ability to determine what type and size of septic system to ensure groundwater 
protection; and  

 
WHEREAS, on February 16, 2021, the Winnebago County Board of Health (BOH) 

recommended approval of the new WCHD Soil Boring fee increases, with further consideration by the 
Winnebago County Board; and  

 
WHEREAS, the WCHD and Board of Health recommend increasing the fees as follows: 
 
Initial Soil borings:      Old Fee (SWCD/WCHD)             New Proposed Fee (SWCD/WCHD)              
 
New Construction:               $275/$122                           $325/$150 
 
Repair/Replacement:            $250/$103                          $325/$150 
 
Supplemental Borings:         $75/$75                                        $175/$175  

 
WHEREAS, the BOH is recommending an amended fee schedule to align with the Winnebago 

County SWCD fee increases and to maintain this essential service for the County.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the above listed WCHD Soil Boring fee increases are approved.  
 
 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 

directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County Administrator, County 
Chief Financial Officer, Director of Purchasing, County Auditor, Finance Director and the Public 
Health Administrator.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 

OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

 AGREE     DISAGREE 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chairman                                Keith McDonald, Chairman 
 
________________________________            ___________________________________ 
John Butitta, Vice Chairperson    John Butitta, Vice Chairperson 
 
________________________________            ___________________________________ 
Dorothy Redd           Dorothy Redd 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Paul Arena      Paul Arena 
 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman       Joe Hoffman 
 
________________________________            ___________________________________ 
Jean Crosby          Jean Crosby  
 
________________________________            ___________________________________ 
Jamie Salgado       Jamie Salgado 
 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________, 2021. 
 
 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                                Joseph Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 



 
 

   
    Resolution Executive Summary 

 

  

 
Prepared By:   Lafakeria Vaughn 
Committee:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date:  July 1, 2021 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Approving an Intergovernmental Agreement between 

the County of Winnebago and Veterans Assistance Commission of 
Winnebago County 

County Code:         Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date:    July 8, 2021 
 
Budget Information: 
 

Was item budgeted?    N/A                 Appropriation Amount:   N/A 
If not, explain funding source:    
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:   N/A                        Budget Impact:  N/A 

 
Background Information: The prior Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Veterans Assistance  
Commission of Winnebago (VAC) expired in June 2020. The Illinois Military Veterans’ Assistance Act, 
codified as 330 ILCS 45/0.01, et seq.  (Act) creates and regulates the authority of the VAC. The County 
of Winnebago has a maximum real estate tax rate for the VAC of not to exceed .04% of the assessed 
value annually on all taxable property of the County, for the sole purpose of providing assistance to 
military veterans and their families pursuant to the Act and the Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/5-2006. The 
major terms and conditions of the prior IGA will remain the same, with the inclusion of additional 
details related to the duties of the VAC.  
 
Recommendation: Staff concurs 
 
Contract/Agreement: Intergovernmental Agreement with the Veterans Assistance Commission of  

Winnebago County 
 
Legal Review:  Legal review conducted by States Attorney’s Office 
 
Follow-Up: N/A 
 



Sponsored by:  Keith McDonald   County Board Meeting: July 8, 2021 
  
  

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2021 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO AND VETERANS ASSISTANCE COMMISSION OF 

WINNEBAGO COUNTY 
 

 
WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago (County) and Veterans Assistance Commission 

of Winnebago County (VAC) are public agencies within the meaning of the Illinois 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as specified at 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq. and are authorized by 
Article 7, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois to cooperate for public purposes; 
and 

WHEREAS, at all pertinent times hereto, there was in effect in the State of Illinois a 
certain statute, commonly known as the Illinois Military Veterans’ Assistance Act, codified as 
330 ILCS 45/0.01, et seq. (hereinafter referred to as the “ACT”) which in pertinent part 
creates and regulates the authority of the Veterans’ Assistance Commissions throughout the 
State of Illinois, including but not limited to the VAC; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Sections 2 and 9 of the ACT [codified as 330 ILCS 45/2 and 9] provide that 
the VAC shall have the authority to provide financial assistance “For the assistance of military 
veterans, who served in the Armed Forces of the United States, whose last discharge from the 
service was honorable to be eligible for assistance, their families, and the families of deceased 
veterans with service as described in this Section who need assistance”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, at the current time, as well as for the lasts several years, there has been  in 
effect in the COUNTY a maximum real estate tax rate for the VAC of not to exceed .04% of the 
assessed value annually on all taxable property of the COUNTY, for the sole purpose of 
providing assistance to military veterans and their families pursuant to such ACT and the Illinois 
Counties Code, codified as 55 ILCS 5/1-1001, et seq.; and  
 

WHEREAS, the VAC and the COUNTY have reviewed and adopted regulations for 
disbursement of benefits to the eligible claimants of COUNTY through the VAC, in accordance 
with the provisions of the aforesaid statutes; and 
 
 



WHEREAS, the COUNTY and VAC seek to fulfill their respective responsibilities as 
set forth in the aforesaid statutes and as provided in the Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois that Joseph Chiarelli, the Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized and 
directed to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement between the County of Winnebago and the 
Veterans Assistance Commission of Winnebago County, in substantially the same form as the 
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized 
and directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the County Administrator, 
the Chief Financial Officer, and the County Treasurer. 
 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
 AGREE     DISAGREE 
 
_________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chairman         Keith McDonald, Chairman                               
                             
_________________________________          ___________________________________ 
John Butitta, Vice Chairman           John Butitta, Vice Chairman 
 
_________________________________          ___________________________________ 
Jean Crosby               Jean Crosby 
 
_________________________________           ____________________________________ 
Paul Arena               Paul Arena  
 
________________________________      ____________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                     Joe Hoffman 
 
______________________________      _____________________________________ 
Dorothy Redd          Dorothy Redd 
 
__________________________________        _____________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado                     Jaime Salgado 
 

 
 



The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County  
of Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________, 2021. 
 
 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 8 Pages  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO 

AND 

THE VETERANS ASSISTANCE COMMISSION  

OF WINNEBAGO COUNTY 
 
 
This Intergovernmental Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “this Agreement”) is made and 
entered into this day of , 2021, by and between the County of Winnebago, a 
body                  politic and corporate, (hereinafter, "COUNTY") and the Veterans Assistance Commission 
of Winnebago County (hereinafter, "VAC"), a local governmental unit established under the 
Military Veterans  Assistance  Act (330 ILCS 45/0.01 et. seq.). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the COUNTY and VAC are public agencies within the meaning of the 
Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as specified at 5 ILCS 220/1,et seq., and are 
authorized by Article 7, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois to cooperate for 
public purposes; and 

WHEREAS, at all pertinent times hereto, there was in effect in the State of Illinois a 
certain statute, commonly known as the Illinois Military Veterans’ Assistance Act, codified as 
330 ILCS 45/0.01, et seq. (hereinafter referred to as the “ACT”) which in pertinent part creates 
and regulates the authority of the Veterans’ Assistance Commissions throughout the State of 
Illinois, including but not limited to the VAC; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 2 and 9 of the ACT [codified as 330 ILCS 45/2 and 9] provide 
that the VAC shall have the authority to provide financial assistance “For the assistance of 
military veterans, who served in the Armed Forces of the United States, whose last discharge 
from the service was honorable to be eligible for assistance, their families, and the families of 
deceased veterans with service as described in this Section who need assistance”; and 

WHEREAS, Section 10 of the ACT [codified as 330 ILCS 45/10] provides, in 
pertinent part, as follows: “The superintendent, designated Superintendent of Veterans Assistance 
of the county, shall, under the direction of the commission, have charge of and maintain an office 
in the county building or other central location, to be used solely by the commission for carrying 
on its assistance work. The county shall provide the office and furnish all necessary supplies, 
including telephone, printing, stationery and postage therefor ........ The county board shall also 
provide funds to the commission to reimburse the superintendent, officers, delegates and 
employees for certain expenses which are approved by the commission.”; and



Page 2 of 8 Pages  

WHEREAS, at the current time, as well as for the lasts several years, there has been 
in effect in the COUNTY a maximum real estate tax rate for the VAC of not to exceed .04% of 
the assessed value annually on all taxable property of the COUNTY, for the sole purpose of 
providing assistance to military veterans and their families pursuant to such ACT; and 

WHEREAS, at all times relevant hereto there was in effect in the State of Illinois, a 
certain statute, commonly known as the Illinois Counties Code [codified as 55 ILCS 5/1-1001, et 
seq.] which provides in pertinent part, as follows: “Sec. 5-2006. Tax for veterans assistance 
commission. The county board of each county having a population of less than 3 million in 
which there is a Veterans Assistance Commission as provided in Section 9 of the Military 
Veterans Assistance Act may levy a tax of not to exceed .03% of the assessed value annually on 
all taxable property of the county, for the purpose of providing assistance to military veterans and 
their families pursuant to such Act. ......... The proceeds of any tax so levied shall be used 
exclusively for the assistance purposes authorized thereunder, and a portion of the proceeds of 
said annual real estate taxes may be expended for the salaries or expenses of any officers or 
employees of the VAC or for any other expenses incident to the administration of such 
assistance. 

This tax shall be in addition to all other taxes which the county is authorized to levy on the 
aggregate valuation of the property within the county and shall not be included in any tax 
limitation of the rate upon which taxes are required to be extended, but shall be excluded 
therefrom and in addition thereto. The tax shall be levied and collected in like manner as the 
general taxes of the county, and, when collected, shall be paid into a special fund in the county 
treasury and used only as herein authorized.”; and 

WHEREAS, at all times relevant hereto there was in effect in the State of Illinois a 
certain statute commonly known as The Illinois Public Aid Code, and Section 12-21.13 of said 
Public Aid Code requires that the County annually levy for VAC Purposes a real estate tax equal 
to an amount “which, when added to the unobligated balance available for such purpose at the 
close of the preceding fiscal year will equal .02% of the last known assessed value of the taxable 
property in the county”; and 

WHEREAS, the VAC and the COUNTY have reviewed and adopted regulations for 
disbursement of benefits to the eligible claimants of COUNTY through the VAC, in accordance 
with the provisions of the aforesaid statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Act provides for the oversight and distribution of benefits to eligible 
Veterans, and provides requirements to support salaries, office space, and necessary supplies for 
the VAC office, and 

WHEREAS, the COUNTY and VAC seek to fulfill their respective responsibilities as 
set forth in the aforesaid statutes.



Page 3 of 8 Pages  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
contained herein the COUNTY and the VAC agree as follows: 

1. BUDGET 

A. The VAC shall annually present a budget to the COUNTY that represents the planned 
expenditures for the upcoming fiscal year in accordance with the budget schedule as 
followed by COUNTY departments except as may be otherwise authorized or required by 
State Statute. The COUNTY annual real estate tax levy for VAC purposes shall comply 
with Section 12-21.13 of the Illinois Public Aid Code (codified as 305 ILCS 5/12-21.13), 
if applicable. The County shall levy for assistance to military veterans and their families, 
within the time that such levy is authorized to be made, a tax of an amount which, when 
added to the unobligated balance available for such purpose at the close of the preceding 
fiscal year will equal .02% of the last known assessed value of the taxable property in the 
county. If, however, at the latest date in the year on which the aforesaid taxes are 
authorized to be levied there is in the unobligated balance of the VAC an amount equal 
to .02%, of the last known total equalized value of all taxable property in the 
governmental unit, then no real estate tax need be levied in that year in order for the local 
governmental unit to qualify for State funds. 

B. The COUNTY shall approve or disapprove of said VAC’s annual property tax levy. The 
VAC shall approve a budget within the tax levy set in the COUNTY budget. 

C. Should there be a disagreement between the COUNTY and the VAC for the total amount 
of expenditures the VAC submits to the COUNTY for the upcoming year, the VAC and 
COUNTY mutually agree to work together in good faith to resolve such disagreements, in 
order to fully carry out the purpose and intent of the ACT. 

D. Once approved by the COUNTY, the VAC Budget and accompanying revenues for the 
fiscal year shall not be altered unless the VAC first votes to make such change and 
thereafter said change is approved by the COUNTY through the budget amendment 
process. 

E. The COUNTY shall continue to account for the funds spent and received in the Veterans 
Assistance Fund. There are two main line item appropriations in the COUNTY budget for 
VAC purposes: (A) Other Professional Services which pays the VAC’s operational 
expenses and (B) Veterans’ Assistance Payments. The COUNTY shall make the Veterans’ 
Assistance Payments to the vendors. Any uses of the Veterans Assistance Fund outside of 
the VAC budget shall require approval by the VAC and the COUNTY. The Veterans 
Assistance Fund balance should be managed, by consent of the parties, so as not to exceed 
one (1) year’s annual projected budget or less than 25% of one (1) year’s annual projected 
budget. The COUNTY may retain a reasonable fund balance (within the parameters 
above) to account for contingent payables under Section IV, payment and audit 
procedures to follow. Likewise, the VAC may retain (in their account) a reasonable amount 
for future capital expense of for contingent administrative expenses. Requested allocations 
from the Veterans Assistance Fund balance by the Superintendent to the COUNTY shall 
be approved by the VAC prior to said requests.



Page 4 of 8 Pages  

F. The COUNTY shall distribute the allotment for Other Professional Services from the 
County budget to the VAC in four increments upon written request from the VAC 
Superintendent to the COUNTY at the beginning of each fiscal quarter. (October, 
January, April and July). The parties hereto recognize that an Illinois state statute (330 
ILCS 45/10) requires that “[T]he county shall provide the office and furnish all necessary 
supplies, including telephone, printing, stationery and postage therefor.” In order to 
implement the provisions of the above-cited statute, the COUNTY’s allotment for Other 
Professional Services paid to the VAC shall be funded by the COUNTY’s funds and shall 
not be funded by the receipts of the VAC’s annual real estate taxes. 

2. COUNTY RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. At no costs to the VAC, the COUNTY shall provide the VAC with reasonable and 
adequate office space in 555 North Court Street, Rockford, Illinois. Such office shall be 
for the exclusive use of the VAC in the carrying out of its duties and shall be clearly 
marked as being the office of the “Veterans Assistance Commission of Winnebago 
County”. In accordance with the ACT (330 ILCS 45/10, as amended) the COUNTY 
shall not charge the VAC any rent for said office. 

B. At no cost to the VAC, the COUNTY shall also provide to the VAC all office supplies and 
furnishings, IT support, purchasing services as requested, printing services, and postage to 
the extent provided for by the ACT. In accordance with the ACT (330 ILCS 45/10, as 
amended) the COUNTY shall not charge the VAC for the costs of the above items and 
services. Any goods provided by the COUNTY for VAC use shall be made in accordance 
with all applicable laws of the State. The monies from the VAC’s annual real estate taxes 
shall not fund the purchases and payments described in this Paragraph (B). 

C. The COUNTY shall not be required to indemnify the VAC for attorney's fees or damages 
arising out of civil litigation or be responsible for punitive damages assessed against the 
VAC, its agents, officers, or employees except as may be required under a Contributory 
negligence theory. 

3. VAC RESPONSIBILITIES 

The statutory function of the VAC is to provide financial assistance to needy 
Veterans, the needy surviving spouse of a Veteran, and the minor children of a Veteran not in 
the Veteran’s custody. Eligibility for financial assistance is done in accordance with written 
standards approved by the VAC. Financial assistance may only be approved for basic living 
expenses such as food, shelter, utilities, personal needs, transportation, and independent living 
expenses. The Veterans Assistance Program consists of interim financial assistance and 
should not be considered an on-going financial supportive program over any considerable 
period of time.



Page 5 of 8 Pages  

In addition to these statutory responsibilities, the VAC provides: 
 

A.  VA Claims Representation: Assist Veterans and their family members in the filing of 
claims for various programs authorized by the United States Government and maintained 
by the US Department of Veterans Affairs. VAC Veterans Service Officers are recognized 
by the VA General Counsel to present and prosecute claims submitted on behalf of 
Veterans and eligible family members. These programs include Disability Compensation, 
Pension, Dependents Indemnity Compensation, Headstones, and College programs. 
Success of this function results in reducing the clients need for financial assistance under 
the VAC’s mandatory function and reduces the need for other County funded and non- 
funded social services. 

B.  Transportation: Transport eligible Veterans to and from the Madison VA Medical Center 
and local transportation to VA scheduled appointments in support of the Mission Act at no 
cost to the Veteran. Transportation may be limited by available resources. 

C.  Advocacy Services: Provide Advocacy services include representing, and/or working 
closely with, and/or applying to the proper local, state or federal agencies or local 
intervention with vendors such as landlords or utility companies, to procure benefits and 
ensure the rights and benefits that each Veteran is entitled to have been granted to the 
Veteran, surviving spouse, and/or dependent. 

D.  Referral Services: Work with many local government and social service agencies to 
provide VAC clients with valuable services helpful to their specific need. 

E.  Ensure that all of VAC’s records are maintained in accordance with applicable federal, 
state, and local requirements. 

F.  Coordinate with the Administrators of General Assistance for each Township to ensure 
that all eligible veterans and family members can access programs and services of either 
entity. 

G.  Comply with the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 140/1 et seq.) and Illinois 
Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1 et seq.). In accordance with those statutes, the VAC 
shall maintain their own FOIA officer and OMA designees. Any litigation arising out of 
the VAC’s action with respect to these Acts shall be the responsibility of the VAC. At no 
time shall the COUNTY indemnify the VAC for attorney's fees, court costs, or damages 
arising out of such litigation, unless otherwise so ordered by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

H.  Be responsible for procuring the services of an Illinois licensed attorney to serve as legal 
counsel for the VAC. The VAC shall be responsible for the payment of fees for any legal 
services accrued through the course of administering services under the Act and shall 
budget for such legal representation accordingly. The VAC acknowledges that the 
Winnebago County (Illinois) State’s Attorney’s Office shall not provide any legal counsel 
or representation to the VAC, and that under no circumstances shall the COUNTY 
indemnify the VAC for the cost of any legal representation or the costs incurred as a result 
of litigation in which the VAC is involved, except as otherwise so ordered by a court of 
competent jurisdiction.



Page 6 of 8 Pages  

4. PAYMENT AND AUDIT PROCEDURES 

A. Payment of Vouchers: Amounts to be paid by the COUNTY for assistance provided in 
connection with this Agreement shall be processed through the regular Accounts Payable 
system of the COUNTY. 

1. All vouchers submitted for payment by the VAC shall meet the requirements of the 
COUNTY accounts payable system. 

2. All assistance vouchers submitted through the accounts payable system must be 
accompanied by a signed statement of claim and/or original. 

3. The COUNTY shall reimburse, through the voucher process, any assistance or 
emergency claims paid directly by the VAC. 

B. The VAC may budget and contract for an independent audit at such times that it deems 
necessary. Should the VAC procure such an audit, it will provide the COUNTY with a 
copy of the final Audit report upon its approval and acceptance by the VAC. Further, 
during the term of this agreement, the Winnebago County Auditor’s Office shall conduct 
a limited scope internal audit of the VAC. The scope of this audit shall be limited to 
evaluating and providing recommendations relating to the internal controls of the 
administrative function of the VAC and compliance testing of the eligibility of veterans 
receiving benefits.  The VAC agrees to cooperate in this process.    

 
5. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. TERM: This Agreement shall be in full force and effect commencing on the day of 
 , 2021 for a period of four years. This Agreement may be terminated by either party 
with or without cause by providing sixty (60) days written notice to the other party. 

B. AMENDMENTS: A meeting between the COUNTY and the VAC shall be held annually 
to review this Agreement and discuss any changes required to effectuate the purpose and 
intent of the ACT. Any amendments to this Agreement must be made in writing and 
approved by the authorizing officials of the COUNTY and the VAC. Additionally, 
annually the VAC shall make a presentation to the COUNTY on the current functions, 
services and funding of the VAC. 

C. It is mutually acknowledged by both parties that the VAC is a non-Home Rule unit of 
local government of the State of Illinois separate and apart from the COUNTY, and that 
persons engaged in the administration of veterans benefits are employees of the VAC and 
not of the COUNTY. 

D. The Superintendent and other employees of the VAC are employees of the VAC and are 
not employees of the COUNTY. The VAC Superintendent and employees required to 
administer the VAC program shall receive compensation and benefits from the VAC as 
provided for in the ACT. The VAC shall be responsible for paying from its Operational 
Expenses portion of its budget the Workers’ Compensation insurance in accordance with 
statutory requirements. 

 



Page 7 of 8 Pages  

E. This Agreement represents the entire agreement between the COUNTY and the VAC and 
supersedes all prior negotiations and representations, whether written or oral. None of the 
provisions of this Agreement may be waived, changed, or modified except by instruments 
in writing signed and agreed to by both parties hereto. This Agreement shall not be 
construed to supersede, waive, or otherwise limit the statutory rights, duties or authority 
granted to the VAC and the COUNTY under the applicable federal law or state statutes, 
including, but not limited to, the State of Illinois Military Veterans Assistance Act (330 
ILCS 45/0.01 et seq.) Nor is this Agreement a waiver by the VAC or the COUNTY of 
any of the duties or obligations of the COUNTY or the VAC  which may have been 
created as part of the VAC’s organization under the ACT. 

F. The laws of the State of Illinois shall govern this Agreement. Venue for the resolution of 
any disputes or enforcement of any rights pursuant to this Agreement shall be in the 17th 
Judicial Circuit Court of Winnebago County, Illinois. 

G. The invalidity or enforceability of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not affect 
the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement. 

H.  If a dispute arises between the COUNTY and the VAC under the Agreement, each party    
shall be responsible for its own attorney's fees and court costs. 

I.  All notices, approvals, or other communications that either party desires or is required to 
give to the other party under terms of this agreement, shall be in writing and shall be 

considered to be properly given (i) if hand delivered by messenger, (ii) if mailed in the 
United States via certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 
(iii) if telefaxed, telegraphed, or tele-copied during normal business hours, (iv) if 
delivered by reputable express carrier, prepaid the next business day after delivery to such 
carrier; or by electronic mail with a return confirmation that the electronic message was 
received by the user during normal business hours, addressed to such party as follows 
below. Either party may, at any time, give notice to the other party of a change of name, 
address, telephone, or facsimile number. Notice shall be given to the parties as follows: 

 

COUNTY: 
 
 
 

VAC: 

County of Winnebago  
ATTN: County Administrator  
404 Elm Street 
Rockford, Illinois 61101 

 
Winnebago County Veterans Assistance Commission  
ATTN: Superintendent 
555 North Court Street 
Suite 300e 
Rockford, Illinois 62203 
Email: VAC@wincoil.us 

 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

mailto:VAC@wincoil.us
mailto:VAC@wincoil.us


Page 8 of 8 Pages  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as 
of the date first indicated above by their duly authorized representatives. 
 
                 “COUNTY” 
COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO,  
an Illinois body politic and corporate 
 
 
________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
Joseph Chiarelli       
Chairman of the County Board of the   
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
ATTEST:   
 
 
_____________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
 
 
                   “VAC” 
VETERANS ASSISTANCE COMMISSION  
OF WINNEBAGO COUNTY 
 
__________________________________           Date: _______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________          Date: _______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 

 
 



Sponsored by:  Paul Arena   County Board Meeting: July 8, 2021 
  
  

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2021 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

 
RESOLUTION ADOPTING CRITERIA FOR THE OPERATION OF THE COUNTY’S 

DELINQUENT TAX PROGRAM 
 

 
WHEREAS, on October 24, 2019, the Winnebago County Board adopted Resolution 

2019 CR 127, authorizing the execution of a contract between the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
(County) and Region 1 Planning Council (R1PC) for R1PC to act as the County’s Agent in the 
operation of a Delinquent Tax Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the contract, R1PC is responsible for marketing and selling the 

property to the highest, responsible buyer; and 
 
WHEREAS, after reviewing the current operations of the delinquent tax program, the 

Operations and Administrative Committee finds it is in the best interests of the citizens and 
taxing bodies in Winnebago County, Illinois to create additional criteria when evaluating 
submitted bids on properties under the program; and  

 
WHEREAS, the additional criteria will make prospective buyers ineligible for bidding 

on properties under the program if they are tax delinquent on other properties they own within 
Winnebago County, Illinois; and 

 
WHEREAS, this criteria for the Delinquent Tax Program would further support the two 

specific goals of the County and taxing districts within Winnebago County, Illinois, which are as 
follows: 

 
1. To recover delinquent real estate taxes for the benefit of all taxing districts having 

an interest in the particular parcel of real estate, and, 
 

2. In the case of property to which the County of Winnebago, as Trustee, ultimately 
takes a tax deed pursuant to the Property Tax Code, it will aid in the expeditious 
transfer of ownership and the return of that property to a responsible property 
owner (emphasis added).  

 
 



NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that the Winnebago County Board hereby adopts the criteria for the operation 
of the County’s Delinquent Tax Program, in substantially the same form as set forth herein. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed to 

prepare and deliver a certified copy of this Resolution to the County Administrator, the County 
Treasurer, and Eric Setter, Land Bank Coordinator, 127 N. Wyman Street, Suite 100, Rockford, 
Illinois 61101,  

 
Respectfully submitted, 

        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 AGREE     DISAGREE 
 
_________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chairman         Keith McDonald, Chairman                               
                             
_________________________________          ___________________________________ 
John Butitta, Vice Chairman           John Butitta, Vice Chairman 
 
_________________________________          ___________________________________ 
Jean Crosby               Jean Crosby 
 
_________________________________           ____________________________________ 
Paul Arena               Paul Arena  
 
________________________________      ____________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                     Joe Hoffman 
 
______________________________      _____________________________________ 
Dorothy Redd          Dorothy Redd 
 
__________________________________        _____________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado                     Jaime Salgado 
 

 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County  

of Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________, 2021. 
 
 



 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
 
 
 



 

UNFINISHED 
BUSINESS 



5/15/21 
 
Winnebago County Board members,  
 
Please accept this reply as my interest to be reappointed to the Hulse Cemetery Association of 
Pecatonica board.  
 
I’m a long-time resident of Winnebago County, with ancestral ties to Hulse Cemetery. I’ve 
helped maintain the cemetery property over the years, along with semiannual replacement of 
the American flag. I created digital records of the cemetery to help preserve the history of Hulse 
Cemetery. This includes photos of tombstones, property, and Association minutes and 
documents.  
 
Thank you,  
Thomas Doherty 
 







5/20/21 
 
I am interested in remaining on Board for Hulse Cemetery. I have been a resident of Winnebago County 
for most of my life, interested in family history also which includes attending/acting as President for 
many years. Family connection dates back five generations. 
    
Thank you for your consideration on my reappointment to Hulse Cemetery. 
  
Mary Anne Burns Doherty 
 





 

NEW BUSINESS 



 

ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
COMMUNICATIONS 



 

County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319-4250  |  Fax: (815) 969-0259  |  Email: CountyClerk@wincoil.us 

 

 
Announcements & Communications 
Date: July 8, 2021 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 
 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 
 
County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 
 
Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  
 

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission the following: 
 
a. Summary of the June 8, 2021, Public Outreach to Discuss the NRC 2020 End-of-

Cycle Plant Performance Assessment of Braidwood Station, Units 1 and 2; and 
Byron Station, Units 1 and 2. 

 
b. Federal Register / Vol. 86, No. 113 / Tuesday, June 15, 2021 / Notices. 

 

c. Summary of May 18, 2021, Meeting with Exelon Generation Company, LLC 
Regarding its Requested Alternative to Eliminate Certain Documentation 
Requirements for the Replacement of Pressure Retaining Bolting (EPIDS L2020-
0153, L-2020-0154, L-2020-0155, L-2021LLR-0029, and L-2021-LLR-0030) 

 

d. Braidwood Station, Units 1 and 2; Byron Station, Unit Nos. 1 and 2; Calvert Cliffs 
Nuclear Power Plant, Units 1 and 2; Clinton Power Station, unit No. 1; Dresden 
Nuclear Power Station, Units 2 and 3; James A. Fitzpatrick Nuclear Power Plant; 
LaSalle County Station, Units 1 and 2; Limerick Generating Station, Units 1 and 2; 
Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station, Units 1 and 2; Peach Bottom Atomic Power 
Station, Units 1 and 2; and R.E. Ginna Nuclear Plant – Proposed Alternative to 
Expand the Use of ASME Code Cases N-878 and N-880 to Carbon Steel Piping 
(EPIDS L-2021-LLR-0000, -0002, AND -0003).  

 

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:CountyClerk@wincoil.us
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.us 
Phone: (815) 319-4250  |  Fax: (815) 969-0259  |  Email: CountyClerk@wincoil.us 

 

2. County Clerk Gummow received from ComEd   a letter regarding their intent to 
perform vegetation management activities on distribution circuits in our area within 
the next few months.  

 
3. County Clerk Gummow received from Sue Goral, Winnebago County Treasurer the 

Monthly Report as of May, 2021 Bank Balances. 
 

4. County Clerk Gummow received from Charter Communications a letter regarding the 
Quarterly Franchise Fee Payment for the Village of Rockton.  

 

5. County Clerk Gummow received from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency a 
Notice of Application for Permit to Manage Waste. Description of Project: Significant 
Permit Modification Application for an Alternate Source Demonstration at Landfill No. 
2.  
 

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:CountyClerk@wincoil.us


 

Adjournment 


	Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings & Public Participation
	Chairman & Mayor's Youth Leadership Council Service Awards
	ARP Presentation by Dave Rickert, CFO
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Finance Committee
	Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Claim Kirby vs. Winn. Cty.
	Ordinance for Approval of Budget Amendment for Reimbursable Technology
	Resolution Approving IGA between Cty. of Winn. & City of Rkfd. for Focused Deterrence Re-entry Program
	Ordinance Authorizing Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds Received from U.S. Treasury Dept.
	Ordinance Authorizing Budget Amendment to Allocate Funds Received from U.S. Treasury Dept. under ERAP
	Resolution Approving Purdue Pharma, L.P. Bankruptcy Plan (Opioid Litigation)
	Zoning Committee
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Amending WCHD Soil Boring Fee Schedule
	Resolution Approving IGA between Cty. of Winn. & VAC
	Resolution Adopting Criteria for Operation of Cty's Delinquent Tax Program
	Unfinished Business
	Thomas Doherty
	Karen Donoho
	Carol Diane Parker
	Mary Anne Doherty
	Timothy Gill
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



